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          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Good morning,

          3  everyone. I would like to welcome everyone here this

          4  morning for a joint hearing with the Committees on

          5  Housing and Buildings and State and Federal

          6  Legislation.

          7                 My name is Council Member Erik Dilan.

          8  I'm the Chair of the Housing and Buildings

          9  Committee. I have the pleasure to be joined by my

         10  colleague, Maria Baez, who is the Chair of the State

         11  and Federal Legislation Committee, along with

         12  members Tony Avella from Queens, and Council Member

         13  Joe Addabbo from Queens.

         14                 We'll be joined briefly by the

         15  Speaker of the New York City Council, and also the

         16  Minority Leader of the body, Mr. James Oddo, and

         17  we'll be joined briefly by the Speaker of the body,

         18  Christine Quinn, and members will be coming in and

         19  out shortly.

         20                 Before I begin my opening statement,

         21  I just want to just go over some general rules.

         22  We'll begin with the Commissioner of HPD, Shaun

         23  Donovan, and then we will sit here as long as

         24  necessary to hear from each and every one of you on

         25  your testimony regarding rent regulations, the
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          2  Urstadt Law or the Housing Vacancy Survey. And I

          3  personally look forward to hearing from each and

          4  every one of you.

          5                 And rest assured, the Committee is in

          6  agreement already that we want to extend the rent

          7  regulation laws for over the next three years, and

          8  we expect smooth passage of this bill. And I just

          9  kindly ask that everyone in attendance be courteous

         10  to the presenters while they're giving their

         11  testimony, and I will guarantee that everyone that

         12  is given testimony before this body receives the

         13  same amount of courtesy.

         14                 So, again, today the Housing and

         15  Buildings Committee has convened jointly with the

         16  Committee on State and Federal Legislation, Chaired

         17  by Council Member Baez.

         18                 Before the Committee today are three

         19  legislative items for consideration. They are,

         20  Resolution No. 79, determining that a public

         21  emergency requiring rent control in the City of New

         22  York continues to exist and will continue to exist

         23  on and after April 1st of 2006.

         24                 Additionally, Intro. No. 118,

         25  sponsored by Council Member Rosie Mendez. It's a
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          2  local law to amend the Administrative Code of the

          3  City of New York in relation to extending the Rent

          4  Stabilization Laws, and SLR 1, State legislation

          5  requiring New York State Legislature to pass bills

          6  introduced by Senator Krueger, S.2735 is the bill,

          7  and Assemblymember Lopez, companion bill in the

          8  Assembly A.4523, and it's an act to amend local

          9  Emergency Housing Rent Control Act in relation to

         10  rent regulation laws.

         11                 The regulation of rents in New York

         12  City is of great concern to many New Yorkers. Hence,

         13  the Committee on Housing and Buildings intends to

         14  act to prevent our supply of affordable housing and

         15  want to assure the public here today that I and the

         16  Committee and the full Council will act to extend

         17  rent control and rent stabilization.

         18                 Although the Committees are not

         19  voting today, we are here to receive and listen to

         20  testimony on the three items that I mentioned

         21  earlier.

         22                 The passage of SLR 1 will call for

         23  the passage of two specific companion bills in the

         24  State Legislature that would give the City Home Rule

         25  over issues of rent regulation, with regards to

                                                            9

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  determining rents, the classification of housing

          3  accommodation, the regulation of evictions and the

          4  enforcement of such laws.

          5                 Essentially SLR one supports the

          6  elimination of the Urstadt Law that severely hampers

          7  and restricts the City's authority to act with

          8  regards to rent control and rent regulation.

          9                 The Committee expects to receive

         10  testimony from numerous witnesses, including the

         11  Commissioner of Housing Preservation and

         12  Development, tenant leaders, housing advocates and

         13  representatives of the real estate industry.

         14                 At this point I will turn the floor

         15  over to my colleague, Council Member Maria Baez, for

         16  her opening statement.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you, Chair

         18  Dilan.

         19                 Good morning, and welcome. My name is

         20  Council Member Maria Baez, Chair to the State and

         21  Federal Legislation Committee. It is with great

         22  pleasure that I hold this joint hearing today with

         23  Council Member Dilan, Chair to the Housing and

         24  Buildings Committee, to address some very important

         25  issues affecting our City, including State
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          2  Legislation Resolution No. 1.

          3                 This legislation would amend the

          4  local Emergency Housing Rent Control Act in relation

          5  to rent regulation laws.

          6                 Presently the Rent Control Act, or

          7  Urstadt Law, which was enacted in 1971, prohibits

          8  the City of New York from expanding rent and

          9  eviction protections to residential accommodations

         10  that are exempt from regulation.

         11                 The Home Rule Message introduced by

         12  the Council asks the State Legislature to pass bills

         13  introduced by Assemblymember Vito Lopez and Senator

         14  Liz Krueger, that would repeal the Urstadt Law.

         15                 Last year the City Council passed a

         16  similar resolution, but Albany failed to act. The

         17  recent New York City Housing and Vacancy Survey

         18  found that the rental vacancy rate was 3.09 percent,

         19  a vacancy rate of less than five percent is

         20  considered by most housing experts to create

         21  abnormal market conditions.

         22                 Albany is aware of the affordable

         23  housing crisis here, and they are unable to manage

         24  it. The City Council, which represents 2.4 million

         25  New Yorkers, live in rent controlled and rent
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          2  stabilized apartments, would be better able to

          3  balance the interest of owners and tenants more

          4  effectively than the State, which has repeatedly

          5  weakened rent and eviction protections over the

          6  years.

          7                 We recognize that preserving and

          8  strengthening rent regulation and tenant protections

          9  are critical to preventing even higher levels of

         10  homelessness.

         11                 Today we will hear testimonies from

         12  HPD, as well as other advocates and agencies that

         13  see firsthand how this legislation will affect the

         14  City.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay.

         17  Additionally, we've been joined by Council Members

         18  Dan Garodnick from Manhattan, Council Member Robert

         19  Jackson from Manhattan, Council Member Rosie Mendez

         20  from Manhattan and Council Member Gale Brewer from

         21  Manhattan.

         22                 And at this point while she gets

         23  settled in, I'll give her an extra second, but I

         24  know she was a little under the weather, and I'm

         25  glad to see her here today, but I would like to ask
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          2  the sponsor of the bill, Council Member Rosie

          3  Mendez, if she would like to make an opening

          4  statement.

          5                 And I'm sorry for giving you short

          6  notice on that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair. Thank you, everyone, for being here today. I

          9  think the amount of people who is here today

         10  indicates that we all realize that the situation

         11  with housing is more than an emergency here in this

         12  City. We have a housing crisis, and it is imperative

         13  that we move quickly to pass Intro. 118 to extend

         14  rent stabilization and Reso 79, to extend -- I'm

         15  sorry, I've been a little under the weather, as he

         16  said, Reso 79 to extend rent control, and also SLR 1

         17  to repeal Urstadt and bring Home Rule here to New

         18  York City, and I'm glad to have everyone here today.

         19  Thank you very much.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Council Member

         21  Mendez, we thank you for your efforts. You know, we

         22  can see that you're still a little bit under the

         23  weather, but I think that your commitment to this

         24  issue on behalf of all New Yorkers is very clear, so

         25  we appreciate your attendance.
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          2                 I guess then, without further ado

          3  we've been joined by the Commissioner of Housing

          4  Preservation and Development, Mr. Shaun Donovan.

          5  We'll allow you to begin your testimony at this

          6  time. And just for the record, as soon as the

          7  Speaker joins us, she will make a statement at that

          8  time, so I just wanted you to be aware of that

          9  before you proceed.

         10                 Thank you, and welcome.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you very

         12  much. It's a pleasure to be here.

         13                 Good morning, Chairman Dilan,

         14  Chairwoman Baez and members of the Housing and

         15  Buildings Committee and the Committee on State and

         16  Federal Legislation.

         17                 I'm Shaun Donovan, Commissioner of

         18  the Department of Housing Preservation and

         19  Development, and I appreciate the opportunity to

         20  appear here today to discuss the 2005 Housing and

         21  Vacancy Survey.

         22                 Joining me this morning are Joseph

         23  Rosenberg, Deputy Commissioner of Intergovernmental

         24  Affairs, and Harold Schultz, our Special Counsel at

         25  HPD.
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          2                 As all of you are aware, there are

          3  two processes that we must complete under the

          4  State's rent regulation laws to continue rent

          5  control and rent stabilization in the City of New

          6  York.

          7                 For the continuation of rent control,

          8  the local legislative body must pass a resolution 30

          9  days after submission of the Housing and Vacancy

         10  Survey.

         11                 HPD submitted the HVS to Speaker

         12  Quinn on February 10th and proposed Reso 79 is

         13  before this Committee. For the continuation of rent

         14  stabilization, the Council must pass a bill, Intro.

         15  118, that the Mayor will sign and that the Law

         16  Department and City Clerk must certify before it is

         17  then sent to the Department of State where it must

         18  be filed before April 1st, 2006.

         19                 The local rent control law, the

         20  Emergency Tenant Protection Act required the City to

         21  conduct a survey of our housing stock every three

         22  years.

         23                 Since 1965, the City has retained the

         24  U.S. Census Bureau to conduct the Housing and

         25  Vacancy Survey, which is used to determine the

                                                            15

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  condition of rental housing and the rental vacancy

          3  rate.

          4                 According to the 2005 HVS, which was

          5  conducted between February and June 2005, the

          6  vacancy rate of New York City is 3.09 percent, which

          7  is higher than in 2002, but significantly below the

          8  five percent vacancy rate threshold set forth in

          9  State and City laws, which determined the

         10  continuation of rent control and rent stabilization.

         11                 Some highlights of the survey that I

         12  would like to share with you are that the City's

         13  total housing inventory is 3.3 million units, the

         14  largest housing stock in the survey's 40-year

         15  history. It increased by 52,000 units between 2002

         16  and 2005, the largest increase since 1991.

         17                 In addition, the home ownership rate

         18  in New York City is at an all-time high with one in

         19  three households owning their own home.

         20                 Third, New Yorker satisfaction with

         21  their neighborhoods and overall building conditions

         22  was the best since the survey began.

         23                 There were 1,044,000 rent stabilized

         24  units, both occupied and vacant, comprising 50

         25  percent of the rental stock in 2005. And overall,
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          2  the number of rent stabilized units increased

          3  slightly in New York.

          4                 The number of rent stabilized units

          5  in buildings built in or before 1947 declined by

          6  28,000. While the number of stabilized units in

          7  buildings constructed after 1947 increased by 29,000

          8  over the last three years.

          9                 I would like to comment briefly as to

         10  why there has not been a decline in the number of

         11  units in rent stabilization.

         12                 As part of the large number of

         13  affordable units that are now coming available

         14  because of the Mayor's Housing Marketplace Plan, HPD

         15  provides tax benefits that require private owners to

         16  participate in rent stabilization in exchange for

         17  tax benefits.

         18                 The 421-A, J-51 and 420-C tax benefit

         19  programs have all contributed to the increase in

         20  units being rent regulated and therefore affordable.

         21                 The overall supply of housing has

         22  also increased. The total number of occupied rental

         23  units increased by 4,000 to 2,028,000 in 2005, while

         24  the number of occupied owner units increased by

         25  29,000 units. Both rental and owner vacant units
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          2  also increased between 2002 and 2005.

          3                 Vacant units available for rent

          4  increased by 5.7 percent, 61,000 to 65,000. And

          5  vacant units available for sale increased by 41

          6  percent from 15,000 to 21,000.

          7                 The number of vacant units not

          8  available for sale or rent was 137,000 in 2005, a

          9  10,000 unit increase from 2002.

         10                 Of these, 48,000 are either

         11  undergoing or awaiting renovation, which is

         12  substantially more than in 2002.

         13                 The rental vacancy rate in Manhattan

         14  was 3.79 percent, the highest in the City, and in

         15  the Bronx it was 2.63 percent, the lowest in the

         16  City.

         17                 The rental vacancy rate in Queens was

         18  2.82 percent and in Brooklyn it was 2.78 percent.

         19  The sample size on Staten Island was too small to

         20  generate a statistically significant vacancy rate.

         21                 The proportion of rental households

         22  with incomes below the federal poverty level remain

         23  virtually the same, 22.5 percent in 2001 and 22.6

         24  percent in 2004.

         25                 The inflation adjusted median gross
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          2  rent, which includes utilities, increased from $873

          3  in 2002 to $920 in 2005, an inflation-adjusted

          4  increase of 5.4 percent.

          5                 The median gross rent to income ratio

          6  increased from 28.6 percent in 2002 to 31.2 percent

          7  in 2005.

          8                 This indicates that half the renters

          9  in New York City paid 31 percent or more of their

         10  household income for gross rent, which includes

         11  utilities.

         12                 Also, of all renter households in the

         13  City, close to three in ten or 28.8 percent paid

         14  more than 50 percent of their income in gross rent.

         15  In 2002 that number was 25.5 percent.

         16                 Although affordability has become a

         17  greater challenge for New Yorkers, the quality of

         18  our neighborhoods is at an all-time high.

         19                 Neighborhood satisfaction improved

         20  and was the best in a 27-year period since the HVS

         21  started covering it. The proportion of renter

         22  householders near buildings with broken or boarded

         23  up windows on the same street was 6.3 percent in

         24  2005, a 2.4 percent improvement from 2002.

         25                 Additionally, the proportion of
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          2  renter households that rated the quality of their

          3  neighborhood residential structures as good or

          4  excellent, was 71.3 percent in 2005, a 2.2 percent

          5  improvement from 2002, and the best since the HVS

          6  started measuring neighborhood quality.

          7                 Just for comparison, in 1978, the

          8  percentage was 56.2 and in 1987, it was 63.1

          9  percent.

         10                 Finally, building and housing

         11  maintenance conditions were both among the best

         12  since the HVS started measuring these conditions.

         13                 For all occupied units in 2005, the

         14  dilapidation rate was five percent. For rental

         15  units, it was .7 percent.

         16                 For comparison, in 1965, the rental

         17  dilapidation rate was four percent, and overall, it

         18  has been declining since then.

         19                 The proportion of renter occupied

         20  units with five or more of the seven maintenance

         21  deficiencies measured by the HVS, was 4.9 percent in

         22  2005. A little higher than the four percent in 2002,

         23  but much lower than in 1991 when it was 7.7 percent.

         24                 If you're interested in more detailed

         25  account of the HVS findings, we have a more complete
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          2  initial findings on our website, and the

          3  comprehensive final report on the 2005 HVS will be

          4  released by HPD in 2007. I'd be happy now to answer

          5  any of your questions.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you,

          8  Commissioner Donovan.

          9                 Before we get to questions, we've

         10  been joined by the Speaker of this body, Christine

         11  Quinn.

         12                 Madam Speaker. And it's okay to clap

         13  for her.

         14                 If you care to make a statement at

         15  this time, we would be so honored.

         16                 SPEAKER QUINN: Thank you. Well, first

         17  I want to thank our Chairs, Chair Dilan and Chair

         18  Baez, for holding this joint hearing, and I want to

         19  thank Council Member Rosie Mendez for introducing

         20  the legislation today.

         21                 I think it's very important that

         22  we're having a joint hearing of Housing and

         23  Buildings and State and Federal Legislation

         24  Committee today in that what we're considering are

         25  both renewal of the rent laws and the Home Rule
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          2  Message, the second for the Council, on repeal of

          3  the Urstadt Law. And I think it sends a very

          4  important message that for the first time ever we're

          5  hearing these two matters simultaneously, because I

          6  believe the message we'll be eventually sending when

          7  full Council acts, is (1) that the City Council

          8  wants and demands that the rent laws are renewed

          9  intact, and that there will not be a moving backward

         10  or a decrease in the rent protections in the City of

         11  New York. But by doing this with the Urstadt Home

         12  Rule Message, we send a clear sign that we're not

         13  satisfied with our powers being limited, and we're

         14  not satisfied with our hands having been tied by the

         15  acts of Albany and that this Council is even more

         16  committed than ever to fight to make sure we, the

         17  City's Legislature, have the right and power working

         18  with our constituents to make all determinations

         19  about the rent protections and tenant protection

         20  laws in this City.

         21                 You know, and I want to thank HPD for

         22  being here today. You know, HPD, the Commissioner

         23  and his staff have been doing tremendous work to try

         24  to expand the number of affordable units in this

         25  City. But to do that, to really have a net gain in
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          2  that area, we need to make sure we're not losing

          3  affordable units, and we're not losing rent

          4  protected units where many of the people in the

          5  audience here today life. And if we're not doing

          6  both of those things simultaneously, we'll never get

          7  our housing crisis under control. So, I want to

          8  thank them for both of their efforts.

          9                 And although I can't stay for the

         10  whole hearing, I have no doubt it will be an

         11  exciting, fun-filled hearing, and lead to the

         12  Council taking the important step, sending a message

         13  we want our power back in the Council, renewing

         14  intact, with no weakenings, our rent protection laws

         15  of the City of New York.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, Madam

         18  Speaker. And we certainly appreciate your leadership

         19  on this issue, and I'd also like to publicly like to

         20  thank you for making me the Chair of this Committee.

         21  I look forward to serving this Committee under your

         22  leadership in a manner that would make you proud.

         23                 Thank you very much.

         24                 SPEAKER QUINN: And I am sure that you

         25  as Housing and Building Chair, and Chair Baez, as
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          2  State and Federal Legislation Chairs will not only

          3  make me proud, but make the 8.1 million New Yorkers

          4  that we represent proud, and make the work of both

          5  of these committees excel beyond our wildest dreams

          6  of what we could do legislatively. Thank you, both.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          8                 And then being that this is my maiden

          9  voyage as Chair of a Committee, I'm going to take

         10  Chairman's privilege and open up the questions

         11  directly to the members.

         12                 I think one of my pet peeves in my

         13  first four years in the Council is that the chairs

         14  always hogged up the questioning at the beginning of

         15  the hearings.

         16                 So, I guess without further ado --

         17  we've also been joined, before I get to the

         18  questioner, we've been joined by Majority Leader of

         19  the body, Council Member Joel Rivera. Thank you.

         20                 And I guess the first member on the

         21  list is Council Member Gale Brewer from Manhattan.

         22                 Gale.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         24  much. I think like many I want to congratulate you

         25  on your inspection program. You mentioned buildings
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          2  in better shape, I think it has a lot to do with you

          3  and the work we've done in general with MOU and A&HD

          4  but your leadership, and also I think there are more

          5  people purchasing, so ownership is good.

          6                 This is my question.

          7                 You talk about more stabilized units,

          8  421-A, C and J-51. My concern is, on that small

          9  point, is when will those abatements end? Usually

         10  it's 20 years. And will those units continue to be

         11  stabilized?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all,

         13  just thank you, as well, for your leadership on the

         14  targeted enforcement program that we worked out with

         15  the Council, and I'm very excited about working on

         16  that, and thank you for your leadership on it.

         17                 On the specific question of the rent

         18  abatements that you were speaking about, the

         19  combination 421-A, 420-C, J-51, are among the ones

         20  that do require rent stabilization, as a result of

         21  it, and that stabilization does last for the period

         22  of the tax abatement, so it would typically expire

         23  with those tax abatements.

         24                 Many of them are renewed through

         25  various preservation programs and other things that

                                                            25

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  we have, but there is the potential for them to

          3  expire.

          4                 On the other hand, the $2,000

          5  decontrol provision does not apply to those units,

          6  so there are other ways that actually the rent

          7  stabilization that's applied to those units is more

          8  effective than it might otherwise be.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I just want to

         10  mention that. Obviously we have a lot of them on the

         11  west side and we are watching, and I would like to

         12  have some very close monitoring so that those

         13  residents are not facing high rents when the

         14  abatement ends.

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Absolutely.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, number

         17  two, I think you've noticed in the times we've had a

         18  couple of articles recently that we've put west side

         19  buildings in, so I think you know where they come

         20  from, regarding the $2,000 issue and the fact that

         21  there is vacancy decontrol, not only from making the

         22  $175,000 a year for two years as a household and

         23  you're reaching 2,000, but obviously as your

         24  apartment becomes vacant, not so hard to become

         25  $2,000 and that's where we're eroding much of the
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          2  stabilization. So, I just wanted to get your

          3  comments on that.

          4                 Obviously, some years ago, Stanley

          5  Michaels, when he was in the City Council passed a

          6  bill stating that individuals moving into such an

          7  apartment, $2,000 or more, after it's been vacant,

          8  or even as the next tenant, are able to see their

          9  rent history. I don't think that's being enforced. I

         10  think that's mostly DHCR and one more reason for the

         11  City to get control of our housing.

         12                 But my question is, what are we doing

         13  to either monitor or to even change the law, which

         14  is what would be my preference, so that buildings

         15  where there is a vacancy, sometimes I would argue

         16  not legally obtained, the owner then finds a way to

         17  make that apartment as a vacant apartment 2,000, we

         18  lose in many cases some portion of the 28,000 or

         19  29,000 that you mentioned become vacant in this way.

         20                 What are you doing to address this

         21  issue. The Times covered it I think in an article

         22  this week, mentioning 230 Riverside Drive in

         23  particular.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Well, first of

         25  all, as you correctly say, the City, HPD or any
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          2  other City, we're not responsible for the

          3  enforcement of those provisions, so DHCR would have

          4  to be involved and obviously do the enforcement

          5  there, where we do become aware of issues like that.

          6  We will work closely with DHCR to try to make sure

          7  that the law is enforced.

          8                 But I think beyond that what the City

          9  can do and what the Mayor really has been focused on

         10  is trying to expand the number of affordable units,

         11  and to, as much as possible lengthen the

         12  affordability of those units. That's why he's put

         13  forward the new Housing Marketplace Plan and

         14  dramatically expanded it last week, and as part of

         15  that preservation is a key focus of it. So, where we

         16  are going into a unit and providing renovation

         17  financing and other things, we will extend the

         18  affordability there and require the rent

         19  stabilization to continue even beyond that $2,000

         20  limit, as I had said earlier.

         21                 In addition to that, what we're also

         22  really trying to focus on is, where we can, to

         23  extend affordability permanently.

         24                 Just to give you an example, as you

         25  know, on the west side of Manhattan when we expanded
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          2  the inclusionary program, we for the first time made

          3  the requirements of that program permanent so that

          4  those units need to stay affordable, independent of

          5  rent stabilization permanently. So, while we're not

          6  the primary agency looking at that, we are trying to

          7  find ways to extend affordability for the maximum

          8  period that we can, and to keep units affordable

          9  even if they go beyond that 2,000 limit.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. It's a

         11  concern.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I understand

         14  your response.

         15                 Finally, personal use. One of the

         16  questions under the housing vacancy survey, maybe I

         17  should know this, personal use, meaning that an

         18  owner can come in, take over, there's been lots of

         19  discussion. Either it seems like a large 20 unit or

         20  a six unit Brownstone, how one can do that with no

         21  children and make a legitimate case is another

         22  story. But obviously one that we get every single

         23  day pouring into our office, people being moved out

         24  of their long-term apartment due to personal use. Is

         25  that something that the HVS tracks?
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          2                 Obviously you have some say over how

          3  the HVS survey is put together.

          4                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That is not an

          5  issue that the HVS tracks. We'd be happy to

          6  follow-up with your office and talk about precisely

          7  what kind of information you would be looking for.

          8                 We do work closely with the Census

          9  Bureau, in terms of the design of the HVS. The one

         10  issue is that one of the most important things about

         11  it is that we have a consistent set of questions

         12  that we ask each time so that we can get not just

         13  sort of snapshot but also a set of trends of what's

         14  happening in the housing market broadly.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I do think

         16  vacancy decontrol, personal use and co-op

         17  conversion, maybe not through the HVS, but some

         18  other factor, maybe you can do it through HVS

         19  because you have to do a similar tracking each year,

         20  I understand that to be significant, statistically

         21  significant.

         22                 This is the concern.

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Those are the

         25  issues that are dividing Manhattan in particular, I
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          2  don't know about Staten Island, but dividing

          3  Manhattan, but we're losing our middle-income

          4  families, are those issues, vacancy decontrol and

          5  personal use.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'll be happy

          7  to follow-up on those.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Commissioner, we

         11  would also ask that you follow-up with the Committee

         12  on those items, as well.

         13                 Before I get to the next member that

         14  we'll question, I wanted to acknowledge the presence

         15  of Senator Liz Krueger.

         16                 Senator. Thank you for your presence

         17  here today, and we also understand that you have

         18  some important legislation before the Senate on

         19  these issues, and we look forward to the success of

         20  your legislation in Albany.

         21                 Thank you for coming down.

         22                 The next person is Council Member

         23  James Oddo.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         25  Chairman, Madam Chair.
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          2                 Commissioner, welcome. Let me just

          3  begin by thanking you personally and your staff.

          4  It's always a pleasure working with your agency.

          5  It's nice to have agencies that are so responsive

          6  and cooperative. It makes our lives a little bit

          7  easier.

          8                 I want to follow up tangentially

          9  related to what Council Member Brewer ended with. On

         10  your testimony on page four you talk about the fact

         11  that approximately 65,000 vacant units are available

         12  for rent and more than twice that number of units

         13  are vacant but unavailable for rent, 48,000 that are

         14  being renovated or awaiting renovation, middle of

         15  renovation condo conversion.

         16                 If those units came on line today or

         17  tomorrow, I assume that would impact the five

         18  percent vacancy rate. So, my question is, does that

         19  mean that we take too narrow an approach? Isn't this

         20  really just a snapshot in time? And do we need to

         21  take a wider perspective in measuring the vacancy

         22  rate?

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: While you look for

         24  the answer, I also wanted to acknowledge the

         25  presence of the newest elected official in the
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          2  building elected last Tuesday, Assemblymember Sylvia

          3  Friedman from the 74th District in Manhattan.

          4                 Let everybody take a look at you.

          5  Congratulations.

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: In answer to

          7  that, the methodology we use to calculate the

          8  vacancy rate is the standard method used by the

          9  Census Bureau. It's one that's been in use since the

         10  beginning of the HVS in 1965. And if you look at the

         11  number of units in that category, relative to the

         12  overall stock of housing in New York City, even if

         13  those units were to move quickly from being

         14  renovated into the vacant category and available for

         15  rent, it still wouldn't affect the vacancy rate

         16  enough to get us over the five percent limit.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: How close would

         18  we get? I mean, is there an estimate at what the

         19  vacancy rate would be or?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Just to be

         21  clear, within that category of not available for

         22  rent, there is a subcategory that was I think 48,000

         23  units that are under renovation. So, you're talking

         24  about 50,000 units on a base of 3 million housing

         25  units, 2 million of those rental. So, you're talking
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          2  about a relatively small change. I can't do the math

          3  in my head. But it would certainly would be a

          4  relatively small change.

          5                 One thing I would say, though, is

          6  that the increase, and the reason why I called it

          7  out in my testimony, that increase in units under

          8  renovation in our mind is a very good sign. What it

          9  shows is that, as I stated, building conditions are

         10  getting better. There's a lot of renovation. Not

         11  just new construction but renovation work going on

         12  around the City, and we want to continue to

         13  encourage owners to do that, to improve their

         14  properties and to improve the neighborhoods with

         15  that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, along the

         17  line with my previous question about the calculation

         18  of the five percent, included in that calculation is

         19  the public housing and other regulated housing that

         20  is generally unavailable to the public and has a low

         21  vacancy rate. I think the vacancy rate in public

         22  housing, if it's not zero, it's close to zero; is

         23  that standard practice as well, to include public

         24  housing? And doesn't that sort of preordain, if you

         25  will, the results of the HVS?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Again, that has

          3  been the consistent methodology that we have used

          4  throughout it, and while you're correct, generally

          5  the lower the rent level, the lower the vacancy

          6  rate. The study does break out vacancy rates by

          7  various rent levels. And what it shows you is that

          8  for every category below $1,750 a month, the vacancy

          9  rate is below five percent. So, while you're correct

         10  that it would likely increase the vacancy rate

         11  slightly to separate out those units, overall you

         12  would still end up, again, without doing the math, I

         13  would certainly expect that you would end up with a

         14  vacancy rate still well below the five percent.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Okay, so let's

         16  go from the lower end of the rent scale to the

         17  higher end, if the rationale is that a vacancy rate

         18  under five percent justifies rent regulations, when

         19  you look at rents of let's say 1,750 and above,

         20  there's a vacancy rate in the nineties, how do you

         21  reconcile the requirement for rent regulations with

         22  such a high vacancy rate for rents 1,750 and above,

         23  when the justification for rent regulations is the

         24  five percent vacancy. It sort of strikes me as

         25  contradictory.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I guess first

          3  of all, I would say we're following the law. In

          4  other words, the vacancy rate is a Citywide vacancy

          5  rate. It's used by law to determine the

          6  continuations. So, it's not a determination we're

          7  making. That's the standard process that's set out

          8  in law.

          9                 Beyond that what I would say is that

         10  between 1,750 and 2,500 dollars, the vacancy rate we

         11  calculated is 5.06 percent, so it's right at that

         12  level, and with, I think the decontrol provisions

         13  above $2,000, there is in fact a mechanism built

         14  into the system to decontrol those units at those

         15  higher rent levels already.

         16                 Again, that's the legal requirement

         17  that does account for that stock.

         18                 So, we believe the methodology is a

         19  sound one, but it is also more importantly, whatever

         20  we think about it, it is the law and we're following

         21  it.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Well, you

         23  mentioned on page three of your testimony that the

         24  fact that the report indicates that the universe of

         25  rent-regulated apartments has increased, albeit
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          2  minimally, and that's sort of contra to what I hear

          3  from the activists who kind of lament the fact that

          4  loss of all these stabilized apartments due to high

          5  rent and luxury decontrol.

          6                 Does the fact that there is an actual

          7  increase debunk the myth that's put out there by

          8  some of the activists? And although you assert that

          9  the reason for the overall increase has to do with

         10  the Mayor's initiative that is obviously welcomed,

         11  do the number of units on line so far by the Mayor's

         12  Initiative actually bolster your argument? Or does

         13  it prove out if you look at the numbers?

         14                 And is the lament that we hear time

         15  and time again actually undercut by the actual

         16  numbers?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all, I

         18  would say that clearly, and as I tried to lay out in

         19  the testimony, there is -- we are losing units and

         20  we're gaining units at the same time, so the fact

         21  that we had a net increase of roughly 1,000 units

         22  doesn't say that we don't have units exiting rent

         23  stabilization and I think there is still a

         24  reasonable debate to be had, there's obviously a

         25  debate on both sides of that, to create affordable
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          2  housing very much, based on our numbers.

          3                 What has really changed, we either

          4  created or preserved where rent stabilization would

          5  apply.

          6                 If you look at the overall increase

          7  in the post 47 stock, it was 29,000 units. Divided

          8  by three, that's roughly 10,000 units a year. So,

          9  that you can see on a scale basis, we are talking

         10  about a scale of effort by the City and the new

         11  Housing Marketplace Plan that can largely explain

         12  what's happening in the increase in the rent

         13  stabilized stock.

         14                 And I would just add to that, what

         15  that doesn't account for, and what isn't accounted

         16  for in rent stabilization, which is an important

         17  part of this argument, is all of the new affordable

         18  home ownership opportunities this City is creating,

         19  they're not rent stabilized, but those are net new

         20  affordable units that have been added to the stock,

         21  and clearly based on the increase in the number of

         22  home owners, we believe that our home ownership

         23  efforts are a part of the reason why the home

         24  ownership rate is now at record levels across New

         25  York City.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Mr. Chairman, do

          3  I have time to ask one more question?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'll grant you,

          5  since you are the leading member of the minority

          6  party and didn't make an opening statement, I'll

          7  grant you another question under the new rules of

          8  this body.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: I knew one day

         10  after seven years there would be an advantage to

         11  being Minority Leader of this body.

         12                 Half of the apartments in this City

         13  that rent for less than 850, and I'm talking about

         14  the smaller guys. I'm not talking about the big

         15  guys, I'm talking about the folks that own six

         16  units, ten units and that rent apartments for less

         17  than 850, if you talk to them they will tell you

         18  that as a result of the property tax increase and

         19  the assessments that go up, they've had an increase

         20  in anywhere from 30 to 50 percent.

         21                 And these are not the big, bad

         22  landlords that we all hear about. These are the

         23  folks who are really on the fringe. What help -- and

         24  these, frankly, are the folks that we want to be in

         25  the business of providing housing, we need to foster
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          2  this type of ownership because they provide the

          3  apartments that we all want rising for these folks,

          4  because there are really lots of them out there who

          5  aren't evil incarnate, who are on the bubble, and

          6  when they go under, the overall number of housing

          7  units available to all of us decrease.

          8                 So, I mean, how do we offer them

          9  assistance?

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Clearly, I

         11  would say that whether it's looking at the increases

         12  in energy cost, construction materials, there's a

         13  range of things that have happened in the market in

         14  the last few years that have increased the pressures

         15  both on new construction but also on existing owners

         16  as well, insurance costs, particularly related to

         17  some of the changes in the lead law and other things

         18  that are a real fact.

         19                 That is really one of the primary

         20  responsibilities of my agency. We talk a lot about

         21  the new development, but we have a whole group of

         22  folks at the agency who work with owners, we do

         23  owners' nights out in Council districts on a regular

         24  basis, we provide low-interest loans, other types of

         25  grants and other assistance that we try to help
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          2  those owners. We do a lot of education classes. We

          3  trained over 25,000 individuals last year in

          4  maintenance and operating and a range of other

          5  things.

          6                 So, the City really is trying to make

          7  sure, and I agree with you that the sort of bread

          8  and butter of the housing market in New York City is

          9  the small owners, the vast, vast majority of whom

         10  are doing a good job.

         11                 I'm encouraged by the data that's in

         12  the Housing Vacancy Survey, which says that housing

         13  conditions and neighborhood conditions overall are

         14  the best that they've been on record, and that is a

         15  sign that despite the pressures that you're talking

         16  about, we're making progress, and in fact, owners

         17  are finding a way not just to sort of stay even but

         18  actually improve their buildings as well.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you, Mr.

         20  Chairman.

         21                 Thank you, Commissioner.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Before

         23  we move on, I would like to acknowledge some of my

         24  colleagues and members of the Housing and Buildings

         25  Committee that have joined us. Council Member
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          2  Gallagher, from Queens, Council Member Tom White

          3  from Queens, and Council Member Lew Fidler from

          4  Brooklyn.

          5                 The next member up for questioning is

          6  the sponsor of the items before you today, Council

          7  Member Rosie Mendez.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Good morning,

          9  Mr. Commissioner. I wanted you to explain to me a

         10  little bit about how in this survey we get to get

         11  more rent stabilized apartments? This is a

         12  conversation you and I had recently, that my

         13  experience in my district is that I'm seeing lots of

         14  apartments being destabilized. There are fires in

         15  rent stabilized apartments, tenants are not coming

         16  back into place, nowhere is this being recorded

         17  where we're losing those kind of apartments. We have

         18  buildings where they're doing mass evictions, and

         19  harassing tenants out. So that it seems to me that

         20  we've actually lost more rent stabilized units and

         21  it's not being accounted for in the survey.

         22                 Can you explain that to me?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: First of all, I

         24  would say that particularly where there are examples

         25  of what you are talking about are harassment or
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          2  other illegal tactics that are being taken, that

          3  that is something we want brought to our attention

          4  and that we will act on it.

          5                 In fact, in cooperation with the

          6  Council, in rezonings that have recently been passed

          7  and in other ways we tried to strengthen the

          8  anti-harassment provisions, given the market

          9  pressures that we see around the City.

         10                 So, just on that specific issue, I

         11  think it's very important that we know about any

         12  examples of that and that we will act expeditiously

         13  to try and counteract those kind of tactics that

         14  happen anywhere that we see them.

         15                 On the overall change in the rent

         16  stabilized stock, I do not intend to say that we're

         17  not losing units in any way. Clearly what the survey

         18  shows is that there is a set of units that are

         19  moving out of rent stabilization, and particularly

         20  in those pre-1947 buildings, there was a total of

         21  28,000 in the period of the survey, about just over

         22  9,000 units a year that were leaving the rent

         23  stabilization in that pre-47 stock.

         24                 What does explain the overall net,

         25  very slight increase that we saw, about 1,000 units,
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          2  is the additions through the tax abatement programs,

          3  and the other affordability programs that the City

          4  has.

          5                 That's really what's changed from

          6  prior surveys when there was a net decrease in those

          7  units, is that we've stepped up our efforts to

          8  create affordability and that that has led to a new

          9  set of units that are entering rent stabilization.

         10                 So, that doesn't necessarily

         11  counteract what you're seeing. There are units that

         12  are leaving rent stabilization, but we've stepped up

         13  our efforts to add units to the rent stabilized

         14  stock, as well, and that's really what explains the

         15  net increase.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay.

         17                 What I think also, for purposes of

         18  this survey, we're tracking the loss of rent

         19  stabilized units through DHCR orders where landlords

         20  apply to decontrolled apartments; is that correct?

         21                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Actually, this

         22  is done through a very detailed survey that we do of

         23  residents, and so it doesn't rely on whether in fact

         24  an owner has reported to DHCR or not that they're

         25  leaving.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: You mentioned

          3  that the addition of units have come from these tax

          4  abatement programs, like 421-A and J-51; can you

          5  tell me how these rents are set in those units? If

          6  the developer does it? If it's done in conjunction

          7  with HPD? What kind of monitoring to make sure that

          8  these are at affordable levels?

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Yes, there's a

         10  range of different tax abatement programs that are

         11  in there that I mentioned. So, 421-A is a new

         12  construction program, J-51 is a renovation program

         13  for existing units that are rehabilitated, 420-C is

         14  a tax abatement that's available for new

         15  construction by non-profits in conjunction with tax

         16  credits. So, for each of the different tax abatement

         17  programs there are different rules about how those

         18  rents are set.

         19                 Some of them, particularly in the

         20  421-A program, are set at market rents, but there is

         21  also a large number of them that are set through

         22  affordability provisions of whatever subsidy program

         23  would be attached to them, whether it's tax credits,

         24  or another set of them.

         25                 On the J-51, we are often times using
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          2  those in concert with, for example, our 8-A program,

          3  or other renovation programs, all of those require

          4  affordability provisions be set on those units that

          5  are receiving the J-51 in concert with it. And

          6  420-C, obviously given that it's all tax credits,

          7  it's only available for tax credits by non-profits,

          8  100 percent of the units through the 420-C program

          9  would be affordability provisions that are set for

         10  very low-income households.

         11                 So, it's a long answer, but there's a

         12  real mix of how those rental levels are set,

         13  depending on the tax abatement program.

         14                 The other thing I would just add, and

         15  I think particularly on 421-A, which is the new

         16  construction program, the Mayor announced last week

         17  that we were creating a task force to examine the

         18  421-A program with the explicit goal of trying to

         19  maximize the amount of affordability that we get out

         20  of that program.

         21                 So, I think we recognize the 421-A

         22  program was one that was created in 1971 when the

         23  market was very, very different in New York City,

         24  and that we believe it's a program that could be

         25  used to increase the amount of affordable housing
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          2  that it generates. It currently does generate some,

          3  but we think it could be even more effective at

          4  creating affordable housing.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: One thing you

          6  can clarify for me, is HPD setting the market rates

          7  for these buildings, or is it the developer?

          8                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Where market

          9  rents are being used, the market rent is set by the

         10  market, not by HPD. So, the market rents would be

         11  set by the market.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And is HPD

         13  reviewing those rents that are set to make sure that

         14  it is in fact what the market in that area is

         15  dictating?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I guess my

         17  answer would be if a person is willing to pay a

         18  rent, it's a market rent. So, the definition of a

         19  market rent is that it's set by the market, not by

         20  HPD. So, I'm not sure I understand the question.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Often times

         22  the rent that's being asked, while not the market

         23  rent, is exceedingly unaffordable and owners and

         24  developers set the rent that high because they can

         25  and they know that they will get eventually people
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          2  to pay for it.

          3                 Example: In my district a new

          4  development went up and they were asking three-

          5  four-thousand dollars for a two- and three-bedroom,

          6  and what I see is three students paying a thousand

          7  dollars each, but no one from my district can afford

          8  to go in and purchase that apartment. And I'm sure

          9  that they're availing themselves of these tax

         10  credits.

         11                 So, I want to know when they're

         12  availing themselves of these tax credits if the City

         13  has some kind of oversight to determine that the

         14  market rent really is a reasonable rent in that

         15  area.

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: As I said

         17  earlier, we are looking at the 421-A program, we've

         18  established the task force and we do believe that we

         19  can use that program to increase the amount of

         20  affordability that we get out of it.

         21                 We do look at, whenever there is a

         22  421-A abatement given, we'll look at the operating

         23  expenses for the property, we'll look at a range of

         24  things to make sure that those are reasonable, but a

         25  market rent is set by the market. It's determined by

                                                            48

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  what people are willing to pay in the market.

          3                 That is not to say that we aren't

          4  concerned about the affordability problem. Clearly,

          5  what the HVS shows and what the Mayor has

          6  consistently said, is that we are concerned about

          7  the increasing level of rents overall in the City,

          8  and that affordability is a key issue that the City

          9  has to confront. That's exactly why last week he

         10  detailed the largest affordable housing plan in the

         11  nation's history. We need to do more to create

         12  affordable housing, and we are doing it. But HPD

         13  follows its responsibilities in the buildings. When

         14  421-A is given, we will look at a housing plan for

         15  that development. But the market rent, again, is set

         16  by the market, not by HPD.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Just one

         18  follow-up question, and then I'll let my colleagues

         19  be able to ask some questions.

         20                 Do you know what is the highest rent

         21  stabilized apartment rent right now under the 421-A

         22  program? Are you aware of what that is?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I don't. We can

         24  certainly get that information to look at it. I

         25  don't have that information with me.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

          3  much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, at this time

          5  the next Council Member up for questioning is

          6  Council Member Lewis Fidler.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: Thank you,

          8  Chairman Dilan, Chairwoman Baez.

          9                 First, I just want to confirm for the

         10  record, I was under the impression that I was a

         11  co-sponsor of Intro. 118 and I've asked that my name

         12  be added.

         13                 Commissioner, I apologize for coming

         14  to class a little bit late this morning, but I did

         15  have the opportunity to read your testimony during

         16  the questioning, and I am a little puzzled by the

         17  remarks on the last page of it. I'm sure that this

         18  term must have a meaning.

         19                 You indicated that 4.9 percent of

         20  apartments, rental units in the City of New York

         21  have five of the seven following conditions:

         22  Maintenance deficiencies you refer to them as.

         23  Boiler breakdown, need for supplementary heating,

         24  rodent infestation, cracked walls or ceilings,

         25  broken plaster, peeling paint, toilet breakdowns and
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          2  leaks from outside the apartment.

          3                 Yet, in the sentence before that you

          4  tell us that .7 percent of the apartments are

          5  dilapidated.

          6                 Commissioner, I'm puzzled. I mean, if

          7  five of seven of those maintenance deficiencies

          8  aren't the dictionary definition of dilapidated,

          9  what is the definition of dilapidated, the

         10  dilapidation rate?

         11                 I'm not being facetious, I'm just

         12  nonplussed (phonetic).

         13                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Obviously the

         14  dilapidation standard is a different standard and I

         15  can read that to you momentarily when we get it.

         16                 The definition that's used by the

         17  Census Bureau is that a unit is severely damaged or

         18  neglected and thus would require extensive repairs,

         19  and that's where it's being counted as a dilapidated

         20  unit.

         21                 So, it's a much more extensive

         22  standard, obviously by the fact that it's a much

         23  lower number than the maintenance deficiency

         24  standard that's being used referred to before.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And the
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          2  statistic that you have here, are you just adopting

          3  the Census Bureau's finding, or is this HPD's

          4  determination as to what you would consider to be

          5  dilapidated?

          6                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: This is the

          7  same standard that's been used for 40 years in the

          8  survey. It's been consistently applied throughout

          9  it, and the value of this, frankly, is that we do

         10  use the same standard every three years so that we

         11  can compare.

         12                 But as I mentioned in the testimony,

         13  what the data shows is that for example just 15

         14  years ago, in 1991, that rate of maintenance

         15  deficiencies that you talked about, was close to

         16  eight percent.

         17                 So, using a consistent definition,

         18  what it shows is that the rate of dilapidation, as

         19  well as those maintenance deficiencies had both

         20  declined substantially.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: I appreciate

         22  that, and I appreciated the need for consistency in

         23  statistics, it's just that reading the data, I just

         24  couldn't imagine what a dilapidated apartment is,

         25  and an apartment without heat and hot water and
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          2  peeling paint and leaking from the outside didn't

          3  qualify.

          4                 What concerns me, however, and I made

          5  these comments on the floor of the Council in

          6  relation to the in rem tax lien bill that we just

          7  passed an extension of, I see that the rate of

          8  apartments, of rental units that have five of the

          9  seven maintenance deficiencies as increased from 4

         10  to 4.9 percent in the last year, and I am certain

         11  beyond a doubt that the real estate bubble, if it

         12  doesn't burst, will at least level off in the City

         13  of New York, sometime in the foreseeable future, not

         14  because I'm Nostrodomas but because is just has to

         15  happen. The value of increase can't continue to

         16  increase at the rate that it has in the last two,

         17  three, four years. And when that happens, there is

         18  going to be a crisis in this City, and as it relates

         19  to multiple dwellings, the first people who are

         20  going to feel it are going to be the tenants,

         21  because the landlord is going to stop providing some

         22  of the services and we're going to find a sharp

         23  increase in the number of units that meet this five

         24  and seven standard, if not the dilapidated standard

         25  that goes even beyond it.
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          2                 And I just want to take this

          3  opportunity to say to you that it's coming, and I

          4  hope HPD is planning for it before it becomes a

          5  crisis, just as we need to do that at the Council on

          6  private property owners. It's going to happen, and

          7  for once, I hope that we're going to be ahead of the

          8  curve. And I know, Commissioner, I think very highly

          9  of the work you do at HPD, and I just hope that

         10  someone over there is thinking about it, because

         11  it's coming.

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I could say a

         13  couple of things about the work that we've been

         14  doing.

         15                 Clearly, and we talk a lot about the

         16  development side of what the agency does, but

         17  preservation is also in our title, and the code

         18  enforcement system is one that we've spent a lot of

         19  time focusing on, working closely with Council

         20  Member Brewer and others in a number of different

         21  ways.

         22                 First of all, we have created with

         23  the Council a new targeted enforcement program,

         24  where we'll go out not just in response to 3-1-1

         25  calls, but do roof-to-cellar inspections in a
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          2  targeted set of buildings in every Council district

          3  around the City to try and get ahead of what you're

          4  talking about with the buildings that are in the

          5  most distress.

          6                 We've also added over the last few

          7  years 100 inspectors. 3-1-1 has dramatically

          8  increased the ability of citizens to let us know

          9  what's going on, and we have increased our

         10  inspections now to a level of roughly 300,000 a

         11  year, all of that due to an increased emphasis and

         12  focus on enforcement, both through the regular code

         13  enforcement process and proactive efforts like the

         14  program, the enforcement program with the Council

         15  that we've started.

         16                 So, I do heed your concerns, and it's

         17  one that we, too, have been thinking about and

         18  preparing for. And while I certainly don't think

         19  that there is a housing bubble in New York, we

         20  continue to see a large level of immigration, I do

         21  think that the market is returning to a more healthy

         22  balance, is the way I would describe it, but we are

         23  concerned that if interest rates increase

         24  dramatically or other things happen, that it could

         25  affect the quality of the housing stock, and we are
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          2  trying to prepare for that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER: And while I

          4  very much appreciate the code enforcement, I'm also

          5  suggesting to you that we need to be a little

          6  proactive and perhaps prophylactic in terms of those

          7  buildings where the equity was gone, and therefore

          8  the ability to leverage the cash to do some of the

          9  repairs and to provide even, you know, absolutely

         10  necessary service, is gone, and that we need to be

         11  thinking proactively about some programs there,

         12  because we all know that some property owners suck

         13  all the equity out of their buildings while they

         14  have it, because the equity goes up up, then all of

         15  a sudden the ability to refinance disappears,

         16  there's going to be a problem.

         17                 And, so, I think we need to be

         18  thinking about it from that aspect in addition to

         19  the code enforcement where you start to see the

         20  incipient decline of a building happening and you

         21  catch it, but you also need to be able to think a

         22  little more globally about the problem.

         23                 So, just I urge that on you. I know

         24  HPD tries to think in those directions, and I hope

         25  and I appreciate that you are.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          3                 Before we move on to the next Council

          4  Member, I also wanted to acknowledge the presence of

          5  the Deputy Majority Leader of the body, Council

          6  Member Leroy Comrie.

          7                 Council Member Baez.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you.

          9                 Commissioner, the Council passed a

         10  Home Rule Message last year sponsored by Speaker

         11  Miller that called on the State Legislature and

         12  Governor to repeal their Urstadt Law and thereby

         13  restore Home Rule powers to the City Council and

         14  Mayor. This measure passed by a vote of 47 to 3.

         15                 We are now preparing to vote on a new

         16  Home Rule Message, SLR 1, sponsored by Speaker

         17  Quinn. Would the Mayor be interested in sitting down

         18  with the Speaker to discuss this issue?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I think the

         20  Mayor has made clear numerous times since Speaker

         21  Quinn took office that he is very, very interested

         22  in discussing with the Council anything and

         23  everything that the Council is interested in in

         24  looking at. So, I would say absolutely, yes, we'd be

         25  happy to sit down and talk about that, or any other
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          2  issue that the Council is interested in talking

          3  about.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: I'm glad to hear

          5  that. Would you anticipate joining the Speaker in

          6  support of this request?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The request to

          8  sit down with the Mayor, or the request --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Yes.

         10                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I would be

         11  happy to report to the Mayor that Speaker Quinn is

         12  interested in talking about this, and we'll

         13  recommend that he be happy to talk to her.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: And for the Home

         15  Rule?

         16                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: To talk, to sit

         17  down and talk, are you asking?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Support the request

         19  for the SLR 1?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Would he be in

         21  support of the --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Would you?

         23                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Would I be in

         24  support? I would say on that that we have seen this

         25  in the past in Albany, that obviously we work
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          2  closely with Albany on any of the legislative

          3  proposals that are up there. The Mayor has expressed

          4  concern about the administrative cost of Home Rule,

          5  roughly $38 million in administrative cost for this,

          6  and without clear way to pay for that, I think we'd

          7  be very concerned about taking on that additional

          8  administrative burden without significant benefits.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Do you believe that

         10  it is in the City's best interest to gain control

         11  over the rent-regulated housing stock?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I think, as I

         13  just stated, the concern is that gaining control

         14  over the rent regulation laws would come with a

         15  substantial regulatory cost, roughly $38 million a

         16  year, which the City currently does not have to

         17  administer.

         18                 So, that would be our concern about

         19  it.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: In your opinion,

         21  even if the administration of rents resulted in some

         22  increased cost to the City, would the City not be

         23  better off in control of this segment of the

         24  affordable housing market? I mean, the rents are

         25  skyrocketing, people are suffering, enough is

                                                            59

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  enough.

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: What I would

          4  say, again, go back to this is ultimately a decision

          5  that is going to be made in Albany. What the Mayor

          6  can do and what he has focused on is creating the

          7  largest affordable housing plan in the City's

          8  history, and we are seeing results.

          9                 The HVS survey itself shows that we

         10  are increasing the number of rent stabilized units

         11  that are added to the stock because of those

         12  affordability units.

         13                 Ultimately this is an issue that

         14  Albany is going to decide what the Mayor can do and

         15  has done is to recognize the affordability

         16  challenges that we have, and to dramatically

         17  increase what the City is doing to create more

         18  affordable units overall, including more rent

         19  stabilized units, and that's what he's been focused

         20  on and that's what he's going to continue to be

         21  focused on.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: So, just for

         23  clarity, what you're saying is that you would rather

         24  increase it than control it?

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: What I'm saying
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          2  is ultimately the decision is going to be made in

          3  Albany about whether the City controls those laws or

          4  not. It's not within the Mayor's control, and what

          5  is within his control is the amount of funding and

          6  other efforts, zoning, et cetera, working with the

          7  Council to do as much as he possibly can.

          8                 So, independent of what happens with

          9  the decision about Home Rule, we will continue to

         10  focus on creating as much affordable housing as

         11  possible, and those efforts have shown results, as

         12  demonstrated by Housing and Vacancy Survey.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BAEZ: Thank you,

         14  Commissioner.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Council Member

         16  Rivera.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Thank you very

         18  much, Chairman Dilan and Chairman Baez.

         19                 Commissioner, thank you for joining

         20  us here today. I think it is a very important issue

         21  that's facing the City of New York, how we deal with

         22  our rent stabilization and rent control.

         23                 First I want to start off by saying

         24  that I can testify to the amount of affordable

         25  housing that has gone up particularly in my

                                                            61

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  district. I live in the Bronx, and I want to thank

          3  you for the efforts you put forward over the past

          4  four years, to make sure we continue to build up

          5  affordable housing.

          6                 My question pretty much is, how much

          7  does it cost the State to administer, how much

          8  expenses does it cost the State to actually deal

          9  with rent control, rent stabilization of the City of

         10  New York?

         11                 Do we have those figures?

         12                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: My

         13  understanding is that the total figure is $38

         14  million a year.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So, it costs

         16  the State $38 million a year, not the City, right?

         17                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The total cost

         18  is $38 million, if that's what you're asking.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Okay.

         20                 Who pays for that? I mean, the State,

         21  but what agency pays for that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I believe there

         23  is a portion of it. Roughly $10 million a year that

         24  comes from fees that are assessed to rent stabilized

         25  units, the remainder of it is not covered by those
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          2  fees, and the Administration is handled by DHCR,

          3  which is the State agency.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: So, then it's

          5  10 million out of 38 million, so that would still be

          6  a realized fee, it's really $28 million that needs

          7  to be found to administer the administration of the

          8  --

          9                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That's right.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: All right. So,

         11  now, the State of New York would probably save $28

         12  million. Has there been an effort to negotiate with

         13  the State like half, to get them to pay like half

         14  the cost to the administration, or to forward us

         15  some additional funding or assistance with DHCR, to

         16  allow us to then figure out where we can come up

         17  with $14 million and they can come up with $14

         18  million?

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I'm not aware

         20  of any discussions along those lines.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA: Maybe that

         22  will be a good way to try to figure out how we can

         23  actually get the City of New York to get control of

         24  the situation. If there's $28 million, if the State

         25  could kick in 14 million, reduction in their
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          2  expenditures, and it would be $14 million in ours,

          3  so that I think within a $52 billion budget, $14

          4  million is a drop and we can probably find it. We

          5  would be more than willing to work with you.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Council Member

          8  White.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you,

         10  Chairman Baez.

         11                 What I would like to know, I know

         12  it's in your testimony, and I'm really a little

         13  confused about this word "affordability."

         14                 Affordability is such a vague

         15  description and it must be difficult for you,

         16  because you say it's difficult and a great

         17  challenge. If I take a look at affordability the way

         18  that I see it, and the way that I interpret it, you

         19  take a look at what are the earnings of the people

         20  in the City of New York? What are the individuals on

         21  fixed income? And you take a look at the housing

         22  stock, and you take a look at the J-51s and all the

         23  other 421 programs that you have, et cetera, et

         24  cetera, and then you come up with some sort of a

         25  formula to allow the people who live in New York to
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          2  stay in New York, because from what I'm gathering,

          3  and I don't think it's your intent, from what I'm

          4  gathering, the housing stock is going up, and the

          5  City is looking better, however, the people that

          6  live in this City can no longer afford to stay in

          7  the City.

          8                 I mean, you know, from the various

          9  meetings that I've been going to, you know, it seems

         10  to me, it's like vague, but as one of my colleagues

         11  mentioned, we're going to reach a point where only

         12  those who have good means will be able to afford to

         13  live in the City of New York. And I don't think that

         14  that's the intent, and I don't wish to believe that

         15  that is the intent. But I do think that we as a City

         16  Council, and as it was suggested by the Chairs, we

         17  need to really sit down with the Mayor and take a

         18  look at the short and long-term effect of the

         19  housing stock, of the workforce, of the development

         20  that's going to be taking place, technology-wise, et

         21  cetera, let's say within the next ten years, the

         22  fact that by 2011, 65 percent of the residents of

         23  the City of New York are going to be senior

         24  citizens. Many are on fixed income. Where are they

         25  going to live? Do we have enough stabilized
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          2  apartments or home for them?

          3                 So, I think that really needs to be

          4  cleared up in your testimony. The rest of the

          5  information is very clear. But when you say that

          6  affordability has become a greater challenge for New

          7  Yorkers, I believe in that 100 percent. That is a

          8  great challenge and one that we need to address, and

          9  sit down at the table and come to some conclusion of

         10  and define what that really means.

         11                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Councilman, I

         12  couldn't agree with you more. And clearly,

         13  affordability is a challenge that we're facing more

         14  today than we were. The number of people coming to

         15  New York City, the quality of our neighborhoods, all

         16  of that is a good thing, and there are a lot of

         17  benefits to it. But one of the flipsides to it is

         18  that the real estate market has been strong and

         19  affordability, the HVS shows it clearly, is an

         20  increasing problem.

         21                 That's exactly why last week Mayor

         22  Bloomberg announced a dramatic expansion of his

         23  housing plan. It's the largest housing plan in the

         24  nation's history, and he was in Washington Tuesday

         25  this week arguing that the Bush Administration
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          2  budget should be rejected because it decreases

          3  funding substantially for affordable housing.

          4                 So, he couldn't agree with you more,

          5  and we are working hard to make sure that we keep

          6  this a City that is open and available to all New

          7  Yorkers.

          8                 On the specific issue of

          9  affordability, let me just, it's not in the

         10  testimony, but let me try and be as clear as I can

         11  about what affordability means.

         12                 The vast majority of all the units

         13  that we do in our affordable housing programs are

         14  for what's defined as low-income in New York City,

         15  and that, for a family of four, is an annual income

         16  of less than $50,000 a year.

         17                 What we do, roughly a quarter of all

         18  the units that we do are targeted at below 30

         19  percent of area and median income. So, what that

         20  means is roughly for a family of four, between zero

         21  and $20,000 a year of income. That's about a quarter

         22  of all of our units that we do.

         23                 Another quarter of the units that we

         24  do are targeted between roughly 30 percent and 60

         25  percent median income, that's from about $20,000 a
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          2  year of income up to roughly about $40,000 a year of

          3  income.

          4                 Another 25 percent are roughly from

          5  60 percent of median income to 80 percent of median

          6  income, so from $40,000 a year to $50,000 a year of

          7  income.

          8                 The remaining quarter of our units

          9  that we do in our affordable housing programs are

         10  above that low-income standard, so moderate or

         11  middle income, and that would be anywhere from about

         12  $60,000 a year for a family of four, up to roughly

         13  100 or 125,000 dollars a year as the maximum.

         14                 Most of those middle-income units,

         15  the average income of people in those middle-income

         16  units is about $60,000 a year in income.

         17                 So, that's where the affordability is

         18  targeted. We think it's a good balance of meeting

         19  the lowest income needs, but also recognizing that

         20  there's an increasing squeeze on the middle class as

         21  well in New York City.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Yes. Well,

         23  that's really my concern, the middle class worked so

         24  hard to build this City, to remain in this City. You

         25  know, this may not be an issue and a topic for you
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          2  right now, but in my district in Jamaica, someone

          3  who bought a home in 1947 for like $27,000 is now

          4  being offered $350,000 on the same plot of land, and

          5  they're building two-family homes and often to sell

          6  each unit for $400,000 a piece.

          7                 So, the person that takes the

          8  $200,000 and sell that property, if they were to

          9  move, they could only move into something that cost

         10  more than $200,000, so they would automatically go

         11  back into debt and back into a mortgage payment.

         12                 So, I mean, the overall concern that

         13  I have concerning the housing stock, is really a

         14  legitimate one when I speak of affordability.

         15                 So, I hope that we could really work

         16  on that, Madam Chair. I hope that we can include the

         17  overall stock and development and all of that to

         18  come up with that area that you mentioned about the

         19  market rate that we can't define, what the market

         20  rate is, and who establishes the market rate, I

         21  think we need a clear definition on that as well.

         22                 So, I want to thank you for your

         23  testimony, and I look forward to speaking to you in

         24  the future about those issues.

         25                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: To Council Member

          3  White, I also want to say that this Committee

          4  intends to look at those issues as well. We

          5  certainly appreciate your input and efforts in those

          6  regards.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER WHITE: Thank you, Mr.

          8  Chair.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: The next Council

         10  Member to question will be Dennis Gallagher.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Thank you, Commissioner, for your

         14  testimony today. And I just want to follow up very

         15  briefly, since I know we're a little behind

         16  schedule, on two of the issues, one of which was

         17  brought up by my colleague, Council Member Jim Oddo.

         18                 I think Council Member Oddo was

         19  talking about the 1 million of City rental property

         20  that rent at the level of $850 or less throughout

         21  this City.

         22                 My district, which is mostly small

         23  property owners, including many property owners who

         24  own six families, I'm sure you're well aware over

         25  the last couple of years, the increases that the
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          2  small property owners have paid with the heating oil

          3  cost, the nuisance fines, that they seem to get

          4  targeted by the City of New York, and how could any

          5  of the small property owners in the City of New York

          6  forget that onerous tax increase.

          7                 How can we anticipate and expect that

          8  small property owners can maintain their properties

          9  at an acceptable level when clearly the increases

         10  and the cost increases to the small properties are

         11  exceeding what they're allowable to get for

         12  increases in rents?

         13                 And I would like for you to clarify

         14  if you can, maybe go into a little bit more detail,

         15  in terms of some of the programs that may be

         16  available for small property owners. I know there's

         17  a lot of different programs out there for tenants

         18  and a lot of laws that protects tenants and many of

         19  them rightfully so, some not, but in particular, I'd

         20  like to make sure that we can somehow protect a very

         21  valuable part of our City, and that's the small

         22  property owner which seems to be abandoned in City

         23  government.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: A number of the

         25  things that we do for assistance, I talked earlier
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          2  about our education programs. Last year we trained

          3  over 25,000 individuals that include whether it's

          4  education on the new lead paint law in the City and

          5  significant requirements that go along with that, we

          6  do more kind of fundamental maintenance and

          7  operating types of classes for a large number of

          8  owners every year, so there's a range of those. We

          9  will also provide low interest loans, tax abatements

         10  and other types of benefits to small, as well as

         11  large property owners, to help keep their buildings

         12  in good condition. And often time, we will do as

         13  much outreach as we can through owners' nights or

         14  other types of services that we make available in

         15  Council districts across the City.

         16                 So, there's a range of tools that we

         17  provide. An additional one is that I would be happy

         18  to go off the record with your office to give you

         19  some background on.

         20                 I guess just in summary what I would

         21  say is one of the I think things that's good news in

         22  the Housing Vacancy Surveys, it does show that

         23  overall property conditions and neighborhood

         24  conditions are as good or better than they had ever

         25  been across the City.
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          2                 So, while I understand the pressures

          3  that you're talking about, and we do recognize that

          4  whether it's insurance costs, or energy costs or

          5  other things continue to be a pressure, the results

          6  do seem to be that the housing stock is being

          7  maintains and improved at a level that's as good as

          8  we've ever seen in the City.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: And I can

         10  appreciate that, but I can also appreciate the

         11  number of times that I've had meetings with small

         12  property owners that indicate that if this continues

         13  with all the increases from the insurance costs,

         14  fuel costs, the property tax increases, they will

         15  either try to sell and move on and look to get out

         16  of it, and some of them are the more responsible

         17  property owners that live in their buildings and

         18  maintain their buildings and very active in the

         19  community and concerned about the quality of life,

         20  and we don't  want to lose them to the type of

         21  landlords that maybe will not take the same active

         22  interest.

         23                 But I still think that more has to be

         24  done and considered about the small property owners.

         25  They're a backbone in my community, and I'm very
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          2  concerned at the direction. And let's face it, we

          3  all have to pay our bills, and if a certain among is

          4  coming in from rents and it doesn't meet the cost,

          5  it represents a huge problem.

          6                 But I look forward to having some

          7  further conversation with you.

          8                 One question I would like to know,

          9  are you aware of any studies? Or have you put out

         10  any studies that would say if rent regulations were

         11  to be eliminated, what will your estimates be that

         12  rents will increase? And I'd like to know if you

         13  have that, and whether or not you can give that to

         14  me broken down by borough?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: That is not a

         16  study that we've conducted, and I'm not aware of

         17  anyone that gives detailed estimates like that,

         18  particularly by borough. But our research staff

         19  could spend some time and see if there is such a

         20  thing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GALLAGHER: All right.

         22                 And last, I might ask my colleague,

         23  Council Member Oddo, if he could go back to that

         24  question that he had asked you earlier about the

         25  number of units and vacant, and the percentages,
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          2  because I think I pointed something out in a Housing

          3  Vacancy Study that maybe Council Member Oddo, would

          4  you mind following up on?

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: With permission

          6  of the Chair, I would.

          7                 May I, Mr. Chairman?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Yes. I'll tell

          9  you, being a republican is good today, boy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: These days are

         11  are.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Don't push it.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Yes.

         14                 Normally I get that commend from the

         15  other side of City Hall, Mr. Chairman.

         16                 Commissioner, I hate numbers, and

         17  that's one of the reasons why I went to law school,

         18  but just getting back to my earlier question about

         19  affecting the five percent number with the 65 vacant

         20  units, 65,000 vacant units available, and twice as

         21  many that are unavailable for renovation. If you

         22  look at the study, it says 2005 HVS reports that the

         23  number of housing units in New York City increased

         24  by 52,000 which they equate to being 1.6 percent,

         25  okay?
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          2                 So, if you go back to those 65,000

          3  times two that are out there, and go back to my

          4  question, that if you put, if you took a snapshot at

          5  a different point in time when those 135,000 units

          6  were brought on line, clearly that's a three and a

          7  half percent at least impact on the overall rate.

          8                 And, listen, I understand that the

          9  outcome of the survey is, you know, in as much data

         10  as an outcome of a professional wrestling match, but

         11  isn't it bordering on laughable if we say that the

         12  number is below five percent, when clearly if you

         13  took a snapshot at a different time, if you chose to

         14  look at it objectively, it wouldn't be anywhere near

         15  five percent.

         16                 So, I guess my question is if 52,000

         17  units is 1.6 percent, then clearly 130,000 would

         18  have an impact on the five percent vacancy rate.

         19                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: There is no

         20  question the 130,000 would have an impact on the

         21  vacancy rate.

         22                 My caution would be that included in

         23  those vacant but not available are things like

         24  bungalos in the Rockaways that are used seasonally,

         25  and a range of other that, frankly, unless you're
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          2  willing to start taking people's homes from them, I

          3  think would be very hard to ever count in a vacancy

          4  rate, because there is absolutely no way that

          5  they're going to be vacant.

          6                 So, you have to look at the details

          7  of what makes up that 130,000, and there's only a

          8  tiny fraction of them that I think you could

          9  actually say would vary year-to-year in terms of

         10  when they're renovated and completed and coming on

         11  line.

         12                 There's a number of them. I'd be

         13  happy to spend some time sort of going through the

         14  more detailed numbers. There's a large number of

         15  them that under any definition, I think it would be

         16  a real stretch to say are vacant and available in

         17  the housing stock.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: One last

         19  question, Mr. Chairman.

         20                 Can you define a tiny fraction? What

         21  number are we talking of the 130?

         22                 I mean, clearly we're not talking of

         23  the 129,000 summer bungalos in the Rockaways.

         24                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: There are

         25  43,000 of them that are occasional, seasonal, or
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          2  recreational use, for example. There are roughly

          3  another 15,000 that are already rented or sold, but

          4  not yet occupied, clearly those wouldn't be

          5  included. There's another set that are dilapidated,

          6  which clearly you wouldn't want anybody to be living

          7  in. So, again, my point is that the large majority

          8  of those fall into other categories that I think it

          9  would be very, very hard to say are, you know,

         10  rentable.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO: Thank you.

         12                 Thank you for your indulgence, Mr.

         13  Chairman.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         15                 To Commissioner Donovan, I want to

         16  thank you for your patience on this issue. I will

         17  close the questionings. I will close the line of

         18  questioning with just a few several questions, and I

         19  want to focus on the inclusions of HUD-regulated

         20  units into HPD's, into the HVS.

         21                 The technical notes at the end of

         22  your report states that in 2005, the 2005 HVS for

         23  the first time, rent stabilized units are

         24  categorized as rent stabilized, whether or not they

         25  are HUD-regulated.

                                                            78

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 How many of these units are included

          3  in the 2005 HVS as rent regulated, as compared to

          4  the 2002 HVS when they weren't?

          5                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We actually,

          6  until we have fuller data, don't know the exact

          7  numbers of the HUD-regulated units that are included

          8  in there. But understanding that this would be a

          9  concern, what was done when the 2005 survey was

         10  completed, is that the Census Bureau went back to

         11  the 2002 data and adjusted it to use the same

         12  methodology.

         13                 In other words, they changed the

         14  HUD-regulated units so they were accounted as well

         15  in 2002 within the rent-regulated stock.

         16                 What that means is, that the specific

         17  technical issue that you're talking about has no

         18  affect on the increased rent stabilized units that

         19  we're talking about in the survey.

         20                 In other words, it's been adjusted

         21  for it in 2002, so that we're comparing apples to

         22  apples in 2002 and 2005. So, that is a technical

         23  issue you identified, but it has been adjusted for

         24  in the 2002 data, and therefore, it doesn't

         25  contribute at all to the increase in rent stabilized
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          2  stock that was shown by the study.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay.

          4                 Then could you just say why was HVS

          5  changed to include the HUD-regulated units? Do you

          6  know why it was changed?

          7                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Fairly simple,

          8  that there are units that are both HUD-regulated and

          9  rent stabilized, and it seemed to us that when

         10  counting the total stock of rent stabilized unit, we

         11  ought to include everything that's rent stabilized,

         12  not just a portion of them.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: So, it was HPD's

         14  decision to --

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: It was a Census

         16  Bureau decision that we concurred with.

         17                 But again, recognizing, we thought

         18  that that was the better methodology, but we also

         19  knew that we need to have a consistent basis for

         20  comparison, and so we did go back and adjust the

         21  2002 data, so that we would have an apples to apples

         22  comparison. So, again, that technical change has no

         23  impact whatsoever. If I could understand the

         24  implication of the question, it's potentially, well,

         25  this 1,000 unit increase in the rent stabilized
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          2  stock is just a figment of our imagination because

          3  we changed the way that we're calculating the data.

          4                 In fact, that's not accurate. What we

          5  did was to adjust the 2002 data so that we have

          6  apples to apples, it's comparable data, and we know

          7  that the 1,000 unit increase that we saw is a

          8  reliable picture of what's happening out in the

          9  market, not caused by a technical adjustment.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. And lastly,

         11  what type of HUD-regulated units are we talking

         12  about?

         13                 Are we talking about project-based,

         14  Section 8, or Section 236?

         15                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: The answer is,

         16  yes, all of the above.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: All of the above.

         18                 Okay, so, I'd like to thank you for

         19  your patience this morning in coming forward and

         20  providing your testimony and the question and the

         21  answers to members of the Committee. I look forward

         22  to working with you on behalf of the people of the

         23  City of New York, and I guess the next time you'll

         24  be before us will be March 8th for the budget

         25  hearings of the Committee.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: I do. And I

          3  look forward to working with you as well. I continue

          4  to be impressed by many things, including your

          5  statistical knowledge and abilities you're

          6  displaying today, and I look forward to a long and

          7  cooperative partnership with the Council and all of

          8  your members.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Can I ask you to

         10  forgive me, on one more point? I know I was about to

         11  show you the exit, but the sponsor of the bill has

         12  requested a follow-up and I will allow it because

         13  she is the sponsor of the bill.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Mr.

         15  Commissioner, as you know, the laws have changed at

         16  the State and City levels since '93 and we've lots

         17  of rent-regulated apartments, and the Housing

         18  Vacancy Survey changed the way it counts its units

         19  in 2002, and we've been anxiously waiting for the

         20  reweighting of those numbers so that we can go back

         21  and compare the previous Housing Vacancy Surveys to

         22  2002 and 2005. As you say, we can compare apples and

         23  apples, but we have oranges prior to 2002.

         24                 Do you anticipate, or know when we

         25  can anticipate the Census Bureau will reweight those
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          2  numbers?

          3                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: We have been

          4  working closely with the Census Bureau on that

          5  project. We had gotten a certain distance with it,

          6  and we had to set it aside to work on the 2005

          7  survey. As I think everybody in the room would

          8  agree, we wanted to make sure we could have the

          9  Housing Vacancy Survey done so that we could produce

         10  the bill and extend rent regulation with the bill

         11  that the Mayor will sign.

         12                 So, we've been working on that

         13  project. We do expect that the Census Bureau will

         14  now go back to the reweighting and that we would

         15  hope by this summer to have that completed to have

         16  that data begin to be available.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And if you

         18  could just please describe to me what the

         19  methodology is going to be used for reweighting?

         20                 COMMISSIONER DONOVAN: Honestly? I

         21  would have a difficult time describing the detailed

         22  methodology. I would be happy to set up a follow-up

         23  meeting with a large team of statisticians at the

         24  Census Bureau that are working on the reweighting,

         25  who I maybe thankfully would say I know very little
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          2  about the methods that they're using. But I would be

          3  happy to set up a follow-up meeting if you're

          4  interested in understanding in a little more detail

          5  what that reweighting methodology is.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I would be.

          7  Thank you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you very

          9  much.

         10                 I also would like to thank the

         11  members of the -- excuse me, the attorneys to the

         12  respective committees that have helped prepared our

         13  reports, Terzah Nasser, who is the Counsel to the

         14  Housing and Buildings Committee, Mari de Pedro, who

         15  is Counsel to the State and Federal Legislation

         16  Committee, and Andrew Sterrer, who is Counsel to the

         17  Public Housing Subcommittee.

         18                 At this point we will open up this

         19  hearing to members of the public, and I would ask

         20  that anyone who has not yet filled out an appearance

         21  card, it looks sort of like this, to testify, to

         22  please do so if they wish to provide testimony.

         23                 We will begin with a liberal

         24  two-minute clock on anybody wishing to testify. And,

         25  again, I'd ask that everybody be courteous to who is
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          2  presiding, or who is giving testimony, and I would

          3  ask that everybody as best possible try to stick to

          4  the time frame that has been allowed.

          5                 Our first, and I'm being asked to

          6  mention this, Nadine Felton, who is the Assistant

          7  Director of the City Council Finance's Revenue

          8  Division, also for helping us provide the data

          9  today.

         10                 Our first panel, we will do it in

         11  panels of four, will be Mr. Victor Bach, from the

         12  Community Service Society; Ms. Wanda Williams from

         13  District Council 37, Mr. Tim Collins from Collins

         14  Dibkin and Miller, and Ms. Barbara Elstein Katz,

         15  will you please come forward, and if you have any

         16  testimony, please submit those to the

         17  Sergeant-At-Arms before you're seated and the

         18  Sergeant-At-Arms will in turn provide it to the

         19  Committee members.

         20                 Okay, I'll let the current panel work

         21  it out amongst themselves, as to who would like to

         22  begin first. And the only thing I would ask is

         23  before you begin your testimony, if you could please

         24  just state your name for the record.

         25                 MS. WILLIAMS: Good afternoon. Good
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          2  morning. Not yet. Good morning. My name is Wanda

          3  Williams. I am the Director of Political Action and

          4  Legislation of District Council 37. As many of you

          5  know, District Council 37 is the largest municipal

          6  labor union in New York City. We represent over

          7  121,000 members and 50,000 retirees. Our members

          8  serve in over 1,000 titles in Mayoral and

          9  non-Mayoral agencies. They are blue collar, white

         10  collar, professional school, hospital and clerical

         11  workers.

         12                 They are patient associates,

         13  janitors, highway repairers, 9-1-1 operators, park

         14  workers, lifeguards, school lunch aids, crossing

         15  guards, clerical workers, they work in hospitals,

         16  schools and Police Departments. They are also

         17  college assistants, Housing Authority employees,

         18  librarians, social workers, architects, engineers,

         19  food stamps, and Medicaid eligibility specialists,

         20  security guards, gardeners and many others who work

         21  every day to give the citizens of New York the

         22  highest quality of service.

         23                 As a condition of employment, 80

         24  percent of our members live in New York City. Over

         25  50 percent of those live in subsidized housing or
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          2  rent controlled or rent stabilized apartments. On

          3  average, our members make over $30,000 a year.

          4                 The average years of service for each

          5  of our members is over 30 years. Many of these

          6  members will retire with a pension of less than

          7  $12,000 a year. Trying to make ends meet for our

          8  members is a daily struggle. Going to work many

          9  days, many times working overtime, sometimes by

         10  choice, other times mandated to do so, does not

         11  provide a cushion but serves as a disincentive,

         12  because these additional funds are taxed and spent

         13  before they are received.

         14                 For some time, and particularly over

         15  the last five years, we have seen a disturbing

         16  trend. Many of our members have become homeless

         17  because of an inability to pay the escalating costs

         18  of the rents. Many members are seeking the union's

         19  assistance at legal proceedings to avoid eviction.

         20  Many members are requesting cash assistance to pay

         21  their rent, and a significant portion of our members

         22  is gravely concerned about the impending sunset of

         23  Mitchell-Lama laws and most disturbing to me is the

         24  fact that we have seen our members who have worked

         25  all of their lives, who have reached the age of 60
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          2  and are seeking or has a fellow colleague as a

          3  roommate because singularly they cannot afford to

          4  pay the rent because it's simply too high. So,

          5  instead of preparing for the twilight of life and

          6  retirement, they are looking at continuing work into

          7  the foreseeable future, with retirement not being an

          8  option for many.

          9                 For these reasons and many others

         10  that your constituents have brought to your

         11  attention, and those who have come before you today,

         12  we ask that you support the extension of the rent

         13  control and rent stabilization laws without any

         14  weakening amendments, work to repeal the vacancy

         15  decontrol and support the State legislation

         16  resolution No. 1, calling on the Governor and the

         17  State Legislature to repeal the Urstadt Law.

         18                 On behalf of the 121,000 members of

         19  DC 37 and our 50,000 retirees, we urge you to

         20  support life with dignity for all New Yorkers, most

         21  especially for those most vulnerable and in urgent

         22  need.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         25                 Next.
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          2                 And before you begin, I want to just

          3  credit the four gentlemen on the panel for deciding

          4  to let the ladies testify first.

          5                 MS. ELSTEIN KATZ: I think it was a

          6  mutual decision.

          7                 My name is Barbara Elstein Katz. I

          8  worked for the New York City of Department of

          9  Housing Preservation and Development for more than

         10  30 years, before I retired in 2003, most of that

         11  time working with Housing and Vacancy survey data.

         12  The first one I worked with personally was 1975 and

         13  all the way through, even some of the preparation

         14  for 2002.

         15                 After I retired, I looked at some of

         16  the data and wrote a report about the disappearing

         17  rent regulated units, which unfortunately,

         18  Councilman Oddo, is not a myth.

         19                 They are disappearing and they are

         20  disappearing at a very high rate, and I provided a

         21  table, I think the Council members have the table in

         22  front of you, all of the data on this table comes

         23  from the report that you received from HPD. It's

         24  just formulated in a slightly different way.

         25                 And what it shows is that there has

                                                            89

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  been a loss of 16,000 rent controlled units, nobody

          3  else has mentioned that, but rent-controlled units

          4  are probably the most affordable units in the City

          5  and they're gone. And normally when a unit is

          6  vacated, a rent-controlled unit is vacated, it

          7  becomes rent stabilized, so you would have imagined

          8  the rent stabilized stock would have gone up by

          9  16,000 or something close to 16,000, when instead it

         10  went down by, with the pre-47 stabilized stock, went

         11  down by 28,000 units. So, that's a loss of 44,000

         12  units. At least 44,000 units.

         13                 What happened to those units? They

         14  probably are being occupied as non-regulated units

         15  because they were in co-op buildings, either

         16  non-regulated rental units, or as owner occupied

         17  units, and that was 40, at least 44,000 units over

         18  the last three years are no longer affordable to the

         19  average renter in New York City.

         20                 And I think, just to add an aside,

         21  which you cannot tell, but I asked for additional

         22  data, I think much of the increase in the post-47

         23  stabilized stock is indeed new construction, and I

         24  think there's been more than 29,000 units of new

         25  construction, because I'm sure that in addition to
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          2  the pre-47 and rent controlled units that have been

          3  lost from the stock, there have been also thousands

          4  of post-47 stabilized units lost and the way to tell

          5  that is to know how many units included in the

          6  survey were built between 1999 and 2002. That's data

          7  which the agency, HPD, has now and could easily get

          8  for you, you should ask them for it.

          9                 And it will also be interesting to

         10  see how many of these owner-occupied units are

         11  conventional, how many are co-op and how many are

         12  condo. This could help greatly to understand what

         13  the change is in the housing stock and especially

         14  the affordable housing stock in the City. Thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         16                 Before the next person goes ahead

         17  with testimony, I wanted to acknowledge the presence

         18  of former City Council Member Stanley Michels, who

         19  is here with us. And I also was just now informed

         20  that former Council Member Bob Dryfoos has passed

         21  away this morning, so I just wanted that to be made

         22  public.

         23                 Would the next person on the panel

         24  proceed.

         25                 MR. BACH: My name is Victor Bach. I'm
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          2  with Community Service Society. It's the HVS that

          3  brings us together today, and I'm one of the many

          4  policy analysts who regularly use and rely on the

          5  HVS dataset. It's an invaluable resource to our

          6  City, providing important demographic data and

          7  detailed housing data every three years. There's no

          8  comparison in any other major City in the country.

          9                 We are, at CSS we were becoming

         10  concerned about a year and a half ago about

         11  indications of rising housing hardship among

         12  low-income renters, and we have lauded the Mayor's

         13  affordable housing plans, but I think that concerns

         14  pointed to the stresses that existing low-income

         15  renters have in maintaining and staying in their

         16  apartments as is. We used HVS to track rent burdens

         17  over time from 1993 to 2002, and the results were

         18  alarming. An increase from 55 to 65 percent of

         19  low-income renters who were paying at least half of

         20  their incomes on rent.

         21                 And we are very concerned, the

         22  Council didn't have enough time to spend on it in

         23  the questioning previous, we're very concerned about

         24  the indications in 2005 of even greater rent burdens

         25  than we had in 2002.
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          2                 And the stresses among low-income

          3  renters in making ends meet really needs important

          4  Council attention.

          5                 As an analyst, I want to comment

          6  specifically on the changes in the HVS that were

          7  described as technical in the previous testimony.

          8  Those changes are not just technical, they're

          9  substantive. And I'm particularly concerned about

         10  lumping, if I may finish, I'm particularly concerned

         11  about lumping HUD-regulated units along with

         12  rent-regulated units. The HUD-subsidized stock is a

         13  critical affordable housing resource at great risk

         14  due to buy-outs, foreclosures and the like, and if

         15  analysts can take a look at that particular stock,

         16  then in 2005 we have less information in HVS than we

         17  had before.

         18                 So, I would urge the Council to take

         19  two steps. One, call on HPD to see that the raw

         20  census data, apparently HPD can get the data

         21  revised, to see that the raw census data is recoded

         22  in order to retain the distinction between

         23  HUD-subsidized units and rent stabilized units. I'm

         24  not certain that can't be done. I think it can.

         25                 Secondly, I would urge the Council to
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          2  urge HPD to set up and consult with a User Advisory

          3  Committee before it decides on changes in the HVS.

          4  We learn about them too late. There may be good

          5  reason, but we don't know what the reasons are. The

          6  data are much too important to be decided on

          7  unilaterally without user consultation. We would

          8  urge that such a Committee be set up to ensure that

          9  the resulting HVS data is of maximal use to the

         10  concerned public. Thank you.

         11                 MR. COLLINS: Good morning, and thank

         12  you for this opportunity to speak.

         13                 My name is Timothy Collins. I served

         14  as Executive Director of the Council for New York

         15  City Rent Guidelines Board for seven years.

         16                 The resolutions before the Council

         17  address the City's most important housing

         18  affordability programs, rent stabilization and rent

         19  control.

         20                 You have before you a summary of

         21  findings from the 2005 Housing and Vacancy Survey.

         22  The central purpose of the survey is to determine if

         23  New York City continues to experience a housing

         24  emergency, justifying a continuation of rent and

         25  eviction protections.
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          2                 New York City no longer has a housing

          3  emergency. New York City has a housing crisis.

          4  Technically the rent regulation laws require finding

          5  that the vacancy rates remain below five percent in

          6  order to continue a declaration of emergency. The

          7  HVS summary findings indicate that the current

          8  vacancy rate is close to three percent, but the

          9  inquiry should not stop here.

         10                 The HVS and various other data

         11  sources demonstrate just how deep the City's housing

         12  crisis has become. Vacancy rates can be deceptive,

         13  and the three percent rate is actually far worse

         14  than it seems.

         15                 During the great depression, the City

         16  experienced historically high vacancy rates but

         17  suffered from mass evictions, rent strikes and

         18  severe housing affordability problems.

         19                 In 1946, the joint legislative

         20  committee to recodify the multiple dwelling law

         21  observed that the City's housing shortage began to

         22  reappear as early as 1936, but the shortage was

         23  concealed because so many families had been forced

         24  to double up.

         25                 Overcrowding, defined as one person
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          2  per room, has risen from a low of six percent in

          3  1981, to over 11 percent by 2002. We are, therefore,

          4  witnessing more and more New Yorkers squeezed into

          5  fewer units, largely because most of the three

          6  percent of the housing stock that is vacant is

          7  simply too expensive for working families.

          8                 According to Table 6 in the report

          9  before you, the vacancy rate for units renting for

         10  less than $800 ranges from 1.38 percent to 2.3

         11  percent.

         12                 This is clear evidence that the

         13  market for affordable units is not only extremely

         14  tight, it is virtually closed.

         15                 By way of comparison, according to

         16  the US Census Bureau, for the 75 largest urban areas

         17  nationwide, vacant rates were over 9.7 percent in

         18  2005.

         19                 Beyond vacancy rates there are

         20  several other indicators.

         21                 Beyond vacancy rates, there are

         22  several other indicators which clearly demonstrate

         23  that we have moved from a housing emergency into a

         24  housing crisis.

         25                 Population and housing supply are the
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          2  basic determinants of a housing shortage. Between

          3  1990 and 2005 the City's population grew by about 15

          4  percent. During the same period, the City's housing

          5  stock grew by less than ten percent.

          6                 This housing shortfall is compounded

          7  by other economic and policy developments to create

          8  the kind of perfect storm which led to the

          9  affordability crisis we are presently experiencing.

         10                 According to Section C2 of the

         11  selected findings prepared by HPD, the median income

         12  for renter housholds fell by 5.6 percent after

         13  adjusting for inflation, between 2001 and 2004.

         14                 According to Section D 2 of the

         15  findings after adjusting for inflation from 2002 to

         16  2005, tenants experienced an 8.7 percent increase in

         17  rent in real dollars. The math is simple. Income has

         18  fallen substantially in real terms, rents have

         19  continued to climb, adding to the economic distress

         20  of hundreds of thousands of New York City

         21  households.

         22                 According to the US Census Bureau,

         23  New York City now ranks 11th in a nationwide survey

         24  of housing costs, and yet it is 37th in median

         25  income.
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          2                 In 1970, the average tenant household

          3  paid 20 percent of their income in rent, today they

          4  pay over 31 percent. The highest rent burdens ever

          5  recorded. In 1981, 22 percent of households spent in

          6  excess of 50 percent of their income on rent. Today

          7  nearly 29 percent of all tenant households devote

          8  more than 50 percent of their income towards rent.

          9  Again, the highest level ever recorded.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: If you could

         11  please sum up.

         12                 MR. COLLINS: Last year over 38,000

         13  City residents were forced to stay in City shelters

         14  which contained a kind of record homeless levels.

         15  Those forced into shelters included nearly 9,000

         16  families with over 15,000 children. Construction of

         17  public housing has come to a virtual standstill. The

         18  Section 8 subsidy program faces further reductions.

         19  Waiting lists for subsidized housing are hopelessly

         20  long, in some cases up to ten years. But the bad

         21  news doesn't end there.

         22                 Rent regulation remains the City's

         23  most important housing affordability program.

         24                 In recent years we have witnessed the

         25  most deliberate dismantling of the City's rent and
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          2  eviction protections by State legislators through

          3  executive action. This process has been engineered

          4  by a highly influential real estate lobby and fueled

          5  by millions of dollars of campaign contributions to

          6  Upstate legislators who lack a single rent-regulated

          7  constituent in their districts.

          8                 The Council now has before it State

          9  Resolution 1 calling for a repeal of the Urstadt

         10  Law, and restoration of Home Rule over local rent

         11  and eviction protections.

         12                 The failure to act and to act

         13  vigorously has a two-fold consequence. First,

         14  decades of state control over City rent protections

         15  has worsened and will continue to add to the City's

         16  housing affordability crisis.

         17                 Second, the disconnect between the

         18  power over rent regulations and accountability to

         19  those protected by them has fostered a form of

         20  political corruption that is inexcusable in a state

         21  that claims democratic values.

         22                 I addressed the issue of Home Rule

         23  last May when the City Council had before it State

         24  Legislation Resolution No. 36. What follows in my

         25  printed remarks is a summary of that testimony which
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          2  I won't go over now, but I do want to very quickly

          3  highlight the five points of how the City is losing

          4  affordable housing.

          5                 First, high-rent vacancy and

          6  high-income decontrol. No question that the City has

          7  lost tens of thousands of units through high-rent

          8  vacancy and high-income regulation, according to the

          9  Rent Guidelines Board, between 1994 and 2004, at

         10  least 44,778 units were lost because of these

         11  changes in a law engineered by the State

         12  Legislature, and that is a floor, that's a minimum

         13  amount. There are others that were lost but they

         14  don't have recorded information on it.

         15                 Second, vacancy increases. What used

         16  to be controlled by the Rent Guidelines Board and

         17  was typically a five or ten percent increase upon

         18  vacancy is now typically a 20 percent or more

         19  increase upon vacancy.

         20                 Third, preferential rents. If there

         21  were arrangements made between tenants and owners to

         22  charge a rent that's lower than the legal regulated

         23  rent, tenants used to be protected by that with

         24  recurring renewal leases. That was lifted in an 11th

         25  hour deal in Albany that nobody had a chance to
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          2  really comment on.

          3                 Fourth, and very importantly, the

          4  four-year rule, if a landlord overcharged a tenant,

          5  overcharges a tenant for more than four years, the

          6  rent becomes legal. It's as if you could rob the

          7  bank, and if you do it long enough, it's legal to

          8  continue doing it.

          9                 Fifth, is a whole host, and the devil

         10  here is in the details, of Administrative Code

         11  changes, including service reduction rules, capital

         12  improvement rules, and rules governing transition

         13  from owner's supply to individually metered

         14  electricity, all which favored owners.

         15                 Despite growing hardship to tenants

         16  and record profits to owners, for over 20 years

         17  tenants have not received a single significant new

         18  form of protection and they have lost ground in

         19  several areas discussed.

         20                 And I point out very briefly, in

         21  1967, the average owner in the City was able to keep

         22  about 38 cents of every dollar of rent collected. In

         23  1989, that was the same figure. Today it's the same

         24  figure. And between 1999 and 2001 they experienced a

         25  19 percent income, increase in income in

                                                            101

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  inflation-adjusted terms. Today they've held their

          3  own, despite the aging of the housing stock. Owners

          4  have done very well under the system, and they're

          5  doing better than ever. Tenants have lost ground,

          6  they've lost it dramatically, and by all key

          7  indicators we are now in a housing crisis.

          8                 There is no principled reason to

          9  oppose Home Rule. The City has to get control over

         10  this program, and do it quickly and do it

         11  vigorously.

         12                 Thank you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Do my colleagues

         14  have any questions for the panel?

         15                 Council Member Mendez.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I want to

         17  thank everyone for testifying, but my question is

         18  for Barbara Elstein Katz, on this table that we've

         19  received, and if you can explain to us the

         20  difference between the renter housing stock and the

         21  owner housing stock on this table.

         22                 MS. ELSTEIN KATZ: Okay, can you hear

         23  me? Towards the bottom of the chart there is a

         24  column called Total Owner. The numbers after that

         25  are the owners' stock. In 2002, there were 999,000
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          2  units that were of all owners' stock, either

          3  occupied or vacant for sale. And in 2005 there were

          4  1,031,780, an increase of almost 30,000 units.

          5                 You would have to believe that there

          6  were 33,000 units of new stock, owners stock built

          7  in the City in that time period, to think that there

          8  wasn't some influx into the owners stock from rent

          9  stabilized and rent-controlled stock. And I don't

         10  believe that there have been anything like that in

         11  construction, although it would be nice if we could

         12  get that kind of construction.

         13                 The renter columns, which are above,

         14  or the renter rows, which are above, show that in

         15  contrast to the owner stock, which went up more than

         16  three percent over 33,000 units, the renters stock

         17  went up less than 8,000 units, less than one-half of

         18  one percent.

         19                 So, while there has been a growth in

         20  overall units in the City, it really has not

         21  benefitted renters, and in particular it hasn't

         22  benefitted low-income renters. The stock available

         23  to them at levels they can afford is going down and

         24  down and down.

         25                 While the Administration is to be
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          2  lauded for attempting to add for the stock, I submit

          3  that they ought to be more vocal about the need to

          4  do more than they are doing, and if the City

          5  couldn't possibly come up with money to do it, they

          6  ought to be asking for money from the State and

          7  particularly the federal government.

          8                 I wish we had a Mayor who would point

          9  out how much federal money is needed to address this

         10  extremely serious problem.

         11                 Is there a specific question you

         12  wanted to ask about it?

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: No, you

         14  answered my question. Thank you.

         15                 MS. ELSTEIN KATZ: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Council Member

         17  Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you,

         19  also, for many years of hard work in all of your

         20  cases.

         21                 My question is, and I asked, but I

         22  don't think I got a great answer, the issue of

         23  triggers for subtraction or addition of rent

         24  stabilized or control, there are many triggers. The

         25  ones that I am most familiar with are the vacancy
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          2  decontrol. It used to be co-op, now condo

          3  conversions, and, of course, personal use. And what

          4  I'm wondering is, in your estimation how, if at all,

          5  the HVS looks at these issues. These are new issues

          6  to a certain extent because of the law. So, I'm just

          7  wondering, are these included in a way that you

          8  think they should be?

          9                 MS. ELSTEIN KATZ: Well, there are

         10  questions asked in the HVS which enable us to

         11  estimate the loss to co-op conversion. In fact, used

         12  old data, because it was written in 2003, but I have

         13  some real estimates about the loss.

         14                 In a building which becomes a co-op,

         15  a rent-regulated tenant, a unit is regulated, at

         16  least in a non-eviction plan, which is what they

         17  used to be, the unit stays rent regulated until the

         18  tenant vacates the unit. Then the owner can either

         19  sell the unit, the owner or sponsor can either sell

         20  the unit or rerent it to somebody but not at a

         21  regulated rent.

         22                 I used to call a lot of these fake

         23  conversions, or fake co-ops.

         24                 In Manhattan they generally were sold

         25  after the tenant moved out, but in the rest of the
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          2  City they weren't sold, they were rerented. It's

          3  only now that the market has become so hot outside

          4  of Manhattan that a lot of these buildings are the

          5  non-regulated units actually being sold.

          6                 But you can tell, we ask -- the

          7  Housing and Vacancy Survey asks the tenant if the

          8  building is a co-op. So, most people know whether

          9  the building is a co-op or not, and we ask them when

         10  they moved in, and did they move in before or after

         11  the co-op conversion, and from that we can tell how

         12  many units are regulated or not regulated in a co-op

         13  building.

         14                 The question of personal use is never

         15  asked. We have no way of knowing that.

         16                 MR. COLLINS: On the issue of personal

         17  use, because I think it's become sort of a

         18  mini-epidemic, especially in Manhattan, one would

         19  think that if an owner wants a unit for personal

         20  use, it's not going to have a big impact on the

         21  stock, and that's probably true. But what's

         22  happened, and we've seen instances where a single

         23  owner will take over a building with ten or 12, in

         24  some cases 20 units, and claim to use the entire

         25  building for their personal use, I don't think the
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          2  law was intended to facilitate that kind of loss of

          3  housing units. I can understand and I support the

          4  notion that an owner ought to be able to live in

          5  their own building, and that personal use may be

          6  something that is a positive policy if it's used

          7  reasonably and judiciously.

          8                 I believe that the City Council has

          9  the power to stop the epidemic already without

         10  running into Urstadt problems. I think if you take a

         11  building and you convert it from say 15 units to a

         12  single unit and thereby lose that much affordable

         13  housing, it becomes a zoning and a housing issue

         14  that the City can address, and I would be happy to

         15  address that with the City Council. Perhaps we can

         16  have a conversation about that and work up some law

         17  that allows owners reasonable protections, but stops

         18  that kind of hemorrhaging, and there have been, I

         19  would imagine, hundreds of thousands of units that

         20  have been lost in that fashion.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: The other

         22  quick question I have, Tim, is on the tax

         23  abatements. The Commissioner mentioned that 421-A,

         24  C, J-51 are included in terms of the future rent

         25  stabilization, adding to what seems like a slight
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          2  net gain. Do you agree with that? Obviously it's a

          3  temporary.

          4                 MR. COLLINS: Well, yes, it's kind of

          5  an illusory gain. First of all, 421-A comes in at

          6  basically at market rents, and it's limited in time,

          7  and the 421-A program is certainly a laudable

          8  program, it gives people incentive to build new

          9  housing.

         10                 But the problem is, it's not so much

         11  the new housing that's come on board. And I

         12  certainly support and laud the Mayor's efforts for,

         13  you know, the various housing initiatives that the

         14  Mayor has launched, and I think the Mayor is

         15  concerned about affordable housing.

         16                 What's happening is we're losing the

         17  stock that is the most affordable at the bottom

         18  where owners are making enough money. Abandonment

         19  has virtually disappeared in this City. There is a

         20  small group of housing that loses money, but it

         21  usually has to do with either people not being able

         22  to afford the rents to begin with, or it has to do

         23  with unusual renovations going on and long-term

         24  vacancies.

         25                 We're not seeing the loss of housing.
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          2  Owners can get very generous increases under the

          3  existing system. There is no reason to remove these

          4  units from the stock the way the State is doing it.

          5                 You've got to stop this. You've got

          6  to stand up, use whatever powers you have, convince

          7  the Mayor that this is one of the most important

          8  issues facing the City today and do something about

          9  it.

         10                 I know there was an effort undertaken

         11  last year. I'm happy with the fact we see the first

         12  resolution of the year coming out, it's addressing

         13  this issue. I'd like to see something happen with

         14  it. I don't think that the people up in Albany can

         15  save face, and, you know, face the people of New

         16  York City and say that there is anything supporting

         17  their control of rent regulation, other than

         18  corruption.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much. Thank you.

         21                 MR. COLLINS: Okay.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, I'd like to

         23  thank the panel for their testimony, and we look

         24  forward to working with you on all those issues, as

         25  well.
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          2                 MR. COLLINS: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: The next panel

          4  will be Ms. Marcia Magill, representing herself. Mr.

          5  Harvey Epstein from the Housing Conservation

          6  Coordinators. Margaret Chin, from the Asian

          7  Americans for the Equality. And John Stanley,

          8  Tenants and Neighbors, or is that just Tenants?

          9                 Would you please come forward.

         10                 And the next panel on deck will be

         11  Mr. Andrew Hoffman from CHIP. Jack Freund. And

         12  Mitchell Posilkin, from the Rent Stabilization

         13  Association. And please forgive me if I have

         14  misprounced any of the names.

         15                 MS. MAGILL: Good afternoon. My name

         16  is Marcia Magill. I'm retired, senior, obviously, I

         17  have no pension, and without my rent stabilized

         18  apartment, I could not live in this City that I

         19  love. I suspect that there are a lot of seniors in

         20  my situation, and I think it's really gotten out of

         21  hand.

         22                 Across the street from where I live,

         23  a 60-story condo has just been built. The studio

         24  apartments are starting at $700,000 and the

         25  one-bedrooms are a million-two. And I think it would
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          2  be absolutely appalling to see the middle class of

          3  New York City have to leave and turn it over to the

          4  very rich or the very poor, which would indeed be a

          5  sad situation.

          6                 I also believe firmly that rent

          7  stabilization laws should in the City's hands and

          8  not in Joseph Bruno's in Albany who has -- he does

          9  not live here, he does not understand the situation,

         10  and he's been an opponent of these laws for years.

         11                 I'm not exactly sure why, but that's

         12  neither here nor there.

         13                 So, we need to keep the middle class

         14  in New York. We need to keep rent stabilized

         15  apartments and we need to make our own decisions

         16  because we live here and we contribute. And I also

         17  believe again, that senior citizens are majority

         18  owners of rent-stabilized apartments, and Mr. Bruno

         19  needs to know that they vote, seniors vote, and this

         20  is very important.

         21                 MS. CHIN: Good morning, Chairman

         22  Dilan and Committee member. My name is Margaret

         23  Chin. I'm the Deputy Executive Director of Asian

         24  Americans for Equality. And I'm here today to really

         25  put a human face. You know, the tenants that we work
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          2  with in our office in Chinatown, Lower East Side,

          3  and in Queens, to say why it's so important to

          4  extend rent regulation, but also to strengthen it.

          5                 Every day a tenant comes into our

          6  offices with all kinds of tenant issues, and the

          7  landlords are being very aggressive in trying to get

          8  rid of these tenants.

          9                 Now, the Housing Vacancy Survey did

         10  not really highlight the loss of the rent control

         11  unit, the units that are really for low-income

         12  families. And what we are seeing in our community is

         13  that once those units are lost, the rent goes up,

         14  you know, 1,500, 2,000 and the people in the

         15  community cannot afford to live in it.

         16                 But meanwhile, day-to-day, tenants

         17  are suffering. When they talk about dilapidated,

         18  what about people who are living right now with no

         19  heat and hot water, rat, roaches, you know, it's a

         20  common thing. A lot of the building has no

         21  maintenance service, there's no such thing as a

         22  super anymore, you know, to clean the hallways. You

         23  don't find that anymore but they're paying high

         24  rent.

         25                 Like some of the tenants that we
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          2  brought today, I mean, they're paying 800 something

          3  dollars rent a month. So, the heat doesn't come on

          4  all the time, a little bit at night, a little bit in

          5  the morning, and during the day is not there.

          6                 Another example is a building that we

          7  work with on Essex Street, where they endure no

          8  heat, hot water and gas service for three months.

          9                 It's because of rent regulation that

         10  these tenants were able to help them go to court and

         11  get a rent reduction and get the services back on.

         12  But then next, the landlord want to get rid of them,

         13  want to vacate the building, want to tear the

         14  building down because it's dangerous.

         15                 And they are able to get that kind of

         16  permit because of the Administrative Code from DHCR.

         17  They make it so easy for landlord to get those

         18  permits.

         19                 But because of rent regulation, we're

         20  able to help these tenants beat it back (sic). So,

         21  now the landlord has to fix the building, and the

         22  way he does it, he has to relocate these tenants to

         23  the units that he has renovated. So, that's a

         24  victory because of rent regulation.

         25                 So, I think that is really important,
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          2  and you're doing a great job here. And the tenants

          3  are looking toward you, the leaders of our City, to

          4  make sure they are protected from unscrupulous

          5  landlords in our community.

          6                 Thank you.

          7                 MR. STANLEY: I am John Stanley. I was

          8  born here in New York in 1921. First of all, let me

          9  say, repeal the Urstadt Law. That's important.

         10  Retain rent control. That's important.

         11                 Just before the heavy snow storm the

         12  other week, I walked east on 13th Street between

         13  Fifth and University Place, and there were four

         14  homeless people sleeping on the sidewalk, on sheets

         15  of cardboard. It is depraved for those who are

         16  running the City to permit this to exist.

         17                 It was said a little while ago that

         18  the small owners are having a hard time with paying

         19  their taxes. There's a reason for this. The taxes

         20  are too high because the income taxes on the

         21  billionaires are too low.

         22                 With the gang of thieves and

         23  fallacies that we have running the country from

         24  Washington, this can only get worse because they

         25  really have a contempt for and a hatred of human
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          2  beings, or they wouldn't force us to live in such

          3  miserable conditions.

          4                 Therefore, we must here in New York

          5  seize the power in order to run our lives better, or

          6  we are being responsible for the death of people not

          7  only in Afghanistan, in Iraq, but here in New York

          8  where we have people sleeping on the street in the

          9  snow.

         10                 This cannot continue because it is a

         11  disgrace, and those of you who have presumed to run

         12  for office and to take your portion of power, must

         13  use your energy to do away with this monstrous and

         14  depraved situation.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 MR. EPSTEIN: Thank you, Chairman

         17  Martin Dilan and Chairwoman Baez for the opportunity

         18  to speak to you today. My name is Harvey Epstein,

         19  I'm the Associate Director and Managing Attorney of

         20  Housing Conservation Coordinators.

         21                 I want to give a special thanks to my

         22  Councilwoman Rosie Mendez, for introducing this

         23  legislation before you today. I know she will

         24  represent my community well on these housing issues.

         25                 And I want to not reiterate what
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          2  other members of the public have said in reference

          3  to the crisis of affordable housing. As my

          4  organization, we represent thousands of individuals

          5  who come into our office needing legal assistance,

          6  it's clear that there's a crisis of affordable

          7  housing, but what Commissioner Donovan told you

          8  earlier was he gave you an opportunity. He gave you

          9  an opportunity to help us improve the situation of

         10  the housing crisis.

         11                 He outlined two of those

         12  opportunities. One he said was that they were

         13  looking at reforming 421-A, the tax abatement

         14  program for new construction. He said we have a

         15  commission, we have a study, we're concerned about

         16  it, we think we're not doing as well as we can.

         17                 What he's saying is the City is

         18  giving away money to developers without creating

         19  enough affordable housing. He said to you, the

         20  Council members, we need to do better. And I hope

         21  that you take on that challenge wisely, that you

         22  work on expanding the exclusions for 421-A, that we

         23  get more affordable housing around this City, that

         24  you maybe increase the number of affordable housing

         25  units from that program. Because that's an
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          2  opportunity that the Mayor is looking at and you, as

          3  a strong Council, need to look at that as well.

          4                 The second thing he talked about was

          5  in recent rezonings he talked about expanding

          6  anti-harassment provisions. And I want to say, in

          7  the Hudson Yards rezoning, even though that those

          8  provisions were expanded, that was not an

          9  administrative support. It was Council Member

         10  Christine Quinn, community activist Council Member

         11  Gale Brewer, our organization, who really pushed

         12  those efforts forward. They have said to you they

         13  believe those provisions work.

         14                 If those provisions work, when

         15  rezonings happen throughout the City and numerous

         16  rezonings are coming down the pike, I would

         17  encourage you, I would implore you to use those as

         18  opportunities to protect existing rent stabilized

         19  tenants, to stop the harassment that goes on in my

         20  neighborhood, the Lower East Side, and all over the

         21  City, including where I work in Hell's Kitchen and

         22  Clinton.

         23                 I would encourage you to think about

         24  that, every time that happens. Those are

         25  opportunities that we should not miss. Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. And I

          3  just would like to mention that I personally am also

          4  interested in the Mayor's proposed changes to the

          5  421-A plan, and hopefully at the appropriate time in

          6  the near future, this Committee can conduct some

          7  oversight hearings on the proposed changes.

          8                 Do any of my colleagues have

          9  questions for this panel?

         10                 MR. EPSTEIN: I would just say that

         11  there are large communities who care about modifying

         12  421-A, and you can call on all of us to use as

         13  resources to help you in modifying 421-A. I would

         14  encourage you to do that.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, and I

         17  appreciate the offer.

         18                 The next panel, would the next panel

         19  please come forward.

         20                 And the panel following will be Ms.

         21  Judith Goldiner from The Legal Aid Society, Ms.

         22  Jenny Laurie, the Met Council on the Hungry --

         23  Housing, sorry. I'm thinking about lunch. Mr. George

         24  Quinto is the next panel, and Mr. J.V. Palmer. That

         25  will be the panel following this one.
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          2                 Gentlemen, welcome, and you can

          3  proceed in any way that you like.

          4                 MR. FREUND: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

          5  For the record, my name is Jack Freund. I'm

          6  Executive Vice President of the Rent Stabilization

          7  Association. To my far left is Mitchell Posilkin,

          8  Counsel to the organization.

          9                 As the Chairman indicated at the

         10  beginning of this session, everybody understands

         11  that the rent laws will be extended essentially as

         12  is, and I think that happens under the mistaken

         13  assumption that the rent laws are a necessary and

         14  official element of this City's housing market.

         15                 We'd like to take this opportunity to

         16  examine that assumption and to point out that the

         17  goal of more affordable housing would be best served

         18  by expediting the phase-out of the current system of

         19  rent regulations.

         20                 It is true that the rent laws have

         21  become somewhat less stringent since 1993, and there

         22  were warnings of catastrophic consequences from

         23  that. But as we have seen from the most recent HVS,

         24  the City's housing market has never been stronger,

         25  healthier, or more vibrant. We have more housing
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          2  units, both rental and ownership. More of that

          3  housing is available as vacancy rates increased

          4  across the board, and most significant, the rental

          5  housing market has never been in better condition,

          6  as property owners have poured increased revenue

          7  back into building and maintenance improvements.

          8                 Most surprising, perhaps, is that the

          9  number of rent stabilized housing units have

         10  increased as developers and owners harness the

         11  strength of the market to create even more housing

         12  units.

         13                 It is not coincidental that the

         14  growth and improvement of the housing market has

         15  been accompanying by a loosening of rent

         16  regulations.

         17                 Let me just say, also, that our

         18  opposition to rent regulations are not based simply

         19  on the limitation placed on rent increases. Rent

         20  laws impose a regulatory system which confers upon

         21  tenants a vast array of rights and impose on

         22  property owners an onerous set of responsibilities.

         23                 The rent law -- and these are not the

         24  only regulatory structures under which owners work.

         25  Owners are charged with advancing a broad laudable
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          2  range of societal goals, including water

          3  conservation, recycling, lead paint and asbestos

          4  abatement, to mention a few. The costs and

          5  liabilities of these regulations fall squarely and

          6  solely on the shoulders of the City's property

          7  owners. And while these burdens create tangible

          8  social benefits, please be aware that the cost of

          9  providing these benefits may be passed on to tenants

         10  and should be, in fact, if the laws are working

         11  properly, in the form of higher rents.

         12                 And this may threaten the

         13  affordability of housing for the most vulnerable, so

         14  there are costs associated with these benefits.

         15                 Let us say, we know that the rent

         16  laws have been around for more than 60 years. They

         17  were imposed during a war-time housing emergency.

         18  Clearly, we don't have such a housing emergency now.

         19  We do have a vacancy rate. We do have a vacancy

         20  rate. We do have a vacancy rate below five percent,

         21  but that is a necessary, but not a sufficient

         22  condition for extending rent regulations in the

         23  broader context of a housing market that is as

         24  strong and vibrant as the current market is.

         25                 The extension of the City's rent laws
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          2  has become a routine matter, barely worth a second

          3  thought. Even though the rent regulatory system

          4  benefits the rich much more than the poor, has

          5  destroyed much more housing than it has ever

          6  created, and has turned the normally mutually

          7  beneficial relationship between landlord and tenant

          8  into a state of war. The rent laws are arcane and

          9  antiquated maze, which has become counterproductive

         10  to the City's goal of producing more affordable

         11  housing.

         12                 It is a travesty to cling cling to

         13  emergency measures enacted more than 50 years ago,

         14  when the current housing market is as strong and

         15  vibrant as it now is.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 MR. HOFFMAN: My name is Andrew

         18  Hoffman. I'm the Chairman of the Community Housing

         19  Improvement Program, a property owner trade

         20  association, and the owner and operator of rental

         21  housing in New York. CHIP is opposed to the

         22  introductory -- Intros 118 and Reso 79. We're

         23  opposed because we believe the Council should

         24  closely examine the long-term health of the private

         25  housing sect, and carefully contemplate housing
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          2  policies that will provide for the greatest number

          3  of affordable units.

          4                 It's no secret, it's no -- you know,

          5  everybody knows that housing values have increased

          6  dramatically, but they really only increased if you

          7  intend to sell your units. For us in the rent

          8  regulated market, the only real win that we see is

          9  cashing out and selling our units, which we all know

         10  will become condos.

         11                 Economists are virtually unanimous in

         12  their conclusion that rent controls are destructive.

         13  The economic reasons are straight forward. One

         14  effective government oversight is to retard

         15  investment in new residential units.

         16                 Imagine if we had $5 million to

         17  invest, and you placed these funds in any industry

         18  that you like. Most businesses governments will

         19  place limited controls and they'll tax you, but if

         20  you entrust your money to rental housing, you must

         21  pass one additional hurdle, the Rent Control

         22  Authority with its hearings, red tapes and rent

         23  ceilings.

         24                 Under these conditions it's any

         25  wonder that you'll build or purchase rental housing.
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          2                 When one looks at the HVS and the

          3  accompanying vacancy rate, you have to laugh. Of

          4  course the rate is low. In an overly regulated

          5  market, it has to be low. It's no accident that

          6  unregulated areas such as commercial properties have

          7  a healthy vacancy rate and only slowly increasing

          8  rental rates. While the residential market suffers

          9  from a virtually zero vacancy rate and skyrocketing

         10  prices in the uncontrolled sector.

         11                 Although many rent control ordinance

         12  exempt new housings from coverage, investors are too

         13  cautious, or perhaps too smart to put their faith in

         14  rental housing.

         15                 Numerous times over the past decade

         16  the laws that were placed into effect to ease some

         17  of these controls were turned around against us.

         18                 In the early seventies when vacancy

         19  decontrol was changed, and recently in 2003 when

         20  Intro. 523 was introduced to change the regulations

         21  enacted for the Mitchell-Lama property.

         22                 Because of rent regulation, tenants

         23  win the apartment lottery. Tenants in some of the

         24  nicest neighborhoods in New York City pay a

         25  scandalously small fraction of the market price of
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          2  their apartments, allowing them to buy vacation

          3  homes in the Hamptons or Florida.

          4                 Rent controls cause underutilized

          5  apartments. Empty nesters have gigantic apartments,

          6  using only two or three rooms. Without rent

          7  controls, they could go to smaller accommodations.

          8                 These practices further exacerbate

          9  the housing crisis. Repeal of rent control would

         10  free up thousands of rooms very quickly.

         11                 If the government really had the best

         12  interest of tenants at heart, and was for some

         13  reason determined to employ controls, they should do

         14  the very opposite. They should instead control every

         15  other goods and services available making all items

         16  affordable.

         17                 The surest way to encourage private

         18  investment is to signal investors that housing will

         19  be safe from rent control. Rent regulation depresses

         20  property values, reduces revenue to the City, and

         21  causes the City to rely more on State funding.

         22                 Therefore, rent regulation is an

         23  appropriate issue for State concern.

         24                 The surest way to eliminate the

         25  possibility of rent control will be an amendment to
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          2  the State Constitution that forbids it.

          3                 It may seem paradoxical to many

          4  people, but the best way to help tenants is to grant

          5  economic freedom to landlords. It's true, it's time

          6  to change the rules. Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          8                 Do my colleagues have any questions

          9  for this panel?

         10                 Council Member Mendez.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: I'm sorry, I

         12  didn't catch your name, from the Rent Stabilization

         13  Association?

         14                 MR. FREUND: It's Jack Freund.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. Mr.

         16  Freund, you said that rent regulations were

         17  instituted during wartime; did you read the New York

         18  Times about a month or so ago where we have the

         19  highest homeless rate since World War II? Have you

         20  read that article in the New York Times.

         21                 MR. FREUND: No, I missed that

         22  article. There is no question that there is -- let

         23  me just address the issue you're raising, and that

         24  is really, again you're raising the affordability

         25  issue for some segment of the population in New York
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          2  City, and that is the low-income population, many of

          3  whom are recent immigrants to this City, obviously

          4  with a very low income you can't afford an apartment

          5  without subsidy in New York City.

          6                 Our point, however, is that is not a

          7  rent issue. That is an income issue, and it is

          8  government's responsibility and it's something that

          9  you call on the private sector to resolve.

         10                 So, we can --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Well,

         12  government can dictate to the private sector to

         13  resolve the problem that government can't resolve by

         14  itself. It's what we did years ago by instituting

         15  rent regulations.

         16                 MR. FREUND: Well, we ended up with a

         17  disaster, the rent regulations that were instituted

         18  during World War II which permitted no increases

         19  essentially for over 30 years resulted in the

         20  devastation of the City's housing market in the

         21  seventies and eighties --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: It's been for

         23  decades and now we see a rising rate of

         24  homelessness. You don't believe that there is a link

         25  between deregulation and the rise in homelessness?
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          2                 MR. FREUND: Clearly there is no link

          3  between deregulation and homelessness.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Any other members?

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 Would the next panel please come

          9  forward? I will restate the names again. J.V.

         10  Palmer, George Quinto, Jenny Laurie and Judith

         11  Goldiner.

         12                 They will be followed by Janet

         13  Dunson, Francine Brewer, Doris Schreiber, and Tom,

         14  and excuse me Tom if I -- Siracuse.

         15                 It appears that only two of you

         16  showed. Can I just have your names and then we'll

         17  call the next two to join you.

         18                 MS. LAURIE: Sure. My name is Jenny

         19  Laurie, I'm from the Met Council on Housing.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. And you,

         21  sir?

         22                 MR. QUINTO: George Quinto.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, so then I

         24  would ask Hector Rivera and Marc Landis to join this

         25  panel.
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          2                 All right, so then Just Hector Rivera

          3  will join this panel. I'm informed that Mr. Siracuse

          4  is here and he will join this panel.

          5                 Why don't you begin in any order you

          6  wish.

          7                 MS. LAURIE: I feel like I'm following

          8  a really strong comedy act, and I don't quite know

          9  how to respond.

         10                 My name is Jenny Laurie. I work for

         11  the Met Council on Housing, which is a tenants

         12  rights organization. It's been in existence since

         13  the late fifties.

         14                 We organize tenant associations and

         15  counsel tenants through a hot line and through

         16  meetings and clinics that we run.

         17                 Our experience has been quite

         18  different from Jack Freund's, that there is a

         19  housing crisis in New York, and that rent

         20  stabilization and the rent control laws prevent it

         21  from getting worse, and that there are ways that the

         22  City Council could strengthen the protections if it

         23  had Home Rule.

         24                 Our experience is that more and more

         25  tenants are calling us up from outside of core
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          2  Manhattan, who are in hold-over proceedings, because

          3  made up things, you know, they have a country house,

          4  which they don't. They couldn't even afford to pay

          5  their own rent, much less have a country house. That

          6  they have a dog, that they have a washing machine,

          7  in numbers that we've never seen before. Tenants are

          8  calling us up also that landlords are harassing them

          9  to get out of their lower rent rent-regulated

         10  apartment.

         11                 I guess I agree with the RSA in that

         12  the rent regulation system creates an animosity

         13  between the tenants and the landlords, and it's

         14  obvious that the market creates that. Landlords can

         15  get enormous rents now in the City of New York, and

         16  so they're looking for those high rents even in

         17  neighborhoods where in the past they might have had

         18  apartments vacant for months that they couldn't

         19  rent, they now can demand rents well over 1,000 and

         20  their existing rent-regulated tenants are paying

         21  $800 a month, and of course they want them out.

         22                 Met Council supports the return of

         23  Home Rule to the City Council. We feel that there

         24  are a number of things that the Council could do to

         25  alleviate the housing crisis, if it had Home Rule.
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          2  The Council could extend the Rent Stabilization Law

          3  to cover the soon to be lost Mitchell-Lama, tens of

          4  thousands of units covered by the Mitchell-Lama

          5  Program and the Section 8 program. The City Council

          6  could eradicate the MBR system for rent control

          7  tenants, rent control tenants currently are seniors

          8  living on fixed incomes.

          9                 If you look at the HVS report,

         10  they're paying well over 30 percent of their income

         11  for rent. Their average age in the last survey was

         12  about 70 years of age, they're living on social

         13  security for the most part, and although many of

         14  them have SCRIE, SCRIE doesn't alleviate the rent

         15  problem completely. So, they pay high rent burden,

         16  and they're very vulnerable.

         17                 We could get rid of the entire, we

         18  could fold rent control into rent stabilization and

         19  have one very simple to administer system, if we got

         20  rid of the MBR system.

         21                 In addition, the Council could change

         22  the code enforcement rules, and blend those with the

         23  rent laws in a way, and enforce them in a way that

         24  the DHCR never does. I'm sure all of your

         25  constituent services get calls from tenants who
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          2  called HPD repeatedly, call 3-1-1 repeatedly about

          3  lack of heat, lack of hot water, and they've been

          4  unable to get any response and they live through the

          5  winter without heat and hot water.

          6                 The new HVS shows that there's an

          7  increase in those kinds of problems, even though the

          8  Commissioner testified that overall neighborhood

          9  conditions have improved, and building conditions

         10  improved. In individual apartments, the rate of

         11  dilapidation has increased.

         12                 So, Met Council of course urges

         13  renewal of the rent stabilization and the rent

         14  control law, and thanks the Council for fighting for

         15  Home Rule.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         18                 MR. RIVERA: Good afternoon. My name

         19  is Hector Rivera. Today I am here speaking both as a

         20  community organizer and as a rent stabilized tenant.

         21                 I have lived in the same rent

         22  stabilized apartment in Central Brooklyn for 14

         23  years and have worked as an organizer at the Pratt

         24  Area Community Council for three years.

         25                 I am here today because we need
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          2  strong rent laws and to protect families living in

          3  Central Brooklyn and throughout New York City.

          4                 A lot has happened in my neighborhood

          5  of Bedford Stuyvesant. When I moved in over ten

          6  years ago, it was a community where families could

          7  afford to pay their rent. Now hard-working people in

          8  my neighborhood know that over 50 percent of the

          9  monthly income must go towards rent. Gentrification

         10  is rapidly changing Central Brooklyn. Rents are

         11  rising, incomes remains the same.

         12                 Many families are being forced out or

         13  are desperately holding onto their rent-stabilized

         14  apartments, knowing there is no place else for them

         15  to go.

         16                 Family members must cram into

         17  apartments, creating dangerous and over-crowded

         18  conditions. Residents see luxury buildings flying up

         19  and seeing the income housing diminished.

         20                 A community leader, Zani Samuels

         21  (phonetic) lived a block away from me for many

         22  years. Unfortunately, her building was not rent

         23  stabilized, and when her lease ran out last year,

         24  the landlord demanded a huge rent increase. Zani, a

         25  single mother with three children, was unable to pay
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          2  the increase, and the landlord took her to court.

          3                 The outcome, the family had no other

          4  choice but to move into a shelter. Because she had

          5  no rent protection, she is being forced to raise her

          6  kids at the shelter.

          7                 If we don't commit to renewing and

          8  strengthening the rent laws, the same thing that

          9  happened to Zani could happen to hundreds of

         10  thousands of additional families.

         11                 And even for rent stabilized tenants,

         12  the pressure being placed on them by landlords are

         13  becoming unbearable. The promise of rent hikes after

         14  pushing long-term residents out of their homes have

         15  become too tempting for many landlords to ignore.

         16                 Every day we see the tenants facing

         17  harassments, being pressured to accept buy-outs and

         18  being taken to court, all to get control of the

         19  apartments.

         20                 I feel fortunate to be part of a

         21  community that is dedicated to tenants' rights, but

         22  the stress on households remain even more as tenants

         23  play by the rules.

         24                 For example, I am working with two

         25  senior tenants on Carlton Avenue in a building where

                                                            134

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  the entire top floor has been renovated and remains

          3  vacant.

          4                 Our current tenants live in

          5  unacceptable conditions and are repeatedly in

          6  Housing Court to fight for repairs as they hold onto

          7  their homes.

          8                 In our neighborhoods, we see

          9  buildings like this that are divided and landlords

         10  efforts to push people out of their own homes.

         11                 The rent laws have become even more

         12  essential as landlords seek to convert their

         13  buildings into condominiums. Without protections as

         14  rent-regulated tenants entire buildings will be

         15  empty and hundreds of families in crisis.

         16                 At Pratt we find more and more

         17  tenants need support to hold onto their homes as

         18  their landlords seek to sell apartments for hundreds

         19  of thousands of dollars, prices that are completely

         20  out of the reach for nearly all current residents.

         21                 I am proud to be here today as a rent

         22  stabilized tenant, and to give voice to my neighbors

         23  in Central Brooklyn. I am confident that New York

         24  City can and will extend the current rent laws and

         25  fight to make them stronger.
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          2                 We must fight back to win control of

          3  our rights that we have lost to Albany.

          4                 Housing is a human right. We have the

          5  power to prevent thousands from being pushed into

          6  instability and homelessness.

          7                 We have the responsibility to

          8  recognize the crisis of affordability and unite to

          9  keep our neighborhoods communities where people can

         10  live, work and care for their families without fear.

         11                 We urge you to extend the rent laws,

         12  with stronger tenant protection and commit this body

         13  to winning back home rule. Thank you.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         15                 MR. QUINTO: My name is George

         16  Quintos. I come from Italy, December the 7, 1947 for

         17  better life, and when I came here everything was

         18  beautiful. Then as time went by, the landlords

         19  started take over the City like the army coming in.

         20                 So, what they do? They start to raise

         21  the rent, harassment. Two years, when I live on

         22  1374, no heat. I was the only one calling HPD. Did

         23  nothing, HPD. They come and say wait outside, then

         24  they deal with the super, they don't do nothing,

         25  only think about the smoke alarm is a mister. We
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          2  have no heat here. Oh, we're going to get you heat.

          3  They call in. Can I use your phone? The heat come

          4  one hour. The rest day, no heat. This went for over

          5  two years.

          6                 Then I had three leak there. I called

          7  the office, they don't pay no attention. All these

          8  things. Then they said to me, well, if you don't

          9  like, move out. Say we have a better deal for you,

         10  Mr. Quintos, we'll give you $3,000, maybe $5,000 if

         11  you leave. I say, listen, Mister, you keep the

         12  money, I want a place to sleep. That's all I want. I

         13  obeyed the federal law, the State law, the City law,

         14  I say I have a place to sleep. You have a good place

         15  to sleep? Yes. Well, I want same way. I obey all the

         16  law, I pay all my tax. I say leave me alone.

         17                 Then another tenant was here, same

         18  thing, they refused her rent. Okay? They wanted her

         19  out. It was decontrol. Then another tenant, they

         20  offer $20,000. So where am I going to go? I have no

         21  place to go.

         22                 So, the landlord do not lose any

         23  money. I work for Douglas Solomon, landmark, when he

         24  put a building up, when he put a new building up,

         25  the government and the City, they don't pay tax. You
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          2  know who pay the tax there? The working people. The

          3  first three years they got tax appreciation. They

          4  don't pay nothing for three years, because I worked

          5  for Douglas Solomon. I worked for landmarks. If you

          6  put a building up, who pay the taxes? The working

          7  people. Not the owner, because you have to say I

          8  have to wait til I fill that up. Meantime, they need

          9  repayment, when they file tax, they put down fuel

         10  bill, everything, they pay less money. I was in

         11  Albany demonstration. I send a letter to Mr. Bruno,

         12  and Mr. Pataki. They ignore the letter. I call them

         13  on the phone. I say, listen, you better do rent

         14  control, decontrol. I say I come for better life

         15  here, you better make something good. If you don't

         16  do, I'm going to pay a visit -- you speak Italian,

         17  Mr. Bruno speak Italian, if you can speak Italian I

         18  can translate. My Congressman is Malone, right, I

         19  vote for Bloomberg twice. So, I vote for the

         20  official who do good job. They don't do good job,

         21  they better leave. We can get somebody else? I don't

         22  want this excuse. These people, when they reach

         23  pension, like I'm a pension. What they give you?

         24  First he says to me if you 65, $500. What are you

         25  going to do for $500? Let me say you better stay on.
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          2                 When I retire, to get $1,200 from the

          3  federal government, you have to work until 69. I got

          4  so many operation to force to get two and three

          5  more, because $500 is no money, now they give me 12.

          6  But then at the end of the year they tax me. You

          7  know what they do? They send 2 W forms, they say if

          8  you don't fill 2 W form, we're going to stop the

          9  check. I say, why, I'm past the age, I'm 75 already.

         10  They don't want to know that. Everybody is for the

         11  handout. Give me, give me, and then at the end of

         12  the year I pay back to the government 7, 800 dollars

         13  to the State. They're not losing money. The City not

         14  losing money. They collect all the taxes. Where the

         15  money goes? Who's taking the money? When you hit

         16  lottery, you don't get all the money, the leftover

         17  is yours. Now, I know the real estate, they say

         18  they're losing money? They're not losing any money.

         19                 I think the rent control should

         20  remain, and the decontrol should remain, and the

         21  apartment house I told them in Albany demonstration,

         22  can be rent control, the apartment house, office

         23  building, they should be all rent control. Only can

         24  make an increase if you make improvement, if you're

         25  not making any increase, any improvement, then you
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          2  can get no increase. That's all it is. It should

          3  remain what it is. What are you going to do with all

          4  these people that pay low?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Sir, I'm going to

          6  ask you to summarize your comments.

          7                 MR. QUINTOS: Yes, I know. They have

          8  to do the job. A big crooks come over here, it's all

          9  crooks, all gangsters. The Italian gangster, they

         10  use legal way, nice and easy, oh, Mr. Quintos,

         11  meantime if you don't watch they stick you knife,

         12  like the Roman.

         13                 So, listen, we want to remain rent

         14  control, decontrol remain what it is, because you

         15  can't put these people on the street. We have so

         16  many people homeless already. What are you going to

         17  do? The City is going to starve, everybody going to

         18  get sick. Because that's what happen, when guy don't

         19  take shower, they start smell, and what are you

         20  going to do?

         21                 So, they have to remain rent control,

         22  decontrol, and City should provide a house. Because

         23  Bloomberg say there are lot of house, I don't see

         24  any house. Only on the streets, beautiful streets.

         25  But I don't see any house. I mean, they say like a
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          2  house here. Yeah, they make building, but not for

          3  working people, for the poor. The people who got

          4  money. Yeah, if you got $5,000, I got an apartment

          5  right at 80 Street, they just finished a building.

          6  Yeah, you got $5,000? What are you going to do, hold

          7  up banks? I don't want to do that.

          8                 So, remain what it is. You tell Mr.

          9  Mayor, I wrote him twice, you better do the right

         10  thing. That's all I ask, nothing else. That's all I

         11  have to say.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         13                 Sir, please stay seated, just in case

         14  my colleagues want to respond.

         15                 MR. SIRACUSE: My name is Tom

         16  Siracuse, and I represent the Committee to protect

         17  rent control tenants. Rent controlled tenants are

         18  the most adversely affected by the Urstadt Law.

         19  Their rents are determined by the State Division of

         20  Housing, DHCR, through the maximum base rent system.

         21                 In the last two MBR cycles, rents

         22  have gone up 30 percent. The highest increase of all

         23  categories of renters. Add on the growing number of

         24  major capital improvement increases and fuel pass

         25  alongs, and many rent control tenants have seen a 40
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          2  percent increase over the last four years. And this,

          3  despite the fact that rent control tenants have the

          4  lowest mean income of all categories of renters,

          5  $22,200 a year.

          6                 Fifty percent of rent control tenants

          7  pay a third or more of their incomes to rent. Those

          8  not eligible for SCRIE or have had their rents

          9  frozen, over a third of their income, are facing a

         10  new kind of terror and not from overseas.

         11                 Rent-controlled tenants are retired

         12  and quite elderly, and the prospect of being forced

         13  out of their homes occupied by at least 35 years is

         14  traumatic. Health care professionals know that this

         15  kind of change for the elderly often leads to

         16  serious mental problems, and even increases their

         17  death rate.

         18                 These rent increases are totally

         19  unfair and unjustified. The formula used by DHCR is

         20  largely based on components not related to landlord

         21  costs. In fact, State law guarantees landlords an

         22  eight and a half percent return on their investment.

         23                 Two components are based on the

         24  assessed value of buildings and taxes. So as the

         25  value of buildings increase, our rents increase.
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          2                 In other words, the wealthier

          3  landlords become the more we pay in rent. Tenants

          4  have introduced bills in the State Legislature,

          5  asked the DHCR to make the system fairer, all to no

          6  avail.

          7                 DHCR has even said that rent control

          8  is dying. The present system may be accelerating the

          9  death of rent control tenants. In 2005 there were

         10  only 43,000 rent control units left, a decrease of

         11  27 percent, from 2002. This is the only category of

         12  apartments that has decreased.

         13                 We have heard, and it's been said

         14  that there's been an increase of rent stabilized

         15  units. Well, that's largely because of the loss of

         16  rent control units into rent-stabilized units.

         17                 In fact, in pre-1947 buildings,

         18  there's been a loss of 28,000 rent stabilized

         19  apartments and 16,000 rent control apartments for a

         20  total loss of 44,000 apartments in pre-war 1947

         21  buildings in the last three years.

         22                 In summary, State control of the rent

         23  control system is not working, and that's why we

         24  call for the repeal of the Urstadt Law and the

         25  return of setting rent control rents to the City of

                                                            143

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  New York.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you all for

          4  your testimony.

          5                 I can see out the corner of my eye

          6  that we have a question from Council Member Mendez

          7  for the panel.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you. If

          9  you can all indulge me. I have questions for each

         10  member of the panel.

         11                 We'll start from my left to the

         12  right.

         13                 Sir, do you believe that the rate of

         14  the loss of rent control apartments is because of

         15  high rent decontrol, or is it as some people have

         16  speculated, because it is older tenants who are

         17  passing away, in your opinion?

         18                 MR. SIRACUSE: Both.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Which do you

         20  think is a bigger cause.

         21                 MR. SIRACUSE: Well, it's difficult to

         22  get these kinds of figures, but according to the

         23  Vacancy, the Housing Vacancy Survey, as I pointed

         24  out, there's been a loss between 2002 and 2005 of

         25  16,000 rent-controlled apartments just in that
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          2  period alone. And that's now a total of only 44,000

          3  rent control apartments left. So, the loss is

          4  catastrophic. At this rate, in another four or five

          5  years, there won't be any of us left.

          6                 And as I pointed out, this pressure

          7  on rent control tenants, most of us are elderly, not

          8  well, affects our health adversely.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay, thank

         10  you.

         11                 Sir, you advocated for -- the

         12  gentleman from Italy, I didn't get your name, you

         13  advocated for every form of rent regulation there

         14  is; would you be in favor of commercial rent

         15  stabilization since we had a previous speaker who

         16  felt that that system was fine?

         17                 MR. QUINTO: I was born and raised in

         18  Italy in the south.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay.

         20                 MR. QUINTO: My uncle was the Mayor.

         21  All the apartments, it's all rent controlled. Only

         22  time you can get an increase is if you make

         23  improvement, then it will increase. But if you don't

         24  make improvement, you can't get.

         25                 My uncle has so much tax, we have no
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          2  lateral, no nothing there, I mean they collect

          3  enough money, everybody satisfied. I mean, over here

          4  we collect all this money, where it's going? They

          5  always complain, the City is in debt, it need the

          6  State. The State say I give no money.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you.

          8                 MR. QUINTO: I mean there is money

          9  coming in somewhere. And when you put a building up,

         10  when you put a high-rise building, the first thing

         11  is you don't pay any taxes. You know who pay the

         12  tax? The working people. Because I work for real

         13  estate, I'm not allowed to give a name, okay? My

         14  company put so many high-rise because they make a

         15  lot of money. George, say, three years free taxes.

         16  People who pay the tax is the worker, because they

         17  have a doorman, elevator man, superintendent. I was

         18  a super. I know these things. You're going to tell

         19  me this, oh, they're losing money -- look, when I

         20  went to Albany, you know what I told Mr. Mello

         21  (phonetic) and the lead over there? I say please

         22  show me the book they're losing the money. They will

         23  not show the book. No, they show the book, they lose

         24  the money. And they tell the City, too, when they

         25  file tax, they pay less tax. C'mon, they do not
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          2  think -- you know how many building one landlord

          3  own? Seventy-four building, okay? Gladstone, almost

          4  60 building. Another guy now is not too far, he own

          5  a lot of buildings. You lose money I don't get to

          6  build more building. I don't understand, you must

          7  have money, right? You making the money. Generate

          8  money. Don't tell me that --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you for

         10  your testimony. Okay.

         11                 And for the representatives from Met

         12  Council and Pratt, if you can tell me

         13  percentage-wise the amount of tenants that you

         14  assist who are being evicted, who are not subject to

         15  any rent protections?

         16                 MS. LAURIE: I can't answer that. We

         17  have a hot line and we assist tenants by giving

         18  advice in a number of ways, but I would say most of

         19  the tenants, most of our members are rent regulated,

         20  and more than half of the tenants who call are

         21  certainly rent regulated. I know --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And those

         23  rent-regulated tenants are also finding themselves

         24  in trouble of keeping their rent-regulated

         25  apartments?
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          2                 MS. LAURIE: Right. I mean, obviously

          3  a tenant in an unregulated apartment doesn't --

          4  there is eviction without cause for an unregulated

          5  tenant, so as soon as the lease expires, or with a

          6  30-day notice if there is no lease, the landlord can

          7  evict the tenant.

          8                 So, those tenants wouldn't call us

          9  with a, you know, owner's use eviction or, you know,

         10  complaint about a pet or a washing machine, a

         11  hold-over proceeding.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: So, these are

         13  at-risk tenants that would never even come to your

         14  office because they have no recourse?

         15                 MS. LAURIE: Well, they call us. They

         16  call us, but they don't have many defenses, and

         17  without a lawyer there's not much they can do to

         18  slow down the eviction proceeding.

         19                 I mean, I know Hector can probably

         20  talk in much greater detail because his neighborhood

         21  organization deals with this.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you.

         23                 MR. RIVERA: To answer that question,

         24  I would say that 80 percent of the tenants that come

         25  into my office that I'm working with at the moment,
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          2  they are mostly unregulated apartments, and the

          3  outcome is like eviction.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

          5  much for your testimony.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, the next

          7  panel that is up is Ms. Francine Brewer, Janet

          8  Dunson, Doris Schreiber and I will add Mr. Craig

          9  Russell, to the next panel.

         10                 And they will be followed by Edaie

         11  Cote, Joe Wooden and Ann Garrison, as well as -- I

         12  can't read this one to well -- Carol De Saram. That

         13  will be the following panel.

         14                 Okay, we're missing one -- are you

         15  part of this panel, Ma'am? No? All right. Then we'll

         16  add Adele Bender. Please come and join this panel.

         17                 You can begin in any order you'd

         18  like.

         19                 MS. DUNSON: Hi. My name is Janet

         20  Dunson, and I'm a member of the 47 East 3rd Street

         21  Tenants Association, and I'm representing them

         22  today.

         23                 I just want to put a face on the

         24  owner-occupancy cases that Gale Brewer and Tim

         25  Collins spoke of earlier.
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          2                 In our case the landlords are

          3  attempting to evict every one in our five-story

          4  15-unit rent-stabilized tenement building. Most of

          5  the people have been in our building between 15 and

          6  30 years, so obviously this is an egregious example

          7  of owner occupancy, and I just want to take this

          8  opportunity to briefly point out three consequences

          9  out in this increase in owner occupancy.

         10                 Number one, landlords suffer no real

         11  or severe penalty if they do not actually move into

         12  the apartment that they claim that they want. So,

         13  it's obviously a risk worth taking for them.

         14                 Number two, most landlords know full

         15  well that tenants do not have the financial means to

         16  fight protracted legal battles, and so that many of

         17  these tenants will simply just get up and leave. So,

         18  again, it makes it easy for them to try this, as

         19  well as keeping the official numbers low of what

         20  they're doing, making it difficult to find out

         21  exactly how many cases of owner occupancy are

         22  actually going on.

         23                 And, finally, number three. Many of

         24  the more unscrupulous landlords are taking advantage

         25  of the very existence of rent stabilization in order
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          2  to buy or acquire a building cheaply and then turn

          3  around and make a profit on it, evicting everyone,

          4  and either making it their own luxury home or making

          5  market rate apartments. So, in a sense this is

          6  profiteering, and it certainly is a blatant scam,

          7  and hopefully, I urge you to try to use your power

          8  to amend the situation.

          9                 Thank you.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         11                 MS. SCHREIBER: May I go now?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Yes. And if you

         13  could just state your name?

         14                 MS. SCHREIBER: I will.

         15                 I speak for myself and other rent

         16  control tenants who could not appear today.

         17                 My name is Doris Schreiber. I am a

         18  retired school teacher, who has watched her rent

         19  escalate. I wish to express my concern over the fact

         20  that rent control in New York City is gradually

         21  being phased out. I am a rent control tenant and my

         22  rent has been increasing every year by seven and a

         23  half percent.

         24                 There used to be a cap on rent every

         25  few years, but that protection has been eliminated.
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          2  At the rate that rents are increasing for rent

          3  control tenants, rents have doubled in nine and a

          4  half years.

          5                 This is figured by the rule of 72,

          6  which states that you divide any number into 72 and

          7  the number doubles by that length of time.

          8                 And the rent at seven and a half

          9  percent into 72 will give you about nine and a half

         10  percent.

         11                 Many rent control tenants are elderly

         12  and on fixed incomes. These increases are

         13  unconscionable and unaffordable. We even have higher

         14  rents than those under rent stabilization. We need a

         15  cap on rent control rates as there was in the past,

         16  but none was included on the previous rent laws.

         17  Hiking the increase for three years to 22 and a half

         18  percent, what can be done to get the rent laws under

         19  the control of the City? We need to restore New York

         20  City's power to limit rents. We look to you, our

         21  City Council, to help protect us from exorbitant

         22  rent increases.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 MS. BENDER: Thank you.

         25                 First, Council Member Mendez, I would
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          2  like to thank you for holding these very important

          3  hearings. My name is Adele Bender. I'm the Queens

          4  Borough Coordinator for JPAC, which stands for the

          5  Joint Public Affairs Committee for Older Adults.

          6                 If anything, rent regulations have to

          7  be strengthened and expanded. If anybody lives in a

          8  building with less than six units, they're at the

          9  mercy of the landlord. The landlord could raise

         10  their rent $300, the sky is the limit. If they don't

         11  like their face one day, they don't have to renew

         12  the lease. I mean, I advocated the various senior

         13  centers, and every once in awhile, if I say the word

         14  "housing," somebody runs up to me, I have to get a

         15  new affordable apartment, the rent is being raised.

         16  I hear all these kind of stories and when they're in

         17  a building that has less than six units, you know, I

         18  feel really very empowered that there's really not

         19  too much that I can do. To go look for an apartment

         20  for them, there's almost nothing around. It's really

         21  very difficult.

         22                 The other thing that I did want to

         23  bring out also, if you live in an apartment that is

         24  owned by a co-oper, you're in that same situation. I

         25  understand that co-opers made an investment, so
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          2  maybe they own one, two or three apartments. It may

          3  not be the same rent regulations that we have, but

          4  the tenants must get some kind of protection because

          5  there's just no housing around.

          6                 Even with rent stabilization, and by

          7  the way, speaking of rent control, even the rent

          8  control tenant forgot to mention one thing, they pay

          9  a fuel cost pass along, and that can be anywhere

         10  between 15 to 30 to 40 dollars, I hear a lot of

         11  other figures. So, they do, they are on a hardship.

         12  I know there's a piece of legislation in the hopper

         13  that's asking for rent control to be put into rent

         14  stabilization.

         15                 Rent stabilization is not the end all

         16  and is not the be all. The thing of it is, we're on

         17  the ropes always defending what little protection we

         18  have left, and we really have to go on the

         19  offensive. And, again, as I say, try to expand and

         20  strengthen rent control. People here are living

         21  here, they have a lot to contribute to the City.

         22  They're working people or they're elderly people,

         23  they're disabled people, they're disabled veterans.

         24  How dare a veteran or a disabled person have to be

         25  in such a precarious situation, even with SCRIE.

                                                            154

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  Even with DRIE, which is certainly some improvement,

          3  there's much, much more that has to be done. The

          4  most vulnerable people are being hit in this City.

          5                 Oh, one other thing that had not been

          6  mentioned, which is really scary, is the case of the

          7  care giver. Somebody goes and leaves their

          8  apartment. They don't know about all the rent

          9  regulations or non-regulations or what's going on.

         10  They go to take care of a sick relative. Now, if

         11  they have not been in there long enough, and

         12  sometimes even when they're there long enough, the

         13  sick relative either has to go into a nursing home

         14  or dies, very often you did the right thing, you did

         15  a kindness, you took care of a relative and that

         16  landlord comes after you and you're out of there.

         17                 Because I also am a member of the

         18  Queens League of United Tenants, and I have heard of

         19  such cases. We have a lawyer that's been going to

         20  court with people on this situation.

         21                 So, my question finally is, is

         22  homelessness going to be the final housing solution?

         23  I hope not. It is so very important that this

         24  resolution be passed. We have our rent regulations,

         25  be that what it is, and certainly I'm hoping that
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          2  people will introduce legislation that will

          3  strengthen it. And, again, thank you so much,

          4  Council Member Mendez, for holding this hearing.

          5                 MR. RUSSELL: My name is Greg Russell.

          6  I'm a rent stabilized tenant for 26 years in Council

          7  Member Quinn's district. I'm a survivor of many

          8  things, of a non-evict plan. I've been harassed by

          9  my landlord for two and a half years, which led to

         10  Human Rights Court. I have several plates in the air

         11  of which I've been going to Washington and Albany.

         12  Social Security, Medicaid, Medicare, and now we got

         13  housing on the block.

         14                 I represent a lot of people who may

         15  not be here today but are on fixed incomes and need

         16  a voice and face.

         17                 I'm a former salaried artist, a tax

         18  payer, an employee. I am now disabled with a

         19  catastrophic illness. My health is consistently

         20  unmanageable as my income has been frozen by the

         21  City's HASA formula, since 1987. Housing becoming

         22  another plate in the air is making my situation

         23  worse.

         24                 It's like a friend told me, it's like

         25  suggesting someone with heart disease remove their

                                                            156

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  pacemaker.

          3                 I don't want to choose between

          4  housing and medication. And medication already is

          5  under fire with the change in Medicaid and Medicare.

          6  It's a noticeable increase in deductions with

          7  co-payments for my medical formularies.

          8                 The 80/20s are the only available

          9  options in my region, if you're familiar with those,

         10  where 20 percent go to the lower-income people.

         11  They're unaffordable by my income as it is today.

         12  So, without stabilized rent, I cannot afford to live

         13  in New York, in the service areas where my providers

         14  are, much less anywhere else. And I just hope you

         15  consider those people that are disabled and on fixed

         16  income as well. Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         18                 Do any of my colleagues have

         19  questions for the panel? No? Thank you all. Thank

         20  you all for testifying here today.

         21                 Come forward next panel.

         22                 The next panel up would be -- all

         23  right, I'm a little confused here. All right, we

         24  have Mr. Wooden, Ms. Garrison. I just want to make

         25  sure I get everybody that, at least identify who I
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          2  have. Mr. Wooden, Ms. Garrison. Your name?

          3                 MS. COTE: Edaie Cote.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Cote, okay. And?

          5                 MS. DE SARAM: Carole De Saram.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay. And you can

          7  start in any order that you'd like.

          8                 And the next panel will be Shirley

          9  Ehrlickman. Ehrlickman? Shirley Ehrlickman? Mr. X.

         10  And Vera LaFarge. And that will be the next panel.

         11                 You may begin in any order. And

         12  before we begin, I just want to acknowledge that

         13  we've been joined by Council Member Jesscia Lappin.

         14                 MS. COTE: Okay, my name is Edaie

         15  Cote. I have lived in Chelsea for about 35 years.

         16  I'm privileged to have found a rent stabilized

         17  apartment, London Terrace. You heard from my

         18  landlord earlier today, now you'll hear from the

         19  President of the Tenants Association and tell you

         20  the real story.

         21                 London Terrace is a mix of rent

         22  controlled in diminishing numbers, rent stabilized,

         23  also in diminishing numbers and destabilized and

         24  rapidly increasing numbers. Even it's mostly studio

         25  and one-bedroom apartments. The studio apartments
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          2  even in rent controlled and rent stabilized are at a

          3  minimum double occupancy. People are raising

          4  families of one and two children in one bedroom

          5  apartments in London Terrace in increasing numbers.

          6  The rents for a one-bedroom apartment are now over

          7  $3,700 a month for a one-bedroom apartment. Our

          8  landlord is not going to sell this property

          9  overnight. He's doing much better than the tenants

         10  are. Albeit the property is maintained in good

         11  order, but if I were a young person looking for an

         12  affordable apartment, a young teacher, a young

         13  secretary in New York City, I don't know where you'd

         14  find it. And the people who do have apartments are

         15  really afraid about losing them.

         16                 We very much need renewal of rent

         17  stabilization and rent control and we definitely

         18  need to fight for home rule, and do everything we

         19  can do to convince our Mayor to lend vigors to

         20  support to this concept of home rule.

         21                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         22  speak.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         24                 MS. DeSARAM: My name is Carole

         25  DeSaram. I'm from the Tribeca Community Association.
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          2  I am involved at times in selling real estate, and I

          3  came here today to talk about what I see cutting

          4  across all economic social levels in the City of New

          5  York.

          6                 We have a crisis and an emergency in

          7  the City. I'm running across people where I live in

          8  Tribeca. We started as pioneers in warehouses. I

          9  come across people now who are moving. They can no

         10  longer afford the rent.

         11                 We have artists in IND buildings

         12  being now forced out because New York State housing

         13  approved for a landlord to order their tenants out

         14  of this building so he can demo the interior of the

         15  building.

         16                 We now have this cutting across where

         17  people cannot even afford to sell some of these

         18  lofts they have, which they bought back when they

         19  were only $10,000, because there is no place to go.

         20                 People have gone up to New York

         21  State, above Westchester into some of the areas

         22  along the Hudson and lower-income areas and ran into

         23  people that live here in New York City.

         24                 We are pushing out people who were

         25  born here. We have now the working poor, which I was
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          2  told by one government agency who has people working

          3  there, they're one paycheck from the street. People

          4  are paying over 50 percent of their income. Forget

          5  about the 30, over 50. And if you have children,

          6  what do you do? You have to decide between food on

          7  the table or the rent. We're talking about the

          8  working poor here. This is, I'm almost at tears

          9  here. Sit and listen to these people. I was born

         10  here. These people came here. This is New York City,

         11  we have to stand up to who is running New York

         12  State.

         13                 New York City pays the majority of

         14  tax for them up there, and this is, last night

         15  walking in the streets at Tribeca, I saw people poor

         16  that are pushing wagons. They sleep in the street.

         17  We call them our residents, by the way. They are our

         18  residents. We know them by name. This is a shame.

         19  This is a shame and we have to stand up for it.

         20                 The other horror scene that we have

         21  on the horizon that's coming before your Council is

         22  City Planning now, a developer, megabuck

         23  millionaire, decided that he wants a square block.

         24  He's going to knock it down, on the River in

         25  Tribeca. So, they would have to go to the Board of
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          2  Standard and Appeals. No. They took three other City

          3  blocks. They have no standing. They have no

          4  ownership on it. Put it in a packing, called the

          5  rezoning, went to City Planning. City Planning

          6  approved it, with no full Environmental Impact

          7  Statement.

          8                 Now we're going to fight it, but

          9  what's going to happen to Brooklyn, Queens and the

         10  Bronx? The people there are not going to be able to

         11  fight that. They're going to be able to take those

         12  blocks and put in luxury housing on top of other

         13  housing.

         14                 This is an emergency. This is a

         15  crisis, and we have to act. Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: The next member of

         17  the panel.

         18                 MS. GARRISON: My name is Ann

         19  Garrison, and I'm very, very grateful for this

         20  opportunity today. I want to thank the landlord and

         21  tenants for also giving me an alert that this was

         22  going to be, this hearing would be held. And

         23  basically I want to talk about what will soon be my

         24  eviction.

         25                 I believe that in the past year, a
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          2  little over a year, my landlord has delivered what

          3  is called a "Dean's lease." I've been in my

          4  apartment for 25 years. I'm rent stabilized. I'm 64

          5  years old, I'm on SCRIE, I'm disabled, and I figured

          6  out how it happened.

          7                 It goes like this: I call it the

          8  "Hold It Plan." You date a lease at the beginning

          9  of the month but you hold it for 30 days, and then

         10  at the end of 30 days you deliver the lease, but the

         11  person who gets it doesn't realize that they're on a

         12  time bomb.

         13                 So, I held my lease, or my lease and

         14  security deposit, and when I returned it, my

         15  landlord held the security deposit for over 30 days,

         16  and after that I got back my lease two months after

         17  I returned it to him. What that meant was I was

         18  already into my lease period.

         19                 I went to DHCR for help and they gave

         20  me the wrong papers. I had to go back and I got

         21  everything that was needed and I had to go back. I

         22  even had the envelope stamp to show that they sent

         23  it to me a month late. And DHCR responded to me just

         24  after my landlord gave me this lease. A lease

         25  received after the lease period had started, the
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          2  Dean Lease. It's regulated and not registered.

          3                 So, now, a little over a month -- a

          4  year later, I don't get a rent registration, I don't

          5  get a security deposit. My SCRIE is not active. My

          6  landlord refuses to credit the SCRIE payment.

          7                 Now, if I can't prove in any way that

          8  I'm a rent registered person for 25 years, how can I

          9  fight for my lease?

         10                 I feel that this is the kind of thing

         11  that's going on with other people in my complex. I

         12  don't think I'm the only person that maybe have to

         13  give up their lease through this means, but it

         14  sounds illegal and it sounds wrong, but I guess if

         15  you can get away with it, it's okay.

         16                 I don't think it's okay. And my

         17  landlord is Richard Joyer (phonetic), is a very good

         18  human being from a good family. It's really Douglas

         19  Elliman and Minotphelps and Phillips (phonetic) of

         20  eminent domain thing.

         21                 So, anyway, thank you very much for

         22  the opportunity to say something.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: You're welcome.

         24                 I just want to ask you, Ma'am, do you

         25  know who your Council Member is?

                                                            164

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2                 MS. GARRISON: Ms. Lappin.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, so you're

          4  aware of --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: No, I wasn't

          6  aware of it.

          7                 So, I guess you were next up to make

          8  your statement, so I guess I'll allow you to make a

          9  statement at this time. Well, I guess it's good that

         10  you were here to hear her testimony.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER LAPPIN: Thank you for

         12  coming. I would have been here earlier, but I'm a

         13  member of the Transportation Committee and we were

         14  holding a hearing simultaneously across the street.

         15                 But I am very happy to be

         16  co-sponsoring the bills that we're discussing today,

         17  because I think they're very important, and there

         18  have been people coming into my office, and I don't

         19  know if you're on my mailing list, Ann, but I would

         20  love to add you, we were informing people of this

         21  hearing today. I have a small, since I'm new, a

         22  small group that I've been mailing to, so people who

         23  are mostly seniors on fixed incomes have been coming

         24  into my office over the course of this week, scared

         25  to death. Practically in tears. I think one of them
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          2  was in tears. You know, not able to come here today

          3  because they're not well enough.

          4                 So, I think it's really commendable

          5  that you are here, and that you have taken the time,

          6  and because there are a lot of people who would like

          7  to be sitting in this room testifying who just

          8  can't, but who are petrified, and we have done our

          9  best to try to calm them down.

         10                 But I would be happy to work with you

         11  and after the hearing is over, or even maybe after

         12  you step down from the panel, we'll talk in the back

         13  of the room. And thank you, Mr. Chairman, for giving

         14  me the opportunity to state on the record my support

         15  of this legislation and I'm happy to be here.

         16                 Thank you.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         18                 And I must state before you go that

         19  all the gentlemen have been consistent in letting

         20  the ladies testify first.

         21                 I think it's really a credit to the

         22  gentlemen that were in attendance today, and to each

         23  and every one of you. I have definitely noticed and

         24  I want to say thank you to each and every one of you

         25  for allowing that to proceed that way.
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          2                 Mr. Wooden.

          3                 MR. WOODEN: That's from the old

          4  school --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We need a lot more

          6  old school around here.

          7                 MR. WOODEN: Okay, well, my name is

          8  Joe Wooden. I'm with the Northwest Bronx Coalition,

          9  and actually --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: If you could just

         11  speak more directly into the mic.

         12                 MR. WOODEN: Okay. Okay, I'm here to

         13  speak and represent the tenants, all right? Tenants

         14  living in substandard housing, and some of them are

         15  outright dangerous buildings.

         16                 Our apartment on Valentine Avenue, we

         17  had -- and when I say, use personalize, I'm talking

         18  about all the people that are in my same situation.

         19  But dealing with things from exposed wires to

         20  falling paint, right out to rats coming in your

         21  living room. You're sitting there watching the news

         22  or whatever and boos boos (sic), you know, and most

         23  of us know that sound.

         24                 The bad thing about this is what do

         25  you do with the landlord in the courts? You go to
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          2  court, the judge gives the owner an order to repair,

          3  and hopefully you will do that, because if you're

          4  one of the working people paying, every penny

          5  counts. I count my pennies, I'm not rich, you know,

          6  and I don't want to throw away money, and I've got

          7  to budget myself for the week ahead, plan what

          8  MetroCard I'm going to get, or where I'm going to

          9  go, because I don't have that extra pocket change.

         10                 So, hopefully, I hope that he

         11  complies the first time. If you have to go back to

         12  court again, it's another trip. It will cost you

         13  more money.

         14                 You have to have inspectors from HPD

         15  coming back again to do the inspection again. This

         16  costs HPD money and a waste of time. And I thought

         17  that if you didn't follow court orders, it was

         18  something called "contempt of court." So, how does

         19  the landlord get away with this and keep doing it?

         20                 I think that basically what I'm

         21  saying is that what we need to do is give control

         22  back to New York. These Urstadt Laws have got to go.

         23  The laws have to be done here in New York City,

         24  because if I want to confront whoever made this law,

         25  passed this law face-to-face, I can afford a Transit
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          2  card, but I can't afford a plane ticket to have to

          3  go up to Albany to do something crazy like that.

          4                 So, for the tenant, if you think

          5  there is no one you can call or whatever, you have

          6  agencies to help out.

          7                 The Northwest Bronx Coalition is just

          8  one of them. Get a computer. Go to the library, use

          9  the computer, use the search engine, and just type

         10  in help, agency for tenants.

         11                 So, thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you, all.

         13  And I just would like to ask again if any of my

         14  colleagues have questions for the panel?

         15                 If not, I want to thank the panel for

         16  coming in and testifying today. Thank you very much.

         17                 I also want to acknowledge the

         18  Borough President of Brooklyn who has just joined

         19  us, and I know he is on some time constraints. I

         20  will ask the next panel if they could just excuse me

         21  and allow the Borough President to be the next to

         22  testify.

         23                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: Thank

         24  you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you very, very much. And to

         25  the members of the City Council, let me congratulate
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          2  you and wish you much luck in service to New

          3  Yorkers, and certainly our Chairman, I congratulate

          4  you as well. It's a most important committee.

          5                 At this point the only affordable

          6  housing in New York City primarily are for those

          7  residents that reside in rent control and rent

          8  stabilized apartments. The only way to maintain New

          9  York City as an income-diverse City is to preserve

         10  and guarantee and strengthen rent protections.

         11                 At the bear minimum, we must renew

         12  the rent regulations without question, and in my

         13  opinion, of course, make them permanent without

         14  sunsets. Instead of fighting to renew these laws

         15  every three years, we should consider them the

         16  starting line and certainly not the finish line.

         17                 At a time when many tenants' incomes

         18  are flat or decreasing, rent increases are forcing

         19  many to pay half or more of their net income on

         20  rent, including yours truly at the microphone.

         21                 According to a 2002 Coalition for

         22  Homeless report, more than 500,000 renter households

         23  pay more than half their income for housing. That's

         24  27 percent of all City renters. The same report

         25  tells us that in the 1990s, the City lost more than
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          2  half of its low income, low rent housing. This is a

          3  real fear, there is a real fear looming in this City

          4  that more and more affordable housing units are

          5  going into decontrol.

          6                 If I would have told you even ten

          7  years ago that tenants in the middle of Queens or

          8  the middle of Brooklyn would be paying 2,000 rent or

          9  more for a one-bedroom apartment, you would have

         10  said, Marty, what are you smoking, or what are you

         11  drinking?

         12                 But today landlords have found their

         13  way to the promised land. That is, when apartments

         14  become vacant, on top of their vacancy allowance and

         15  guideline increases, they renovate, as you know,

         16  renovate bathrooms and kitchens and everything else

         17  they can get their hands on so that the amortization

         18  of those improvements and those apartments bring the

         19  rents of the promised land up $2,000 and then

         20  they've reached decontrol.

         21                 2006 the increasing amount of

         22  apartments and rent control and rent stabilization

         23  were coming very close increasingly to that $2,000

         24  threshold, when all tenant protection disappears,

         25  there's a crisis impacting every borough and almost
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          2  every neighborhood in New York City. This

          3  automatically puts our housing and our tenants in

          4  great peril.

          5                 I never want to see a day when New

          6  York City is home to only the very rich and the very

          7  poor. But with real estate markets showing few signs

          8  of slowing after more than a decade of unbelievable

          9  growth, this is a direction sadly we're heading in.

         10                 As far as the Urstadt Law is

         11  concerned, we need to  repeal it. Decisions about

         12  New York City rent regulations should not be made in

         13  Albany, and I felt the same way when I served as a

         14  Senator for 23 years.

         15                 But in reality, we all understand

         16  that the Upstate contingent primarily in the

         17  Republican Party, has no clue how we live down here,

         18  because Upstate even families with modest incomes

         19  can afford to buy a home, and because our State does

         20  not have public financing, for State and political

         21  campaigns, Upstate and suburban legislators receive

         22  substantial real estate money for their reelections.

         23                 The Urstadt law exists for two

         24  reasons: One, the real estate interest trust that

         25  their agenda will be better protected in Albany than

                                                            172

          1  HOUSING AND BUILDINGS AND STATE AND FEDERAL LEGISLATION

          2  New York City; and two, because State government has

          3  little respect for City government because they

          4  think they can do it better.

          5                 But who here would disagree with me

          6  that the State Legislature can't hold a candle to

          7  the responsiveness and efficiency of our own City

          8  government.

          9                 I ask any objective person to say

         10  that I'm wrong. I want to say to Senators Martin

         11  Golden and Frank Padavan and Surph Maltese, John

         12  Marchi, this is your shining moment to bring it home

         13  for the tenant families of New York City.

         14                 Thank you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Thank

         16  you, Mr. Borough President. And I just would like to

         17  say that I look forward to working with you on

         18  housing issues that concern the Borough of Brooklyn.

         19  And I look forward to work with you to continue to

         20  fight for affordability in a borough where we've

         21  seen some of the highest escalations in real estate

         22  values in this City. So, I look forward to working

         23  with you on that.

         24                 Do any of my members have a question

         25  for the Borough President?
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          2                 Thank you, Mr. Borough President.

          3                 Thank you for coming down to testify

          4  today.

          5                 BOROUGH PRESIDENT MARKOWITZ: Thank

          6  you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I just ask that

          8  the panel that was on deck to just please come

          9  forward.

         10                 I think it's Vera LaFarge, Mr. X,

         11  Shirley Ehrlickman, and Craig Gurian I'm going to

         12  add to this panel. But before you begin, I'm going

         13  to do a little bit of housekeeping and just note

         14  that I have received written testimony that I would

         15  like to be entered into the record, as if read.

         16                 One from The Legal Aid Society, from

         17  a Ms. Judith Goldiner, in support of all measures on

         18  today's calendar, and that will be entered into the

         19  record.

         20                 The other is testimony from Marc

         21  Andrew Landis, who is a Democratic District Leader

         22  in the 67th Assembly District also in support of all

         23  the measures on today's calendar, and I'm going to

         24  ask that both of these written testimonies be

         25  entered into the record as if read.
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          2                 Without further ado, I will allow the

          3  panel to go, and you can go in any order that you so

          4  decide.

          5                 MS. LAFORGE: I would like to make a

          6  few points. I didn't expect to speak this morning.

          7  This afternoon. But as a former City teacher, when

          8  the rent, when my rent originally 35 years ago was

          9  low --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: And if you could

         11  just state your name for the record?

         12                 MS. LAFORGE: Vera LaForge.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay, thank you.

         14                 MS. LAFORGE: And what I was paid by

         15  the City was really, really low, and I appreciated

         16  rent stabilization as I do now.

         17                 But I'd just like to make a few

         18  points, different points. I wrote down a few points

         19  as I was sitting here, that I thought might be of

         20  interest.

         21                 Number one, in regard to the Albany

         22  Urstadt Law, Home Rule for New York City, which I

         23  greatly favor, of course. I was greatly amused to

         24  hear the HPD Commissioner this morning answer

         25  Council Member Mendez's question on his and Mayor
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          2  Bloomberg's position on the Urstadt Law.

          3                 Avoiding an answer, the Commissioner

          4  based the Mayor and his stand on the $38 million it

          5  would cost to administer per year. Yesterday it was

          6  broadcast, this has made me really, I almost laughed

          7  out loud. Yesterday it was broadcast that the coming

          8  snow storm, happily not realized, like the one a few

          9  weeks ago, would cost the City $1 million an inch to

         10  spread salt on the streets. The past storm cost,

         11  that was that big one, $220 million for salt, and he

         12  and the Mayor were -- and this billionaire Mayor is

         13  blaming $38 million administrative fees for not

         14  taking a position on the devastating Urstadt Law.

         15  How dare he.

         16                 Okay, second point. That just I

         17  thought was funny. Now, in regard to small owner

         18  buildings, I live in one and have seen my beautiful

         19  building deteriorate when they talk about how it

         20  cost these owners and we know they're gaining

         21  tremendous rents, as elderly tenants, they're only

         22  like eight tenants or whatever, quiet tenants, died,

         23  the new people who have moved in have changed the

         24  building and it's not been kept like the original

         25  owners who lived in the building, moved out 20 years
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          2  ago more or less, and it was sold to someone who

          3  also lived in the building and kept it very clean

          4  and quiet.

          5                 Since he died, his family rarely

          6  lives in their apartment, which they keep. The

          7  building is filled with graffiti on the outside,

          8  which I know understand will be outlawed as of March

          9  29th. There will be a law passed and they're going

         10  to have to clean up the graffiti. There are holes

         11  that are punched, this is in my experience, holes

         12  are punched all over the hallways, and they're not

         13  repaired, as they used to be, a filthy recycling

         14  area exists, used to be very clean, which used to be

         15  well cared for. The super, a nice guy who is still

         16  there, who used to keep the building very clean says

         17  they no longer pay him. The original owners did. So

         18  he does little. And these elderly quiet tenants,

         19  unfortunately, they have passed away, new tenants

         20  are moving into the building, they don't seem to

         21  care, they're paying much higher rents and maybe

         22  they're feeling they can do whatever they want. And

         23  the place I think is just one big noise pollution.

         24  It's dirt pollution and noise pollution and this

         25  never existed when the original owners lived in the
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          2  building and they cared.

          3                 Now, I also, I'm doing my little

          4  part, since this last crew of owners, who was

          5  actually of the family of the guy who used to live

          6  there and keep it clean, but the people don't live

          7  there and they don't seem to care what goes on. They

          8  no longer care about the painting. I used to have my

          9  apartment painted every three years, everything was

         10  spotless, but the last crew that they sent, which

         11  was like 1991, they got the cheapest people they

         12  could, who were completely incompetent, who made a

         13  complete mess of my apartment, and my ceilings are

         14  falling all over the place, and I said I don't want

         15  any more of these people coming in.

         16                 Okay, third point I just want to make

         17  --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'd like to ask

         19  you to sum up.

         20                 MS. LAFORGE: I'm summing up. The last

         21  point I'm making is also about the huge, ugly

         22  expensive condos going up all over my area, and the

         23  greedy new building owners are trying to wipe out

         24  the historic buildings that existed there before.

         25                 Thankfully there is the Greenwich
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          2  Village historic preservation group that are

          3  fighting back, and I say we should fight back also

          4  against the Urstadt Law. Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          6                 MS. EHRLICKMAN: I really did not

          7  expect to speak today, but I'm speaking without

          8  notes and from the way I feel.

          9                 I'm a rent-stabilized tenant in New

         10  York City, and my name is Shirley Ehrlickman. I have

         11  been fighting for housing for people who are

         12  retired, like myself, for years, and I'm a member of

         13  several senior organizations fighting for these

         14  issues.

         15                 I think at this point we seniors have

         16  a feeling that we're throw-away people, because no

         17  one cares that we are being -- rents are going up

         18  every two years, and it is now reaching the cut up

         19  point of $2,000. We, living on fixed incomes, cannot

         20  pay those rents.

         21                 When I moved into my apartment I was

         22  paying for a one-bedroom apartment, $545. I'm now

         23  paying a little over $1,200 for the same apartment.

         24  We like our apartment and we like where we live, but

         25  what we don't like is that the landlord has carte
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          2  blanche because of the rulings to raise my rent

          3  beyond the point that I can afford.

          4                 I think that it is very important

          5  that it is acknowledged that we need Home Rule here

          6  in the City. It isn't right that the State is

          7  dictating to us the issues that are important to us

          8  who live in the City. It's a wonderful City. I love

          9  living here. I'd like to be able to stay. But on a

         10  fixed income, and getting older, I think it's a big

         11  issue that we should make Home Rule what we need it

         12  to be here in the City where we have some say.

         13                 I could go on and on but I'm not

         14  going to do that. I look to you all to fight for

         15  these issues, because although we've been fighting

         16  for a long time, now it's the next generation that

         17  we need to join and fight against what's being done.

         18                 Thank you.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         20                 MR. X: All right. Mr. X. I want to

         21  credit you and the City Council Member Maria Baez

         22  for holding this forum. This is a touchy subject. I

         23  could credit Rosie for stealing the show, but I want

         24  to ask you something that wasn't asked earlier here

         25  today.
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          2                 I was told beginning March 1, which

          3  is two days ago, if you live in public housing, you

          4  have to pay electric, gas and water bills. Are you

          5  aware if this is rule, or this is law, I should say?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: What I will say to

          7  that, sir, is that is something that has to come to

          8  my attention but is potentially a topic for a future

          9  oversight hearing.

         10                 If you wish to continue to testify,

         11  and we'll allow you to do that, and I'll stop the

         12  clock, we need to hear your views on the matter

         13  that's on today's agenda, but just to briefly answer

         14  your question which is normally not allowed, is

         15  that, yes, it has come to my attention, and I

         16  believe that Council to this Committee will be

         17  looking at that in the very near future.

         18                 MR. X: And your next meeting date

         19  will be?

         20                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: We don't have yet

         21  a particular date on that. We're mandated to go

         22  forward with Preliminary Budget issues and we have

         23  to do that because there is a time constraint on the

         24  Committee. Rest assured that when the subject comes

         25  out it will be done with full public disclosure and
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          2  we'd love for you to come back and testify on those

          3  issues, and we'd love to hear your input.

          4                 MR. X: Okay.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Would you like to

          6  continue on this subject?

          7                 MR. X: I will continue. That's not a

          8  problem.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Okay.

         10                 MR. X: I was told that rent control,

         11  rent control law was disposed 1971, the year I was

         12  born. Is that true?

         13                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Sir, this is not a

         14  Q and A session. If you have testimony, or you want

         15  to share your views on this subject, please share

         16  the views, but this is not -- it's the Council

         17  that's conducting the oversight hearing, and not the

         18  other way around.

         19                 Thank you, sir.

         20                 Would the next person care to

         21  testify.

         22                 Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Excuse me for

         24  a minute, Mr. Chair, if I could have a second just

         25  to clarify.
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          2                 I think you were asking a question,

          3  but I just want to say that your question about

          4  1971, a tenant is subject to rent control

          5  protections if they've been living in the same

          6  apartment since 1971. So, I just wanted to say that,

          7  okay?

          8                 Thank you, Mr. Chair, for letting me

          9  go off topic.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Sure. We knew the

         11  answer to the question but I wanted to continue on

         12  subject and on message, and I think we need to move

         13  forward in that.

         14                 MR. GURAN: Thank you, Mr. Chairman,

         15  Chair Baez, Council members Mendez and Lappin. My

         16  name is Craig Gurian, I'm the Executive Director of

         17  the Anti-Discrimination Center of Metro New York.

         18  I'm also the scholar resident at the Stein Center

         19  for Law and Ethics at Fordham Law School.

         20                 In lieu of a written statement, I

         21  have submitted the Law Review article I had written

         22  entitled "Let Them Rent Cake: George Pataki, Market

         23  Ideology and the Attempt to Dismantle Rent

         24  Regulation in New York," Regulation in New York,

         25  which details the campaign in 1997 to tenants in.
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          2  Whenever considering questions relating to rent

          3  regulation, it's very important to recognize that

          4  the Campaign Against Regulation has been

          5  characterized by disingenuousness in the extreme.

          6                 I document this at great length in

          7  the article I've submitted. Just allow me a couple

          8  of illustrations..

          9                 Regulation opponents actually argued

         10  that developers would choose to build more

         11  affordable housing, ignoring the obvious fact

         12  unregulated developers invariably seek to build at

         13  the high end of the rental market or to develop

         14  high-priced condos.

         15                 Regulation opponents want luxury

         16  decontrol based on the idea that upper middle-income

         17  renters were improperly being benefitted.

         18                 If that had really been the concern,

         19  they would have proposed that such renters pay a

         20  surcharge into an affordable housing fund, not that

         21  the apartments themselves be decontrolled so that

         22  they'd never be affordable to anyone again.

         23                 The real goals of opponents, of

         24  course, were to deprive tenants of security of

         25  tenure, and ultimately to reduce the numbers and
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          2  therefore the political clout of regulated tenants.

          3                 Their tool and their mantra was to

          4  recite the praises of the market. It was treated as

          5  though it were a magic solution. In fact, housing is

          6  not an interchangeable commodity that can be traded

          7  in a truly free market. On the contrary, there is no

          8  reasonable expectation that market forces without

          9  the very visible hand of government intervention

         10  will be able to provide housing for those of limited

         11  means, even for New York's middle class, a group

         12  that actually continues to leave the City in large

         13  numbers.

         14                 There is very little time left to try

         15  to recapture the ground that has been lost, and with

         16  all this in mind, I would first commend the Council

         17  for what it's considering doing today, but suggest

         18  that there is additional authority that the Council

         19  has, even given the existing state regulation, but

         20  existing authority that this Council has to fight

         21  the myths surrounding the rent regulation debate.

         22                 At the top of my list would be

         23  requiring that owners of regulated properties

         24  disclose income and expenses for each property,

         25  exclusive of depreciation so that a true picture of
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          2  profitability can be seen.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          5                 And, again, do my colleagues have any

          6  questions for this panel? If not, I want to thank

          7  you all for coming down and for providing testimony

          8  at this time.

          9                 The next panel, and I'm just going to

         10  ask and see if these members are still in

         11  attendance, or these individuals are still in

         12  attendance, Ms. Ida Pollack. Is Ms. Ida Pollack

         13  still?

         14                 MS. POLLACK: Pollack.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Pollack. You're

         16  part of the next panel. Ms. Francine Brewer. Is Ms.

         17  Brewer still in attendance? Okay. And Mr. Robert

         18  Marrero.

         19                 Okay, Ms. Pollack, since it's been

         20  the precedent at this hearing that the ladies have

         21  gone first, we'll begin with you.

         22                 MS. POLLACK: My name is Ida Pollack,

         23  and I come from Queens, and I live in a Garden

         24  apartment development, which became a co-op in about

         25  1980 something. I also did not expect to make any
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          2  comments, and, therefore, I have no written notes.

          3  However, I think a few things should be said.

          4                 You know, we boast throughout the

          5  world via bombs and via a lot of killing, that in

          6  our country we enjoy free choice of almost

          7  everything including housing. You can live where you

          8  want and you can live how you want, we tell the

          9  world.

         10                 What we fail to tell them is we

         11  better have money to exercise that choice. Because

         12  if you don't have the money, you're either in a

         13  shelter or on the street, or you live in perpetual

         14  fear of being there.

         15                 One of the members of the Rent

         16  Stabilization Association says he sees no connection

         17  between income and homelessness. I wonder where he

         18  thinks the money comes from for rent. And if the

         19  rents keep going up and salaries don't, and our

         20  Mayor, I would like to add, called a union who

         21  called for an increase in salary a thug, I don't see

         22  a connection.

         23                 Maybe he has a tree in his back yard

         24  where he gets his money from, and I wonder if on any

         25  level of government, any elected official is worried
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          2  about being evicted? I doubt it.

          3                 I deal with senior citizens. It was

          4  said here also, and I agree with it, we're

          5  throw-aways, seniors are. You know, I consider

          6  myself a wealthy senior because I worked and

          7  therefore get a pension and because of social

          8  security. I could not live on either one of those by

          9  itself.

         10                 However, I did work about 37 years of

         11  my adult life, and during those years I pay taxes.

         12  And there was a gentlemen here who wanted to know

         13  who gets the money and where does it go? I'd like to

         14  ask that question too. Who does get the tax money?

         15  And where does it go?

         16                 A lot of it right now goes in bombs

         17  in other parts of the world. All in the name of God,

         18  that fool in the White House thinks that we have the

         19  right to govern the world but don't care about the

         20  citizens who live here and have to have a place to

         21  live. It's the 21st century, nobody, no human being

         22  lives in the street or should live in the street or

         23  worry about having a house or walls or a ceiling

         24  over their head.

         25                 I just, for instance, I wonder where
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          2  are the other Council people that were here when I

          3  came in? Maybe a very legitimate reason, or it may

          4  be just an extended lunch hour. I don't know which

          5  it is, but it tells me something, that I have felt

          6  for a long time, that on all levels of government,

          7  nobody really cares about people who work for a

          8  living, or people who are poor. And yet, they

          9  represent a big part of the population, and

         10  certainly those jokers, you'll excuse me, up in

         11  Albany, see, aren't in any way capable of knowing

         12  what the housing problems in New York City is.

         13                 So, I hereby say, I would like to say

         14  demand, that our elected officials do what they were

         15  elected to do, because not only the wealthy vote,

         16  the poor vote also and the seniors vote, and working

         17  people vote. And their votes should count.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Thank

         19  you for your testimony.

         20                 Mr. Marrero.

         21                 MR. MARRERO: Thank you. I'm an

         22  attorney. I represent tenants. I've represented

         23  tenants for over 20 years now.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: State your full

         25  name for the record.
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          2                 MR. MARRERO: Roberto Marrero.

          3                 And I believe most of you here -- I

          4  want my comments to be interpreted as in favor of

          5  the continuation of rent regulation, rent control

          6  and rent stabilization in New York City, and further

          7  for Home Rule and the elimination of the Urstadt

          8  Law.

          9                 I am therefore here to remind those

         10  of you present and those absent, that in order to

         11  support this philosophy if you embrace it, you have

         12  to be armed with countering, with information to

         13  counter what your colleagues are going to use

         14  against you.

         15                 To begin with. It is, the propaganda

         16  is so deep against rent control that we begin to

         17  believe this after awhile. That it's

         18  unconstitutional. It's not unconstitutional. It's

         19  been proven constitutional because there is

         20  emergency in housing. There hasn't been a moment in

         21  our history in New York City that there has not been

         22  a declared housing emergency in almost a century.

         23  That makes it constitutional.

         24                 For one moment do any of you believe

         25  that there will not be mass evictions? Mass
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          2  evictions because the rents would double and triple

          3  over night. And who would be evicted? As Ms. Pollack

          4  said, the poorest of the poor.

          5                 The arguments that the

          6  anti-rent-regulation people make is that that is the

          7  reason for the housing blight that we've had rent

          8  control. The propaganda goes so deep that yesterday

          9  a Civil Court judge at a forum where he was being

         10  honored blamed, seemed a little feeble to me, blamed

         11  the whole housing problem on rent control, beginning

         12  with World War I.

         13                 If this Housing Court judge is

         14  blatantly saying he's not going to follow the law,

         15  because that's how I interpret it, because he

         16  doesn't believe philosophically in rent control, a

         17  judge is saying that, many of your colleagues are

         18  believing the same propaganda, that rent control is

         19  the reason for the housing blight, et cetera, in New

         20  York City and throughout the country.

         21                 Well, it is not. The people will be

         22  evicted tomorrow.

         23                 Yes, if there were no rent control,

         24  of course, we would have magnificent housing in

         25  Manhattan, in Brooklyn, everywhere. But for whom? It
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          2  would not be the people that you represent. It would

          3  not be for them. Just three years ago, most of the

          4  people I represented paid an average of about $600 a

          5  month. That was the legal rent and there was a

          6  reason why it was the legal rent, it could have been

          7  more if the landlords had preserved their properties

          8  better, but no.

          9                 Those same $600 apartment in your

         10  neighborhood, Council member, are now $1,200. The

         11  incomes, as stated earlier, did not double in that

         12  time. The rents have doubled and if not tripled.

         13                 So, I know my time is up. I just need

         14  to be sure that you are reminded by those two or

         15  three points, that it's legal, it's not

         16  unconstitutional, that it's necessary and that we

         17  would have massive evictions here, and the shelters

         18  would be swell, and the streets would be cluttered

         19  with poor people and children sleeping on the

         20  sidewalks over night, if we eliminate rent

         21  regulation in New York City.

         22                 So, please do your job. Thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: I'd like to thank

         24  you for your testimony, Mr. Marrero. And as always,

         25  it's good to see you.
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          2                 Do any of my colleagues have

          3  questions for the panel?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Mr. Marrero,

          5  how are you today?

          6                 I just wanted to ask you, as a law

          7  practitioner, the cases that you are able to stop

          8  evictions are cases where there are rent

          9  protections?

         10                 MR. MARRERO: Almost exclusively. As I

         11  work for a legal services corporation, I cannot

         12  invest too much time in what we call no defense

         13  cases, which means no rent regulation. Those people

         14  get evicted. That's a building fewer than six

         15  apartments for the most part. Although we do take

         16  some, but most we cannot take. There's no defense.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: And in the

         18  cases where you take tenants that do not have any

         19  rent protections are you able to stop the evictions

         20  in those cases?

         21                 MR. MARRERO: Not ultimately. We do

         22  stop those cases for a year maybe, or to the

         23  termination of the lease. But for the most part,

         24  they're relegated to shelters our doubling up.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Okay. And for
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          2  the record --

          3                 MR. MARRERO: I'm sorry, did you mean

          4  to people who do have regulation? Oh, yes.

          5  Certainly.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: No, who don't

          7  have regulation.

          8                 MR. MARRERO: Do not. No. It's almost

          9  hopeless.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: One of my

         11  former colleagues --

         12                 MR. MARRERO: Yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ:-- Just for the

         14  record, and thank you for coming here and being here

         15  today.

         16                 MR. MARRERO: Thank you, Council

         17  member.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

         19                 Is there anyone in attendance that

         20  has not yet testified that wishes to do so at this

         21  time?

         22                 Will you please come forward.

         23                 All right, this will be the final

         24  panel for this hearing.

         25                 MS. KRIEGER: Okay, my name is
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          2  Shoshana Krieger, and I am a tenant organizer at the

          3  community organization Good Old Lower East Side.

          4                 I am here today to support the

          5  renewal of the rent control and rent stabilization

          6  laws, and to support the resolution for home rule

          7  over New York City's rent eviction laws.

          8                 Day in and day out my colleagues and

          9  I see firsthand what vacancy decontrol and

         10  deregulation has done to our community and to our

         11  City, and we recognize that it is only through the

         12  preservation of existing rent regulation laws and

         13  the repeal of the Urstadt law that we are going to

         14  be able to preserve the tens of thousands of units

         15  of rent regulated affordable housing in our

         16  neighborhood.

         17                 Over the past five years, we have

         18  witnessed what the loss of regulation does to a

         19  community.

         20                 Lower East Side residents who are

         21  born and raised on the LES, are being forced from

         22  their apartments and are unable to find other

         23  affordable apartments in the neighborhood.

         24                 Landlords are using whatever tactics

         25  they find to get rent regulated tenants out of their
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          2  buildings because they know if they can vacate the

          3  unit, it is only a hop, skip and a jump to

          4  deregulating it.

          5                 These tactics take many forms. From

          6  harassing the tenants by taking them to court on

          7  baseless hold-over and non-payment proceedings, to

          8  revoking the preferential rents they agreed to years

          9  before citing owner use occupancy clause in the Rent

         10  Stabilization Code which allows them to not renew

         11  leases if they claim they will use the apartments

         12  for their own use.

         13                 And also to recently filing with DHCR

         14  for demolition order for occupied buildings,

         15  claiming that a gut rehab is equivalent to

         16  demolition.

         17                 Tactics like these have forced many

         18  tenants out of their homes of many years and have

         19  created unaccountable amounts of anxiety and

         20  heartache in thousands of New Yorkers' lives.

         21                 It is the prospect of deregulation

         22  that has propelled landlords to exploit the

         23  loopholes in the laws and have left us with

         24  buildings -- left our buildings with only a handful

         25  of rent-regulated units remaining.
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          2                 A tenant called me the other night in

          3  tears because she may be forced out of her apartment

          4  in which she has lived in for over 25 years, because

          5  the landlord says he intends to move his mother into

          6  her apartment.

          7                 She has been a good tenant, always

          8  paying her rent on time, and even doing her own

          9  repairs when the landlord has failed to do so.

         10                 She can't afford to hire an attorney

         11  and doesn't qualify for the limited free legal

         12  services available.

         13                 Even if she retains legal

         14  representation, owner/occupancy is a hard case to

         15  fight.

         16                 So, this long-time resident who was

         17  planning to retire where she has lived the majority

         18  of her adult life, may be homeless at the end of

         19  April.

         20                 It is on behalf of this tenant and

         21  countless other New Yorkers in the same predicament

         22  that GOLES asks the City Council to pass State

         23  Legislation Resolution 1 calling on Albany to

         24  restore home rule over rent and eviction laws to New

         25  York City.
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          2                 If New York City oversaw rent laws,

          3  it would be much more possible to close the

          4  loopholes in the laws that force tenants out of the

          5  homes.

          6                 It would even be impossible to

          7  completely repeal vacancy and high-income decontrol.

          8  As we wait for the restoration of home rule to New

          9  York City, it is important that we renew the current

         10  rent stabilization and rent control laws, since it

         11  is these laws that even with their loopholes that

         12  are preserving the last remaining affordable housing

         13  units in our community.

         14                 Without them we would see some rents

         15  double and triple overnight, pricing out many

         16  long-time residents, and the landlords would have no

         17  obligation to renew the leases of tenants who lived

         18  in the neighborhood for five, ten and 30 years.

         19                 GOLES therefore supports Resolution

         20  79 and Intro. 118 sponsored by our Council Member

         21  Rosie Mendez for the renewal of rent control and

         22  Rent Stabilization Laws.

         23                 Thank you.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. And for

         25  the final time today, I'm going to ask my colleagues
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          2  if they have any questions for the member of this

          3  panel? Indulge yourself, go ahead.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair.

          6                 Ms. Krieger, could you please tell us

          7  a little bit about the demolition orders and how

          8  they're deregulating apartments?

          9                 MS. KRIEGER: Well, in the past month

         10  or so we've seen a number of landlords petitioning

         11  for demolition orders, or petitioning for eviction

         12  orders for demolition, and these aren't buildings

         13  which are about 50 percent occupied, and the

         14  landlord is claiming that substantial demolition

         15  means gut rehabbing the building. So, in the Lower

         16  East Side where landlords will do just about

         17  anything to get a unit deregulated, they're evicting

         18  20, 30 tenants who are rent stabilized tenants

         19  saying they're going to gut rehab the building. And

         20  this is happening now, there's at least three cases

         21  on the Lower East Side, it's happening in Tribeca

         22  and it seems like this is a new tactic that they're

         23  attempting to use.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MENDEZ: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you.

          3                 I'd just like to close by saying, on

          4  March 22nd at 10:00 a.m., all of these matters that

          5  we have heard publicly here today will be up for a

          6  vote. Intros 118 of 2006, again sponsored by Council

          7  Member Mendez, as well as Resolution 79 of 2006

          8  sponsored by Council Member Mendez, will be before

          9  the members of the Housing and Buildings Committee

         10  on March 22nd, as well as SLR 001 of 2006, which

         11  will also be voted on on March 22nd, at 10:00 a.m.

         12  before the members of the State and Federal

         13  Legislation Committee.

         14                 I'd like to thank my colleagues for

         15  their participation in this hearing, and I would

         16  like to congratulate Council Member Mendez for her

         17  leadership on these issues, and to be one of the

         18  first of the new class of Council members to get

         19  their items before a hearing and ultimately to a

         20  vote, I say congratulations to you.

         21                 And then, finally, to the audience, I

         22  just ask that we adjourn in a moment of silence on

         23  behalf of a friend and former member of this

         24  Council, Mr. Bob Dryfoos.

         25                 (Moment of Silence observed.)
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON DILAN: Thank you. Meeting

          3  is adjourned.

          4                 (The following written testimony was

          5  read into the record.)

          6

          7

          8  Written Testimony Of:

          9  Judith Goldiner, Esq.

         10  The Legal Aid Society

         11  Civil Appeals & Law Reform Unit

         12  199 Water Street

         13  New York, NY 10038

         14  (212)577-3332

         15

         16  Testimony of The Legal Aid Society at the City

         17  Council Housing and Buildings Committee Hearing

         18

         19  March 3, 2006

         20

         21                 The Legal Aid Society welcomes the

         22  opportunity to give testimony before the New York

         23  City Council Housing and Buildings Committee. We

         24  urge the City Council to support the Intros and

         25  Resolutions discussed today. The renewal of rent
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          2  stabilization is critical to the preservation of

          3  affordable housing in New York City.

          4                 The Legal Aid Society is one of the

          5  oldest and largest providers of legal assistance to

          6  the poor in the United States. The Society's Civil

          7  Practice operates 16 neighborhood offices and city

          8  wide units as well as 8 special projects serving

          9  residents of all five boroughs of New York City

         10  providing comprehensive legal assistance in matters

         11  of housing, public benefits, disability, health,

         12  employment, immigration, domestic violence, and

         13  other civil areas of primary concern to the poor.

         14                 The Society is also counsel on

         15  numerous class-action cases concerning the rights of

         16  individuals, tenants, and homeless families in New

         17  York City.

         18                 Rent Stabilization plays an essential

         19  role in preserving affordable housing:

         20                 The renewal of the Rent Stabilization

         21  Law 9RSL) is essential for low-income New Yorkers.

         22                 Contrary to certain myths,

         23  rent-stabilized tenants are primarily of low and

         24  moderate income. 22.5% (close to 240,000 households)

         25  have incomes below the poverty level. In addition to
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          2  regulating rent increases, the RSL provides crucial

          3  tenure protections that tenants in unregulated

          4  private housing lack.

          5                 The right to lease renewal,

          6  succession rights for remaining family members,

          7  protection against eviction except for causes

          8  specified in the law are all essential in allowing

          9  tenants to remain in their homes. Rent-stabilized

         10  tenants also have an enforcement system (albeit a

         11  weakened one) in the courts and the State Division

         12  of Housing and Community Renewal.

         13                 Finally, in an increasingly

         14  segregated city, rent stabilization preserves some

         15  racial and economic integration in gentrifying

         16  neighborhoods.

         17                 The Urstadt Law unfairly prevents New

         18  York City from regulating its own housing.

         19                 We also urge you to support the

         20  resolution urging repeal of the Urstadt Law, which

         21  prevents New York City from enacting rent regulation

         22  laws more strict than those passed by the State

         23  Legislature. This law clearly takes away from the

         24  City Council (and thus the voters of the City) the

         25  power to decide what is best for New York City and
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          2  its residents. The Urstadt Law imposes upon the City

          3  the unconstructive stalemate that is Albany politics

          4  with respect to housing and unfairly penalizes low

          5  and moderate-income tenants whose homes are at

          6  stake. Moreover, it usurps the authority of local

          7  elected officials to maintain local control over

          8  housing policy.

          9                 Conclusion. The Legal Aid Society

         10  strongly urge renewal and strengthening of the rent

         11  laws. We therefore urge passage of each of the

         12  intros and resolutions pending before the Council.

         13                 Respectfully submitted, Judith

         14  Goldiner, Esq., The Legal Aid Society, Civil Appeals

         15  & Law Reform Unit, 199 Water Street, New York, NY

         16  10038, (212) 577-3332
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          2

          3  March 3, 2006

          4

          5                 Good afternoon. My name is Marc

          6  Landis, and I am an elected Democratic District

          7  Leader representing part C of the 67th Assembly

          8  District, on the Upper West Side of Manhattan. I

          9  stand before you today in support of Introduction

         10  No. 118 of 2006 and Resolution No. 79 of 2006, which

         11  represent the triennial dance that is required under

         12  the law to confirm that we continue to face a

         13  housing emergency in New York City and to renew rent

         14  control and rent stabilization.

         15                 Clearly, we continue to face an

         16  affordable housing crisis in New York City that has

         17  only worsened over the years. The statistics in the

         18  most recent survey do not do justice to the pain and

         19  fear of losing their homes faced by so many of our

         20  most vulnerable neighbors - seniors, the disabled,

         21  New York City employees who have sacrificed to serve

         22  our community, others trapped by fixed incomes

         23  without hope of increase. While I am pleased by the

         24  show of support for this legislation so far, I am

         25  disappointed that Introduction No. 118 and
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          2  Resolution No. 79 are not sponsored by every single

          3  member of this Council, and urge the remaining

          4  members of the Council to become co-sponsors.

          5                 Similarly, I support the adoption of

          6  State Legislation Resolution No. 1, which would

          7  repeal the "Urstadt Law" and return legislative

          8  authority over affordable housing legislation to New

          9  York City. There was never a good reason for New

         10  York City to be subject to specially discriminatory

         11  legislation that allowed upstate lawmakers to

         12  determine the fate of affordable housing in New York

         13  City. I have campaigned for many years to return

         14  control of rent regulation laws to New York City,

         15  where all stakeholders in the process can be assured

         16  a fair hearing from legislators who represent our

         17  community.

         18                 Last year, the State Assembly adopted

         19  this legislation; I join with the City Council's

         20  sponsors in urging that the State Senate adopt

         21  Senate bill no. 2735, sponsored by Senator Liz

         22  Krueger, so we can restore home rule to New York

         23  City in this critical area.

         24                 One of the frustrating features of

         25  our rent regulation system is that at both the State
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          2  and City levels of government, it "sunsets" - that

          3  is, both the State Legislature and the City Council

          4  are required to renew the rent regulations.

          5                 Today, I suggest to you that the

          6  legal presumption should be the opposite - once a

          7  legislative body adopts rent regulation, the system

          8  should remain in effect until the legislature

          9  determines otherwise.

         10                 The periodic weakening of our rent

         11  regulations is largely due to the fact that the

         12  sunset/renewal concept is utilized as a bargaining

         13  chip to weaken the rights of tenants who need

         14  affordable housing. The Council - and all of us who

         15  care about affordable housing - should fight to make

         16  the rent regulation laws permanent.

         17                 New York City continues to face the

         18  nation's worse crisis in affordable housing. These

         19  conditions not only affect tenants seeking an

         20  affordable place to live, but also the businesses

         21  whose employees struggle to afford to live here, and

         22  the City which needs more than ever to retain its

         23  tax base.

         24                 Our rent regulation system is

         25  critical to ensuring that our teachers, police
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          2  officers, firefighters, nurses and health care

          3  workers can continue to reside in New York City.

          4                 We must ensure that New York City

          5  does not turn into an empty playground for the

          6  wealthy; not only our economic health but the very

          7  diversity that is at the heart of our New York City

          8  communities depends on it!

          9                 Marc Andrew Landis, Esq., Democratic

         10  District Leader, 67th Assembly District - Part C,

         11  238 West 78th Street, New York, New York 10024,

         12  (212) 724-8300, marc@landis.org.

         13

         14

         15  Written Testimony Of:

         16  Molly Doherty

         17  Project Director

         18  Goddard Riverside Community Center's West Side SRO

         19  Law Project

         20

         21  Housing and Building Committee

         22  March 3, 2006 Testimony of Molly Doherty, West Side

         23  SRO Law Project

         24

         25                 Good afternoon, Council Members and
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          2  staff. My name is Molly Doherty, and I am the

          3  Project Director of the Goddard Riverside Community

          4  Center's West Side SRO Law Project. We represent

          5  tenants that live in SROs, hotels, and rooming

          6  houses on the West Side of Manhattan.

          7                 Renewing the rent laws is essential

          8  for SRO tenants. In fact even a temporary expiration

          9  of the rent laws would have an immediate and

         10  devastating impact on these tenants, as most of them

         11  do not have written leases. If the rent laws were to

         12  expire, the great majority of SRO tenants would be

         13  protected from eviction only for the period for

         14  which they have last paid rent: sometimes a month

         15  but more typically just a week. Estimates indicate

         16  that 40,000 rent stabilized SRO tenants, and an

         17  unknown number of stabilized apartment tenants

         18  without leases, would face immediate eviction if the

         19  state rent laws were to expire.

         20                 Given the tremendous pressures on

         21  tenants during this time of an inflated real estate

         22  market, the rent laws are one of the few remaining

         23  and precious protections for tenants. Losing the

         24  rent laws will surely result in waves of evictions

         25  of SRO tenants who have bo leases. Given the
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          2  willingness that SRO owners have always demonstrated

          3  to engage in illegal actions to get rid of

          4  lower-rent paying tenants, we can be sure that they

          5  will quickly engage an opportunity to accomplish the

          6  same goals legally.

          7                 Thus, we urge the City Council to

          8  amend the administrative code to extend the rent

          9  laws. Furthermore, there must be no amendments to

         10  the rent laws as they currently exist that would

         11  chip away at the protections tenants do have. We are

         12  in a housing crisis in New York and thus, the rent

         13  laws must be extended with no compromise and no

         14  amendments that would harm tenants.

         15

         16

         17  Written Testimony Of:

         18  Nydia M. Velazquez

         19  Congresswoman, 12th District, New York

         20

         21

         22  Joint Hearings of Committee on Housing & Buildings

         23  and State & Federal Legislation Committee, New York

         24  City Council, March 3, 2006

         25
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          2                 Chairwoman Baez, Chairman Dilan, and

          3  Members of the Council, thank you for the

          4  opportunity to submit testimony in support of the

          5  rent control resolutions before the Committees.

          6  Given the housing crisis facing residents of New

          7  York City, it is critical that the Council take

          8  action to protect existing affordable housing.

          9                 According to the most recent

         10  triennial Housing and Vacancy Survey (HVS), the

         11  proportion of low-income renters paying at least

         12  half their incomes toward rent has grown from 55 to

         13  65 percent between 1993 and 2002.

         14                 Furthermore, the median income for

         15  renter households fell by 5.6 percent between 2001

         16  and 2004, while tenants experienced an 8.7 percent

         17  increase in rent between 2002 and 2005.

         18                 In 1970, the average tenant household

         19  paid 20 percent of their income in rent. Today they

         20  pay over 31 percent - the highest rent burdens ever

         21  recorded. According to the US Census Bureau NYC now

         22  ranks 11th in a nationwide survey of housing costs

         23  and 37th in median income.

         24                 Overcrowding has risen 5 percent to

         25  11 percent, and increasingly more New Yorkers are
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          2  squeezing into fewer units because they cannot make

          3  ends meet. Between 1990 and 2005 the City's

          4  population grew by about 15 percent, while during

          5  the same period the City's housing stock grew by

          6  less than 10 percent.  Last year, over 38,000 City

          7  residents were focused to stay in shelters,

          8  including nearly 9,000 families with over 15,000

          9  children.

         10                 On top of all this, the federal

         11  budget for housing, again, shortchanges critical

         12  programs, jeopardizing public housing and Section 8

         13  vouchers while waiting lists continue to grow. Now

         14  is not the time to further threaten affordable

         15  housing by losing ground on rent control.

         16                 According to the New York City rent

         17  Guidelines Board, between 1994 and 2004 at least

         18  44,778 units were lost because of changes in the law

         19  engineered by the state legislature. As the Council

         20  considers State Resolution 1 calling for a repeal of

         21  the Urstadt Law and a restoration of home rule over

         22  local rent and eviction protections, I urge you to

         23  consider the ramifications of inaction. The lives of

         24  too many families depend on better governance of

         25  rent control for the Council to miss this
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          2  opportunity to exert local control.

          3                 Given the importance of HVS data, I

          4  also call on the Department of Housing Preservation

          5  and Development (HPD) to see that the raw Census

          6  data for the 2005 HVS is used to reconstruct the

          7  rent control status variable so that it can be

          8  compared with previous HVS data. HPD should also set

          9  up and consult with a User Advisory Committee before

         10  it decides on changes in the HVS in order to ensure

         11  adequate vetting of this important issue.

         12                 Again, I appreciate the opportunity

         13  to submit testimony and urge the council to protect

         14  affordable housing by supporting these important

         15  rent control resolutions.

         16

         17

         18  Written Testimony Of:

         19  Patrick Siconolfi

         20  Executive Director

         21  Community Housing Improvement Program

         22

         23  Testimony On Intro. No. 118 - In Relation to

         24  Extending the Rent Stabilization Laws, and Res. No.

         25  79 - Determining That A Public Emergency Requiring
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          2  Rent Control Exists.

          3                 Good morning. I am Patrick Siconolfi,

          4  Executive Director of the Community Housing

          5  Improvement Program, also known as CHIP. CHIP is an

          6  association representing small and medium sized

          7  property owners. Our members own property in all

          8  five boroughs and we have a strong representation of

          9  members from the three big outer boroughs. A

         10  principal focus of CHIP's has been to educate

         11  building owners about their responsibilities under

         12  the various laws and regulations governing the

         13  residential real estate industry and to assist them

         14  in their efforts to comply.

         15                 Congratulations Chairman Dilan on

         16  your selection to head this committee and CHIP looks

         17  forward to working with you.

         18                 Thank you for the opportunity to

         19  speak this morning.

         20                 The two measures currently under

         21  consideration by the council. Intro 118 and Res 79

         22  would, based on the continued the finding of a

         23  housing emergency, extend both the rent

         24  stabilization and rent control programs.

         25                 CHIP is opposed to these measures. We
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          2  are opposed for reasons that we believe the Council

          3  should examine and support concerning the long-term

          4  health of the private housing sector of the economy,

          5  and concerning what public policies will provide for

          6  the greatest number of housing units.

          7                 We are also opposed because the

          8  findings of the 2005 Housing and Vacancy Survey,

          9  just issued, are questionable at best, and are

         10  subject to wide interpretation. The survey is not

         11  the definitive statement on its subject that it

         12  purports to be.

         13                 First, let's consider the long term

         14  health of the private housing sector. Clearly, the

         15  great majority of housing in New York is provided by

         16  the housing sector, so its health is something to be

         17  taken seriously. Regulation of prices, rents, has

         18  shown, every time it has been tried, to cause

         19  shortages. In this case, the rent price controls

         20  cause housing shortages.

         21                 And the financial burden on the

         22  City's and State's finances to produce on its own or

         23  through subsidies is extreme. If the private housing

         24  sector is not vigorous, it will fall increasingly to

         25  government to provide housing.
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          2                 This is unsustainable in the long

          3  run. It is unsustainable even in the near to mid

          4  term period. You are well aware of the enormous

          5  expense and deficit circumstances facing both the

          6  City and State. And federal support for housing

          7  continues to whither.

          8                 So, you face the intersection of two

          9  powerful trends: increasing deficits and continued

         10  suppression of the private housing sector.

         11                 The deficits are inescapable; the

         12  suppression of private housing is not. You have a

         13  responsibility not to take actions that will

         14  suppress the health of the private housing sector,

         15  and these two measures will. Continued housing

         16  shortages will be a sure bet.

         17                 Why is it that after 60 years of a

         18  housing emergency, and after 60 years of price

         19  controls, public policy has not solved this problem?

         20  The policy is wrong if you want more housing in this

         21  City. Is there any other program in the City which

         22  has consistently failed for 60 years to solve the

         23  problem for which it was created, that you still

         24  support?

         25                 Since price controls on rents have
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          2  failed to deliver adequate numbers of housing units

          3  to your constituents, it is reasonable to ask, 60

          4  years into the housing emergency, what would. Here

          5  the answer is clear. The private housing industry

          6  must be allowed to grow by removing price controls.

          7                 It is the only place that resources

          8  sufficing to address this problem can be found. Note

          9  that price controls are not the only impediment

         10  faced by the industry, but they are one of the

         11  largest. Even the wildest dreams of a City financial

         12  planner, government will never have the resources to

         13  act. Accordingly, do not pass these measures if your

         14  concern is to see the housing emergency solved.

         15                 A brief note about the HVS is in

         16  order since it is the principal document on which

         17  the finding of a housing emergency relies. The 2005

         18  HVS contains what appear to be mathematical

         19  misstatements in certain places in the report,

         20  meaning that its conclusions should be used

         21  cautiously. We will pursue this with HPD to get a

         22  better sense of their significance. Also, the report

         23  itself points out that because of federal census

         24  data collection methods, some of the reports numbers

         25  cannot be relied upon for comparison purposes.
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          2                 Finally, the HVS has as its principal

          3  finding a determination of the numbers of vacant

          4  apartments and the vacancy rate this number

          5  represents. But the survey has ignored large numbers

          6  of vacant apartment which should be recognized. A

          7  dispassionate interpretation of the HVS's own data

          8  would show that many more apartments are vacant than

          9  are recognized in the calculation of the vacancy

         10  rate. Were the correct number to be used, the rate

         11  would be considerably higher. It would be over 5%

         12  which is the threshold for a finding of a housing

         13  emergency.

         14                 Thank you.

         15

         16

         17  Handwritten Testimony Of:

         18  Francine Brewer

         19  Vice President

         20  Park West Village Tenants Association

         21

         22                 Esteemed Councilmembers & fellow

         23  rent-regulated tenants. Testimony of Francine

         24  Brewer, 3/3/06. I am the VP of the Park West Village

         25  Tenants Association.
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          2                 As you know, rent regulated

          3  apartments are vanishing at an alarming rate in New

          4  York City. In Park West Village where I live - on

          5  the Upper West Side of Manhattan, - 3 of the 7

          6  buildings of the complex remain under rent

          7  regulation. The other 4 have been converted to

          8  condominiums.

          9                 The landlord, PWV Acquisition, has

         10  been trying to rename rent stabilized apartments

         11  from the building they own. The landlord has been

         12  forced, through the vigorous efforts of the Park

         13  West Village Tenants Association working in

         14  conjunction with tenants who are affected, in

         15  returning many apartments to rent stabilization with

         16  rent refunds paid to tenants and sometimes penalties

         17  assessed on the landlord. The Attorney General has

         18  so far refused to consider the landlord's action to

         19  be a pattern of overcharging rents in order to

         20  rename these apartments from rent stabilization.

         21                 Repealing the Urstadt Law and

         22  establishing Home Rule over rents in NYC would give

         23  the Mayor and the City council - the people we have

         24  elected to govern us - the opportunity to have more

         25  control over housing in NYC. Many State legislators
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          2  do not have the knowledge or concern necessary to

          3  maintain and support rent regulation in NYC.

          4                 I urge you to pass SLR 1 - repeal of

          5  the Urstadt Law and work with the residents of the

          6  City to influence the State Legislature so that they

          7  do so.

          8                 (Hearing concluded at 2:11 p.m.)
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          9                 I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified

         10  Shorthand Reporter, do hereby certify that the

         11  foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of the

         12  within proceeding.

         13                 I further certify that I am not

         14  related to any of the parties to this action by

         15  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         16  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         17                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         18  set my hand this 3rd day of March 2006.

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

                                   ---------------------

         24                          CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

                                                            221

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CINDY MILLELOT, a Certified Shorthand

         10  Reporter and a Notary Public in and for the State of

         11  New York, do hereby certify the aforesaid to be a

         12  true and accurate copy of the transcription of the

         13  audio tapes of this hearing.

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24                 -----------------------

                              CINDY MILLELOT, CSR.

         25

